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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 02 SEPTEMBER 2020 

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Notshe,  good morn ing  

everybody.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Good morn ing  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A re  we ready?  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   We are  ready to  s ta r t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Cha i r  be fore  we s tar t  w i th  today ’s  –  

w i th  the  w i tness fo r  today can we jus t  do  some 

housekeep ing  exerc i se?  In  your  –  in  your  –  in  the  bund le ,  10 

BOSASA Bund le  1  Cha i r  there  was an issue on  Monday 

about  the  t ranscr ip t  wh ich  s ta r ts  on  page 48 o f  tha t  bund le  

wh ich  has a  very  smal l  fon t  up  to  page 56.   I  am ins t ruc ted  

by  the  –  by  the  record  keepers  tha t  i t  has  been now the  – 

they have put  cop ies  w i th  a  b igger  fon t  wh ich  is  ins tead o f  

hav ing  pages in  t he  smal l  fon t  they are  b igger  fon ts .   They 

say on –  they say a f te r  page 56 Cha i r  w i l l  f ind  tha t  there  

are  pages s ta r t ing  w i th  the  b lue  s t i cker  on  –  on  the  page.    

CHAIRPERSON:   You sa id  po in t  –  page 48?  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   I t  s ta r ts  f rom –  the  one does s ta r t  f rom 20 

the  o ld  one wh ich  is  s ta r t ing  f rom page 48 to  page  56 and 

then the  rep lacements  w i l l  s ta r t  a f te r  page 56.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I s  i t  the  same number  o f  pages  or  i s  i t  

more  pages?  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   No there  is  more  pages.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Because as  you w i l l  see  tha t  the  – what  

was in  th is  page were  about  four  pages in  each page.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay I  th ink  what  –  tha t  i s  f ine .   What  

shou ld  be  done is  tha t  i t  shou ld  be  pag ina ted because i t  i s  

no t  pag ina ted a t  the  moment .   And there  are  two ways o f  

do ing  i t .   The one way invo lves tak ing  ou t  the  pages w i th  a 

smal l  fon t .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And rep lac ing  them wi th  the  ones w i th  10 

the  r igh t  fon t  and  then pag ina t ing  those.   Another  way is  to  

keep the  pages w i th  the  smal l  fon t  w i th  the  pag ina t i on  tha t  

they have and then pag ina te  these o ther  ones w i th  the  

r igh t  fon t  as  we l l  bu t  pag ina te  them in  such a  way tha t  you  

do not  in te r fe re  w i th  the  next  –  the  pag ina t ion  o f  the  next  

pages.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   No f ine .   Cha i r… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Bu t  i t  seems to  me tha t  the  best  way is  

jus t  to  take  out  the  wrong fon t  and then what  you can do  

when you pag ina te  the  ones w i th  the  r igh t  fon t  –  so  the  20 

ones w i th  the  r igh t  fon t  wou ld  s ta r t  f rom page 48;  the  f i rs t  

page and then when you reach page 56 wh ich  is  where  the  

–  the  las t  page o f  the  smal l  fon t  then you cou ld  say fo r  

pages tha t  come a f te r  page 56;  56 .1 ,  56 .1 ,  .2 ,  .3 .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   So  you do not  in te r fe re  w i th  the… 

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Wi th  the  ex is t ing  pages.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .    

ADV NOTSHE SC:   A l r igh t .   Cha i r  can I  –  can I  suggest  

th is?   That  the  secre tar ia t  w i l l  dea l  w i th  the  pag ing  

fo r tunate l y  th is  –  th is  bund le  w i l l  a lso  fea ture  in  tomorrow’s  

hear ings.   Before  we s ta r t  tomor row’s  hear ings and I  w i l l  

i n fo rm you what  has been done  and then – i t  w i l l  be  

cor rec ted .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Um –  we l l  a re  you go ing  to  be  re fer r ing  10 

to  these pages today?  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Today –  no  I  w i l l  no t  do  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   You w i l l  no t  oh  okay.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  –  so  the  pag ina t ion  they can do then.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A l r igh t .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Cha i r  the  w i tness fo r  today is  a lso  in  

respect  o f  the  BOSASA enqu i ry  and the  w i tness is  Ms Gina  

P ie ters  and she  is  the  fo rmer  secre tary  o f  Mr  Ange lo  20 

Agr izz i  who has tes t i f ied .   Her  tes t imony w i l l  be  about  the  

in te rac t ion  she had in  the  fo rm o f  a r rang ing  fo r  p resents  

fo r  Ms Sandy Thomas and Ms Nomvula .   Her  ev idence –  

her  a f f idav i t  i s  on  page –  i t  i s  in  Exh ib i t  29  and i t  s ta r ts  

f rom page 71 o f  the  exh ib i t .   Then there  is  –  then w i th  
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a t tachments  and i t  w i l l  go  to  page 17.  She w i l l  tes t i f y  about  

her  a r rang ing  fo r  the  hampers  and a lso  ar rang ing  fo r  the  

Get -Wel l  cards  fo r  Ms Sandy Thomas.   The w i tness is  Ms  

Gina P ie ters ;  she  is  here  to  tes t i f y.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   P lease  admin i s te r  the  oa th  or  

a f f i rmat ion .  

REGISTRAR:   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record?  

MS PIETERS:   G ina  P ie ters .  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  

prescr ibed oath?  10 

MS PIETERS:   No.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you cons ider  the  oa th  to  be  b ind ing  on  

your  consc ience?  

MS PIETERS:   I  do .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Do you swear  t ha t  the  ev idence you w i l l  

g ive  w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  e lse  bu t  

the  t ru th ;  i f  so  p lease ra ise  your  r igh t  hand and say,  so  

he lp  me God.  

MS PIETERS:   So  he lp  me God.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You may be seated Ms P ie te rs .   Thank 20 

you.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Ms P ie ters  a l though I  am ask ing  you 

quest ions you are  ta lk ing  to  the  Cha i rperson so  i f  –  when  

you answer  p lease look a t  h im.   And then i f  you can ra ise  

your  vo ice  w i th  tha t ,  we can hear  you.  
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MS PIETERS:   Sure  good morn ing .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Ms P ie te rs .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morn ing  Ms P ie ters .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Jus t  can I  –  there  i s  a  f i le  in  f ron t  o f  

you.   That  f i l e  i t  has  go t  s ta tements  can you look a t  what  i s  

–  pu t  as  number  29 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   On a  l igh ter  no te  Mr  Notshe th i s  i s  one 

w i tness who appears  qu i te  happy to  be  here .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Cha i r  f rom the  beg inn ing  I  cou ld  see  

she is  ve ry,  ve ry  happy.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Thank you fo r  coming to  tes t i f y.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   She is  –  she is  –  un for tunate ly  she was 

te l l ing  me the  who le  –  she is  f rom Randfonte in .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   The who le  o f  Randfonte in  as  we speak 

is  on  s tandst i l l .   Shops have c losed to  watch  he r  tes t i f y.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Ms P ie te rs  aga in  I  ask  you tu rn  to  page 

72 o f  tha t  and then keep your  f inger  there  on  page 72 and 

then go to  –  and then go to  page … 20 

CHAIRPERSON:   You have to ld  he r  you are  re fer r ing  to  the 

b lack  numbers  fo r  page numbers .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And then go  to  page 78.   There  i s  a  
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s ignature  the re  on  tha t  page above where  i t  i s  G ina  

P ie ters .   Whose s ignatu re  i s  tha t?  

MS PIETERS:   I t  i s  m ine.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And you have  looked a t  the  document ;  

do  you conf i rm tha t  th is  i s  you r  a f f idav i t?  

MS PIETERS:   Yes I  do .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Cha i r  can th is  a f f idav i t  o f  the  w i tness  

be  admi t ted  as  Exh ib i t  T29 in  Bund le  BOSASA 01? 

CHAIRPERSON:   The a f f idav i t  o f  Ms Gina  P ie ters  

appear ing  a t  page 72 w i l l  be  admi t ted  and marked as  10 

Exh ib i t  T29.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Yes.   Ms P ie ters  you –  you might  –  i s  i t  

cor rec t  tha t  you were  the  fo rmer  pro fess iona l  ass i s tan t  o f  

Mr  Agr i zz i  who has tes t i f ied  in  th is  commiss ion?  

MS PIETERS:   I  was yes.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   What  were  your  du t ies  when you were  

work ing  fo r  Mr  Agr izz i?  

MS PIETERS:   Wel l  every th ing  tha t  a  PA does except  take  

the  ch i ld ren  to  schoo l  tha t  was not  in  my dut ies .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  20 

MS PIETERS:   And then I  a lso  a t  –  coord ina ted  the  b id 

o f fe rs  –  tenders  –  we submi t ted  tenders .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Now you –  in  your  a f f idav i t  you have  

to ld  –  you have tes t i f ied  about  p repar ing  b i r thday hampers .   
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Can you te l l  the  commiss ion  about  tha t?  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  mean before  tha t  do  you conf i rm tha t  –  

o r  ra ther  f rom when to  when were  you Mr  Agr izz i ’s  PA? 

MS PIETERS:   From May 2004 unt i l  February  2017.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay,  a l r igh t  thank you.   Cont inue Mr  

Notshe.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And in  your  a f f idav i t  you –  you deposed 

to  the  fac t  tha t  you had prepared some b i r thday hampers .   

Can you te l l  the  commiss ion  about  tha t?  

MS PIETERS:   Yes i t  –  a t  some po in t  in  my tenure  to  Mr  10 

Agr izz i  I  was requested to  send hampers  to  Ms Nomvula  

Mokonyane and her  PA;  Sandy Thomas.   I  can however  no t  

reca l l  the  exact  da te  bu t  I  do  have ev idence tha t  i t  was 

f rom 2010 def in i te ly.   I t  cou ld  have been before  tha t  as  

we l l  bu t  I  cannot  loca te  any records to  conf i rm tha t  

un for tunate ly.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   How d id  you in te rac t  –  how d id  you –  

d id  you in te rac t  d i rec t l y  w i th  Mr  Thomas or  Ms Mokonyane? 

MS PIETERS:   Yes I  was –  Mr  Agr izz i  wou ld  ask  me to 

send hampers  and I  ge t  ho ld  o f  Sandy Thomas to  ge t  ho ld  20 

o f  her  phys ica l  address.   I  had to  ask  Ms Thomas where  

she wou ld  pre fe r  the  hampers  to  be  sent  to  and i f  I  can  

reca l l  cor rec t l y,  she asked me no t  to  send i t  to  the  o f f i ce 

and gave me a  home address.   Then there  was – tha t  was 

one occas ion  and then a  few months la te r  maybe  a  year  
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la te r  I  was asked to  send hampers  aga in .   Thereaf te r  I  

saved the  de ta i l .   When someth ing  became a  regu lar  

occur rence,  I  wou ld  save the  de ta i l s  on  my phone  w i th  an  

address and the  te lephone number  so  tha t  i t  i s  eas ie r  to  

contac t  the  person.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Now on page  73 o f  your  a f f idav i t  –  o f  

the  record  and page 6  you re fe r  to  –  there  is  an  emai l  tha t  

you sent .   Can you te l l  the  commiss ion  about  tha t  emai l?  

MS PIETERS:   Yes tha t  was one year  when I  was  la te  in  

send ing  the  hamper.  Le t  me jus t  check.    10 

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Jus t  to  he lp  i s  i t  cor rec t  tha t  the  emai l  

appears  on  page 83?  

MS PIETERS:   That  i s  cor rec t  tha t  i s  the  one  –  the 

occas ion  where  I  had fo rgo t ten  and I  o rdered the  hampers  

la te .  I t  was a f te r  the  b i r thdays.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Jus t  –  jus t  te l l  me f i rs t  who the  emai l  

came f rom;  to  whom i t  was addressed;  on  what  da te  i t  was 

and the  t ime and then we read the  emai l  and then 

e labora te  on  i t  i f  you  wou ld  l i ke  to?  

MS PIETERS:   So  the  emai l  was f rom me to  our  20 

procu rement  head Dudu Dube her  ass i s tan t  Enesent ia  

Mar ia  [? ]  and the  o ther  Procurement  Head A r thur  Hand  

where  I  asked them to  p lease ass is t  w i th  the  two  lad ies ’ 

hampers  to  the  va lue  o f  R1 500.00 each.   One was  

addressed to  Min is te r  Nomvula  and the  o ther  one to  Sandy  



02 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 259 
 

Page 11 of 270 
 

Thomas and then  I  s ta ted  what  they needed to  wr i t e  in  the 

cards .   Would  you l i ke  me to  read tha t?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Read tha t  ja .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Jus t  –  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  read tha t .  

MS PIETERS:   The one to  Min i s te r  Nomvula  was:  

“Happy b i r thday  may the  Lo rd  B less  you  

a lways.  Regards Gav in . ”  

 And the  one to  Sandy Thomas:  

“Happy be la ted  b i r thday may the  Lord  B less  10 

you a lways.   Regards Ange lo . ”  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Now the… 

CHAIRPERSON:   And then read the  res t  o f  the  emai l  

there?  

MS PIETERS:   And then I  wro te :  

“P lease do not  make any re ference to  

BOSASA contac t  number  fo r  bo th  parce l s  i s  

Sandy Thomas. ”  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  you do not  have to  read the  ce l l  

number.  20 

MS PIETERS:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And then the  las t  sentence.  

MS PIETERS:   And then I  asked:  

“ I f  they  can de l i ver  th is  a f te rnoon s t i l l  i t  

wou ld  be  g reat  o therw ise  no t  la te r  than  
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c lose  o f  bus iness  tomorrow p lease . ”  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .   Cont inue Mr  Notshe.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Now le t  us  jus t  go  to  the  –  a t  the  top  o f  

the  emai l .   You say i t  i s  Dudu Dube.   Who was Dudu Dube?  

MS PIETERS:   Dudu Dube was the  procurement  Head o f  

Depar tment  fo r  p rocurement .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Where  in  BOSASA? 

MS PIETERS:   Yes.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And then Enesent ia  Mar ia?  

MS PIETERS:   She was the  ass is tan t .  10 

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And then  Ar thu r  Hand?  

MS PIETERS:   He was a lso  Head o f  the  Depar tmen t .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   So  a l l  these peop le  were  w i th in  

BOSASA? 

MS PIETERS:   Yes.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   I  see .  Now then you say in  the  emai l  

there  i s  a  –  as  a  re ference when you read ing  the  message  

in  the  card  i t  says :  

“Happy b i r thday  may the  Lo rd  B less  you  

a lways.   Regards  Gav in . ”  20 

Who is  Gav in?  

MS PIETERS:   That  i s  Mr  Gav in  Watson.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   I  see .   And then the  one fo r  Ms Thomas 

i t  says :  

“Happy be la ted  b i r thday may the  Lord  B less  
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you  a lways.   Regards Ange lo . ”  

Who is  Ange lo?  

MS PIETERS:   That  i s  Ange lo  Agr izz i .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Now a t  the  bo t tom there  is  in  cap i ta l  

le t te rs :  

“P lease do not  make any re ference to  

BOSASA. ”  

Why is  tha t?  

MS PIETERS:   That  i s  so  tha t  the… 

CHAIRPERSON:   And whose idea was i t?  10 

MS PIETERS:   Mr  Agr izz i  used to  ask  me to  do  tha t  when 

th ings were  conf ident ia l  and there  was not  to  be  any l inks  

made to  BOSASA pre ferab ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS PIETERS:   So  tha t  i s  why tha t  he  –  he  wou ld  have 

asked me to  do  tha t  and tha t  i s  why I  pu t  i t  there  in  Bo ld 

Cap i ta ls  so  tha t  i t  cou ld  no t  imp l ica te  them – l ink  them you 

know in  an  un toward  manner  to  BOSASA.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.   So –  so  i t  was h is  –  Mr  Agr izz i ’s  

ins t ruc t ion  tha t  you shou ld  make sure  tha t  when they do  20 

the  ca rds  they do  not  make any re ference to  BOSASA? 

MS PIETERS:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Now I  see a t  the  top  I  a lways  s t rugg le  

to  read emai ls  because they s ta r t  w i th  the  la tes t .  
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MS PIETERS:   Yes.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And w i th  the  ear l ie r  one and then the  

la tes t .   The la tes t  there  is  f rom Enesent ia  Mar ia  a t  11 :14  

and she sends th is  to  Kobe l la  Porshoko?  Who is  Kobe l la?  

MS PIETERS:   Kobe l la  was a l so  a  s ta t ionery  admin is t ra to r  

in  the  procu rement  depar tment .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And he says:  

“H i  Kobe l la  fo r  your  a t ten t ion . ”  

So she was re fer r ing  your  emai l  to  Kobe l la?  

MS PIETERS:   Cor rec t .  10 

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Yes.   Now there  was an issue as  to  

whethe r  these were  rece ived.   Ms Thomas says she cou ld  

no t  remember  whether  they were  de l i ve red a t  her  home.   

D id  you rece ive  any –  any repor t  tha t  th is  cou ld  no t  be  

de l i vered?  

MS PIETERS:   No I  d id  no t .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Now when you –  when there  is  a  –  i s  

there  –  when there  is  a  p rob lem about  a  request  l i ke  th is  

p rob lems or  a  de l i very  or  cou ld  no t  be  de l i vered do you get  

a  repor t  back f rom the  peop le  you  have sent?  20 

MS PIETERS:   Yes and I  wou ld  l i ke  to  add tha t  the  supp l ie r  

was very  re l iab le  a t  t imes when they cou ld  no t  loca te  the  

rec ip ien t ,  they  wou ld  contac t  me.   There  was a lso  weekend 

de l i ver ies  f rom t ime to  t ime tha t  the  rec ip ien t  was not  

ava i lab le  tha t  they repor ted  to  me.  
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ADV NOTSHE SC:   Now there  is  –  there  i s  a lso  in  your  

a f f idav i t  about  a  hamper  tha t  was  sent  to  Ms Thomas and 

the  emai l  i s  on  page 85 o f  the  record .   Can you take  us .  

CHAIRPERSON:   O f  Bund le  BOSASA 01.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   O f  bund le… 

CHAIRPERSON:   BOSASA Bund le  01 .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   BOSASA Bund le  01 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Page 85.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  10 

ADV NOTSHE SC:   The emai l  where  –  who is  i t  f rom? 

MS PIETERS:   I t  i s  f rom myse l f .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   What  –  can you te l l  the  commiss ion  

about  tha t  emai l  and how d id  i t  come about  tha t  you sent  

such an emai l?  

CHAIRPERSON:   P lease read i t  f i rs t  and then you can te l l  

me more  about  i t?   Who i t  was to ;  who i t  was f rom;  what  

da te  i t  was;  what  t ime and read the  contents  and then te l l  

me how i t  came about?  

MS PIETERS:   The emai l  was f rom myse l f  on  the  28  20 

November  a t  10 :31 .  I t  was to  Dudu  Dube and Ar thur  Hand I  

cc ’d  Jacques Van  Zy l .   The emai l  read:  

“Good day Ar thur  –  Dudu and Ar thur.   I  t rus t  

you are  we l l .   In  Enesent ia ’s  absence I  am 

not  sure  who to  contact  so  sor ry  fo r  bugg ing  
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you .   Cou ld  you p lease k ind l y  a r range fo r  a  

lad ies  hamper  o f  R700.00 to  be  de l i vered to  

Ms Sandy Thomas and the  address is  l i s ted  

and a  te lephone.   P lease t rea t  as  V IP.   Card  

was to  read:   Get  Wel l  soon card .   Dear  

Sandy w ish ing  you a  speedy recovery  and 

every th ing  o f  the  best .   God B less  Ange lo  

Agr izz i .   I f  they  can de l i ver  today  i t  w i l l  be  

great  o therw ise  tomorrow morn ing  p lease.   

Thank you. ”  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   How d id  i t  come about  tha t  you sent  tha t  

emai l?  

MS PIETERS:   Mr  Agr izz i  ca l led  me and he sa id  to  me  

Sandy is  no t  –  she is  in  hosp i ta l  p lease get  ho ld  o f  her  and  

send her  a  parce l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm okay.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And d id  you have any repor t  tha t  th is  

cou ld  no t  be  de l i vered or?  

MS PIETERS:   No.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   There  was a  prob lem about  i t?  20 

MS PIETERS:   No.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Now there  is  a lso  an  emai l  wh ich  i s  

a t tached aga in  to  BOSASA Bund le  1  page 88.  Can you – 

can you read tha t  emai l  and then exp la in  to  the  commiss ion  

how d id  i t  come about  tha t  you sen t  tha t  emai l?  
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MS PIETERS:   The emai l  i s  a lso  aga in  f rom myse l f  to  

Enesent ia  and Magde l  Wi lson on Thursday 23 Sep tember  

2010 a t  11 :42 .   I  read –  I  wro te :  

“Dear  Enesent ia  can you p lease a r range fo r  

the  a t tached orde r  fo r  de l i very  on  Saturday.   

P lease note  tha t  the  words on  the  ca rd  

shou ld  be  exact ly  as  I  have s ta ted  on the  

card  and not  address i t  f rom BOSASA 

Management  on l y  Ange lo .   Thank you. ”  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Now you re fe r  there  to  a t tached order.   10 

Look a t  page –  BOSASA Bund le  1  page 87 there  is  a  –  

there  i s  someth ing  there  ca l led  Purchase Order  what  i s  

tha t?  

MS PIETERS:   That  i s  an  o f f i c ia l  Purchase Order  wh ich  we  

had to  comple te  and when you order ing  s tu f f  so  tha t  i t  

cou ld  be  a t tached to  the  invo i ce  in  o rder  tha t  payments  

cou ld  be  p rocessed.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And I  see there  is  a  de l i ve r  address 

there .   Whose address is  tha t?  

MS PIETERS:   Ms Sandy Thomas.  20 

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And then in  the  m idd le  o f  the  Purchase  

Order  de ta i l s  wha t  i s  wr i t ten  there?   Can you read i t  fo r  the  

record?  

MS PIETERS:   I  wro te :  

“One lad ies ’ hamper  conta in ing  pr imar i l y  
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choco la tes  and then a l so  some nuts ,  d r ied  

f ru i t  e tce tera  and  a  thank you card .   And in  

inve r ted  commas I  wro te :   “Dear  Sandy your  

thought fu lness is  most  apprec ia ted .   God  

B less ,  Ange lo . ”  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And who is  Ange lo  you are  re fer r ing  to?  

MS PIETERS:   Ange lo  Agr izz i .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:    I  see  in  your  emai l  on  page  88 tha t  

you aga in  s ta te  what  you saw in  the  o ther  emai l  where  you 

say:  10 

“Do not  address i t  fo r  BOSASA Management  

on ly  Agr i zz i . ”  

MS PIETERS:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Was i t  aga in  to  fo l low ins t ruc t i ons tha t  

you shou ld  no t  ment ion  the  name o f  BOSASA? 

MS PIETERS:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Now… 

CHAIRPERSON:   D id  you have an unders tand ing  o f  why  

there  seemed to  have been an emphas is  on  the  par t  o f  Mr  

Agr izz i  tha t  when  you sent  these cards  there  shou ld  be  no  20 

re ference to  BOSASA? 

MS PIETERS:   Yes,  my unders tand ing  was tha t  i t  was not  

to  compromise  the  ind iv idua ls  be ing  in  the  pos i t ions  tha t  

they were .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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MS PIETERS:   O f  h igh  pro f i le .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay a l r igh t .   Thank you.   Mr  

Notshe.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Now –  these hampers ;  b i r thday  

hampers  was th is  one occas ion  or  d id  i t  happen  a lmost  

every  year?  

MS PIETERS:   Yes i t  was a  common occur rence because I  

had saved i t  on  my ce l l  phone and I  had se t  reminders  in  

my ca lendar  to  do  i t  every  year  so  tha t  I  wou ld  ge t  a  

reminder  and then automat ica l l y  send the  o rder  th rough to  10 

the  procurement  depar tment .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.   But  you th ink  i t  –  i f  you  s ta r ted 

send ing  these hampers  and cards  f rom around 2010? 

MS PIETERS:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Not  be fore?  

MS PIETERS:   I t  i s  poss ib le .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Or  maybe one year  be fo re?  

MS PIETERS:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Bu t  no t  many years  be fore?  

MS PIETERS:   I t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  I  sent  i t  be fore  I  jus t  –  I  20 

cannot… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Cannot  remember.   Yes.  

MS PIETERS:   Yes I  cannot  substant ia te  tha t  a t  th is  s tage.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Now f rom the  t ime –  f rom 2010 or  

whatever  the  t ime is  when you s tar ted  up  to  the  t ime tha t  
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Mr  Agr izz i  le f t  o r  you le f t  I  cannot  –  I  do  no t  know who le f t  

f i rs t .   Do you know whether  you sent  these eve ry  year  to  

Ms Mokonyane and to  Ms Thomas or  there  may have been 

some years  when  you d id  no t  send? 

MS PIETERS:   Yes the re  may have been some years  when 

I  d id  no t  send or  fo rge t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS PIETERS:   As  in  the  ins tance w i th  2015.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS PIETERS:   When Mr  Agr izz i  contac ted  me and  10 

reminded me tha t  I  fo rgo t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay.  

MS PIETERS:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   D id  these hampers  and these  presents  

who pa id  fo r  th is?  

MS PIETERS:   Sor ry?  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Who pa id  fo r  these hampers  and  

presents?  

MS PIETERS:   BOSASA d id .  20 

ADV NOTSHE SC:   I  see .  Now I  see there  was an inc ident  

where  you –  where  you say you  neg lec ted  to  send the  

hampers  to  –  you fo rgo t  to  send hampers  to  Ms Thomas.   

Can you te l l  the  commiss ion  about  tha t?  

MS PIETERS:   Yes i t  was towards  –  we l l  –  i t  be ing  the  end 
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o f  the  month  I  was ra ther  busy a t  tha t  s tage w i th  month  

end repor t s  e tce tera  and tha t  i s  how i t  came about  tha t  I  

was –  had fo rgo t ten  and Mr  Agr izz i  reminded me.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And then you sent  the  hamper?  

MS PIETERS:   Cor rec t .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Cha i r  th is  i s  the  ev idence  o f  the  

w i tness and… 

CHAIRPERSON:   No thanks.   On page 87 Ms P ie ters  the  

card  tha t  was to  be  sent  to  Ms Thomas was to  read :  

“Dear  Sandy your  thought fu lness is  most  10 

apprec ia ted .   God B less  Ange lo . ”  

Now I  know tha t  tha t  –  o r  maybe I  shou ld  no t  say  I  

know.   Who chose those words?   Was i t  Mr  Agr izz i  o r  

yourse l f?  

MS PIETERS:   Mr  Agr izz i .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Do you by  any  chance know what  the  

contex t  was re la t ing  to  h im want ing  to  say to  Ms Thomas:  

“Your  thought fu l  i s  most  apprec ia ted . ”  

Do you unders tand i f  there  had been some recen t  

in te rac t ion  be tween them in  te rms o f  wh ich  Mr  Agr izz i  20 

thought  Ms Thomas was somebody  who was ve ry  thought fu l  

and so  on?  Do you happen to  know tha t  o r  i s  tha t  

someth ing  you do  not  know? 

MS PIETERS:   He d id  no t  te l l  me –  i t  i s .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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MS PIETERS:   Obv ious f rom the  words tha t  there  was  

someth ing  done.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Someth ing  tha t  had happened.  

MS PIETERS:   Bu t  I  do  no t  know what .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   Okay.   No  tha t  i s  a l r igh t .   Now in  

te rms o f  in te rac t ions be tween Ms Thomas and Mr  Agr izz i  

do  you know whe ther  there  was a  lo t  o f  in te rac t ion  in  te rms  

o f  te lephone ca l l s  to  each o ther  a t  work?   I  am not  ta lk ing  

about  ce l l  phones –  a t  work  land –  us ing  land l ine  where  –  

d id  they in te rac t  regu lar ly  o r  as  fa r  as  you know or  no t?  10 

MS PIETERS:   A lo t  o f  peop le  phoned Mr  Agr izz i  d i rec t l y  

on  h is  phone.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh,  d i rec t l y  on  h is  phone;  ce l l  phone.  

MS PIETERS:   Yes.   On h is  ce l l  phone.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS PIETERS:   So  not  many ca l l s  came th rough  on the  

o f f i ce  l ine .  

CHAIRPERSON:   On the  land l ine .  

MS PIETERS:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  20 

MS PIETERS:   So  I  cannot  say  how much.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS PIETERS:   Bu t  I  know he was inundated w i th  ca l l s  f rom 

a  lo t  o f  peop le .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  okay a l r igh t .   Would  tha t  app ly  a lso  to  
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any  ca l l s  tha t  may have happened  between Mr  Agr i zz i  and 

Ms Mokonyane?  In  o ther  words,  you –  you do not  know 

because i f  there  were  any,  they wou ld  have been to  h is  ce l l  

phone and not  the  land l ine?  

MS PIETERS:   Yes they wou ld  have been to  h is  ce l l  phone.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Does tha t  a lso  app ly  in  te rms o f  

any in te rac t ions –  or  you wou ld  no t  know any in te rac t ions  

be tween Ms Thomas and Mr  Gav in  Watson and Ms 

Mokonyane and Mr  Gav in  Watson you wou ld  no t  know 

about  those?  10 

MS PIETERS:   No I  wou ld  no t  know.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay.   Do you know anyth ing  about  

any grocer ies  tha t  BOSASA may have bought  and  have – 

and caused to  be  de l i ve red to  Ms Mokonyane ’s  house?  Do  

you know anyth ing  about  tha t  tha t  Mr  Agr izz i  may have  

been invo lved in?  

MS PIETERS:   No tha t  he  wou ld  have dea l t  w i th  A l i s ta i r  

Esau in  the  k i t chen s ta f f .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes you… 

MS PIETERS:   D i rec t l y.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   You wou ld  no t  have been invo lved in  

tha t?  

MS PIETERS:   No I  do  no t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  you do not  know anyth ing  about  

those?  
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MS PIETERS:   I  hea rd  about  th ings l i ke  tha t .   I  mean the re  

is  a  lo t  o f  ta lk  in  the  s t ree t  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS PIETERS:   Bu t… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Bu t  you never  go t  invo lved?  

MS PIETERS:   I t  i s  poss ib le  tha t  I  d id  ge t  documents  to  

s ign .   A lo t  o f  th ings came to  me to  pr in t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS PIETERS:   And I  had to  g i ve  i t  to  Mr  Ag izz i  to  s ign  and 

then take  i t  to  the accounts  depar tment .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MS PIETERS:   There  was a  lo t  I  d id  no t  take  a  men ta l  no te  

o f  eve ry th ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS PIETERS:   And there  was s tu f f  tha t  yes ,  I  had to  have 

s igned and take i t  p laces.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   So i f  you  were  invo lved in  any  

way i t  wou ld  have been very  l im i ted  invo l vement .   I t  wou ld  

no t  –  you wou ld  no t  have been too  invo l ved in  those 

th ings?  20 

MS PIETERS:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.   A l r igh t .   Anyth ing  a r is ing?  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   No,  no  no th ing  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Thank you.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you ve ry  much Ms P ie ters  fo r  

coming to  g ive  ev idence.   You are  now excused.  

MS PIETERS:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a l r igh t .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Cha i r  tha t  i s  the  w i tness fo r  –  f rom my 

s ide .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.   No tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV NOTSHE SC:   And o the rwise  we… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  w i l l  ad journ  be fore  we s tar t  w i th  the  

next  –  w i tness fo r  the  day.  10 

ADV NOTSHE SC:   Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   We ad jou rn .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morning,  Ms Gcabashe.   Good 

morning,  everybody.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Good morning,  Chai rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Tel l  me, are we about to be ready? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes,  I  bel ieve we can start  Chairman 

with the prel iminary matters.    20 

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Chai rman, th is morning we are 

leading the evidence of  Ms Seipat i  Dhlamini .    

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sorry.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    A l i t t le c loser? 
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CHAIRPERSON:    I  do not  know.. .  they have moved the mic 

f rom where they normal ly have i t  to  the other side and since 

this morning,  I  do not  seem to hear  people standing there in  

the way I  have been hearing them.  I  do not  know i f  i t  has 

got  anything to do wi th the posi t ioning.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes.   Thank you,  Chai rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   H’m.  That  is bet ter.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Chairman, th is morning’s session 

deal  wi th the evidence of  Ms Seipat i  Dhlamini .   She is the 

former CFO, Chief  Financial  Off icer  of  the Department  of  10 

Agricul ture and the Department of  Agricul ture and Rural  

Development in the Free State.    

 She is here to g ive evidence on the Vrede Integrated 

Dai ry Project .   I  do not  know i f  you want me to speak louder 

Chairman or i f  I  am audible enough? 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja-no,  I  can hear  you.   Ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Ms Dhlamini  is ready to take the 

oath,  Chai rman.  Af ter that ,  I  wi l l  deal  wi th the bundles.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  please administer the oath or 

aff i rmat ion.  20 

REGISTRAR :    P lease state your fu l l  names for the record.  

WITNESS :    Seipat i  Sylvia Dhlamini .  

REGISTRAR :    Do you have any object ions to taking the 

prescr ibed oath? 

WITNESS :    No.  
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REGISTRAR :    Do you consider the oath to  be binding on 

your conscience? 

WITNESS :    Yes.  

REGISTRAR :    Do you swear that  the evidence you are 

about to give,  wi l l  be the t ruth,  the whole t ruth and nothing 

else but  the t ruth?  I f  so,  please raise your r ight  hand and 

say,  so help me God.  

WITNESS :    So help me God.  

SEIPATI SYLVIA DHLAMINI :   (d.s.s . )  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you.   Thank you,  Chai rman.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  you may proceed.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Chai rman, Ms Dhlamini  has made 

two statements.   The f i rst  statement is contained in  a new 

bundle that  we have prepared for  you overnight ,  Chairman 

which we have label led Est ina Bundle 01 and in  Est ina 

Bundle 01,  you have Exhibi t  HH16.  H for happy.    

 HH16 which contains the or ig inal  aff idavi t  submit ted by 

Ms Dhlamini .   We ask that  that  be admit ted into the record 

as soon as she has conf i rmed the content  and that  she 

deposed to i t .  20 

 The second exhibi t  Chairman is Exhibi t  HH16.1 which 

consists of  the supplementary aff idavi t  that  we received 

yesterday wi th i ts annexures.    

 The supplementary aff idavi t  – because the annexures 

are rather voluminous – is spl i t  into two f i les Chairman.  So 
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as and when i t  becomes necessary,  I  wi l l  indicate when we 

are deal ing wi th Est ina Bundle 01 which is the f i rst  f i le which 

has both the or ig inal  aff idavi t  and the supplementary 

aff idavi t .  

 And then I  wi l l  a lso ind icate when we are deal ing wi th  

Est ina Bundle 02 which real ly just  has the remainder of  the 

annexures to the supplementary aff idavi t .  

 Mr Dhlamini ,  I  hope I  wi l l  be able to guide you through 

these documents.   And i f  you do not  understand where I  am 

taking you to,  please you wi l l  indicate.  10 

MS DHLAMINI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Chai rman, the other th ing I  would 

l ike to point  out  to  you is,  that  in terms of  the new numbering 

that  has been int roduced into the Commission’s records,  we 

have numbering on the lef t -hand side of  Est ina Bundle 01 

and 02 which we t rust  al igns wi th the new systems.  

 So in Est ina Bundle 01,  the number ing on the black. . .  

the black numbering runs f rom 01 through to page 415, 

Chairman.  

 And then when we get  to Exhibi t  HH16.1’s annexures,  20 

which wi l l  be in Est ina Bundle 02,  again,  that  numbering 

Chairman wi l l  have the black numbering and the red 

numbering but  we wi l l  t ry and stay wi th the black numbering 

and that  starts again f rom 01 through to the end.  

 So each f i le has i ts own numbering Chai rman but  as we 
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go along,  I  wi l l  indicate what we are using.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  prefer  to stay wi th the black 

numbering Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja,  I  th ink let  us do that .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I t  seems to make a l i t t le b i t  more 

sense.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja,  ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  am af raid the new area. . .  I  am not  

used to th is.   I t  is rather crowded. 10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So bear  wi th me Chairman.  I  was 

used to the other bui ld ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes-no,  that  is f ine.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    We had lots of  space to move 

around.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

EXAMINATION BY ADV GCABASHE SC:    Ms Dhlamini ,  can 

you please pick up Exhibi t  HH16 which is your f i rst  aff idavi t .   

You wi l l  f ind i t  in  Est ina Bundle 01.   I  know there are very 20 

many f i les behind you because they are reference f i les and 

re lated f i les but  I  wi l l  take you through what we need.  So do 

not  worry too much about the numbered f i les we have here.  

MS DHLAMINI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Chai rman, before I  forget .   There are 
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a lso our reference bundles that  we have included a couple 

addi t ional  documents to.   I  s imply ask that  the reference 

bundle as current ly const i tuted be accepted and be admit ted 

to the record.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Are those reference bundles that  were not  

admit ted previously? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    They were Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    We have simple. . .  in fact ,  we have 

simple added one or two documents relat ing to the funct ions 10 

of  a CFO to the last  bundle.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja,  ja.   Wel l ,  i f  they were admit ted,  they 

wi l l  remain admit ted.   I f  there are new documents that ,  when 

that  referred were not  therefore part  of  what was admit ted,  

those may have to be admit ted separately and ei ther  be 

included in  those bundles or put  in separately but  you can 

apply your mind dur ing the break and so.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  shal l  do that  Chai rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja,  ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The one new bundle that  you do have 20 

is a bundle we thought we should prepare just  out  of  an 

abundance of  caut ion and we are cal l ing i t  the Transcr ipts 

Bundle.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    There are certain evidence that  was 
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led that  we. . .  f i rs t  wi th Ms Dhlamini .   So we have t r ied to 

extract  just  excerpts f rom those part icular t ranscr ipts 

because they are rather voluminous. 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    We have put  them in thei r  own l i t t le 

f i le which we are cal l ing the Transcr ipts Extracts Fi le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Just  for your ease of  reference.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And i t  contains al l  our t ranscr ipts  10 

here.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes,  yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So that  wi l l  be a completely new f i le.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  we think is l ike ly to be used for 

both today and as you to deem f i t  to  deal  wi th the stream. 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   So that  one,  we might  just  to. . .  we 

might  just  have i t  as a reference bundle or as a bundle but  

the idea might  not  be to admit  the t ranscr ipts,  I  guess.   I t  is  

just  that  i t  should be avai lable for quest ioning and so on.  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  is correct ,  Chai rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja.   So we might  just  place on record that  

there is such a f i le.   Ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you.   So I  p lace on record that  

we do have a f i le wi th t ranscr ipts f rom var ious wi tnesses.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  we have extracted and placed in  

that  f i le so that  we can show Ms Dhlamini  where we are 

get t ing the proposi t ions,  we are put t ing to her f rom.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Do you have a name for  i t ,  l ike 

bundle what or reference f i le what or f i le what? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Chai rman, i t  has been label led 

Exhibi t  HH, Transcr ipt  Extract .   HH is the Vrede Dai ry Fi le.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    For the HH f i le is the Vrede Dairy 10 

Fi le.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Should we cal l  i t  Bundle HH or what 

do you think?  Because I  say we do not  intend that  contents 

be admit ted as an exhib i t .   I t  just  for convenience.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  am very happy wi th that  Chai rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja.   Let  us ca l l  i t  just  bundle 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Bundle HH.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Transcr ipts . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Transcr ipts Extracts.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Ext ract .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja.   Yes,  okay al r ight .    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m? 
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ADV GCABASHE SC:    Ms Dhlamini ,  I  am back wi th you and 

I  real ly just  want you to conf i rm that  both aff idavi ts that  you 

submit ted are yours,  that  you have deposed to them, when 

you deposed to them, et  cetera.    

 So I  wi l l  take you through this very slowly.   I f  you turn to  

page. . .  and we are using the black numbers on the le f t -hand 

side,  Ma’am.   

 So i f  you page to page 3.   I  w i l l  not  cal l  i t  003,  I  wi l l  just  

cal l  i t  page 3.   I t  is the f i rst  page of  your aff idavi t  that  you 

submit ted to the Commission which is dated the 10 

17t h  of  December.   Is  that  your  name that  is ref lected on that  

f i rst  page,  page 3? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Is th is your aff idavi t ,  Ma’am? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    You are fami l iar wi th the contents 

thereof? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I f  you look at  page 35 of  that  

document Ms Dhlamini ,  there is a s ignature on that  page.   Is 20 

that  your signature?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson that  is my signature.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And I  note that  the date that  is 

wri t ten there,  i t  just  s imple says the 17t h day of  December.   

Wi l l  you conf i rm that  i t  is 2019?  
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MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson that  would be the 

17t h of  December 2019.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you very much, Ma’am.  I f  we 

then look at  the second statement that  you submit ted 

yesterday.   That  one you wi l l  f ind on page 42 of  the same 

bundle.   Again,  that  is your name on the page, on page 42?  

MS DHLAMINI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The black numbers.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson that  is my name.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I f  you then go to page 56. . .  10 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Do you conf i rm that  that  is your  

signature?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson that  is my signature.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Do you conf i rm that  you have 

deposed to this and you are fami l iar wi th the contents of  th is  

aff idavi t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And that  you included these 

annexures and the annexures that  are annexed hereto?  20 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you very much, Ma’am.  I f  I  

can just  give you a short  road map. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    You want me to admit  i t?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I f  you would,  please Chai rman.  My 
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apologies.   I f  you would admit  Exhib i t  H . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    The f i rst  one,  you want i t  to be admit ted 

and marked as exhibi t  what?  The one start ing at  page 3? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I t  is marked HH16, Chai rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    The aff idavi t  of  Ms Seipat i  Sylvia Dhlamini  

appearing at  page 3 or start ing at  page 3 of  Est ina Bundle 

01 is admit ted and wi l l  be marked as Exhibi t  HH16.  

AFFIDAVIT OF SEIPATI SYLVIA DHLAMINI AT PAGE 3 OF 

ESTINA BUNDLE 01 IS ADMITTED AND MARKED AS 

EXHIBIT HH16 10 

CHAIRPERSON:    And then the second one? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And then the second one is HH16.1, 

Chairman and that  is the one that  starts at  page 42.  

CHAIRPERSON:    The aff idavi t  of  Ms Seipat i  Sylvia Dhlamini  

start ing at  page 42 of  Est ina Bundle 01 is admit ted and wi l l  

be marked as Exhibi t  HH16.1.  

AFFIDAVIT OF SEIPATI  SYLVIA DHLAMINI AT PAGE 42 OF 

ESTINA BUNDLE 01 IS ADMITTED AND MARKED AS 

EXHIBIT HH16.1 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Chairman.   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m.  There is th is other one that  is  

separate.   I  do not  want to deal  wi th i t  now in terms of  i ts  

admission or wi l l  that  come later? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Chai rman,  that  is the or ig inal  one 

that  we got  a whi le ago.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    I t  was admit ted? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  is going to be admit ted as 

HH15.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay al r ight .   Okay.   Oh, is that  th is 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So we have simply put  i t  in a bigger 

f i le Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    But  you have the or ig inal  one.   We 

have just  put  i t  there in case you had . . . [ intervenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  i t  looks l ike . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    . . .markings or quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.   No,  that  is f ine.   I t  looks 

thinner but . . .  okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I t  was.   We were real ly happy wi th i t  

unt i l  we go the second one.  

CHAIRPERSON:    [ laughs]  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay al r ight .   H’m.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Ms Dhlamini ,  just  to g ive you a sense 20 

and a lso the Chai rman a sense of  what we are deal ing wi th 

today.   You are the CFO and we are real ly  going to  t ry and 

focus on your role as a CFO, your responsibi l i t ies as the 

CFO and al l  re levant  prescr ipts  that  you would have been 

aware of  as the CFO.   
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 Other wi tnesses have come to g ive evidence on a range 

of  matters re lat ing to the Dai ry Pro ject .   We are real ly going 

to endeavour to t ry and keep our focus in re lat ion to your 

evidence on your role as you supported the head of  

department,  Ms Dhlamini .   Are you happy wi th that? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am happy Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Can we star t  by f ind ing out  what your 

current  occupat ion is?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chai r.   Chai r,  I  am current ly work ing at  

the Department of  Cooperat ive Government and Tradi t ional  10 

Affai rs in the Free State Province.   The posi t ion I  hold is of  

an Execut ive Di rector-General  which the posi t ion ’s  

responsibi l i t ies in  the main is  to  provide both intervent ions 

through the munic ipal i t ies.    

 And current ly,  I  am act ing as the CFO.. . .  I  have been 

seconded to the local  municipal i ty as the Act ing CFO.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you.    When did you actual ly  

jo in the Free State Government?  I  th ink i t  was in  2007?  

Please assist  us and just  explain? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chai r  I  jo ined the Free State 20 

Government in December 2007.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And what posi t ion d id you hold 

there?  

MS DHLAMINI :    When I  jo ined the Fee State Government,  I  

ran i t  as the Chief  Financial  Off icer,  CFO for the department  
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of  then was,  Local  Government and Housing.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Just  pul l  the mic a bi t  c loser to you.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Oh.   Sorry.   Sorry,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja,  okay al r ight .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And who was the MEC of  Housing 

and Local  Government when you were there?  

MS DHLAMINI :    When I  jo ined in 2007, the MEC was Mr 

McGregor.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And he was fol lowed by?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Sorry,  Chair? 10 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And af ter  him whi le you were st i l l  

there?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Just  repeat ,  Chai r? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    You. . .  I  ask only because I  thought 

that  Mr Zwane was MEC of  that  department at  the t ime that 

you were there.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Oh.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I f  I  am wrong, just  correct  me and 

give us the facts.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Oh,  okay Chai r.   As I  stated,  in 2007,  when 20 

I  jo ined the department the MEC was Mr Mafereka.   Mr 

Zwane jo ined the department in  2009 af ter the elect ion.   

When the new government came in  then Mr Mafereka did not  

come back but  the MEC then became Mr Zwane.  That  was in  

2009.  
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ADV GCABASHE SC:    So you were serving in  that  

department as the CFO?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  was serving in that  department Chair  as 

the CFO. 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And Mr Zwane was the MEC of  that  

department?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Mr Zwane was indeed the MEC for that  

department.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you.   I  s imple ment ion i t  

because I  know we wi l l  come across Mr Zwane again in a 10 

few minutes t ime.   So i t  is  common cause that  you were also 

the CFO of  the Department of  Agricul ture and the 

Department of  Agr icul ture and Rural  Development?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And that  is where again Mr Zwane 

would have come within your orbi t .   Is that  correct?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Mr Zwane then came.  He also found 

me in the Department of  Agricul ture in 2011.   I  jo ined the 

department of . . .  or I  was t ransferred to the Department of  

Local  Government but  by the t ime I  get  t ransferred i t  was 20 

now the Department of  Local  Governments and Tradi t ional  

Affai rs and Department of  Human Sett lements.    

 Then I  was t ransferred in December 2010 to Agricul ture 

and 2011 Mr Zwane was also appointed the MEC for that  

department,  Agricul ture and Rural  Development.  
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ADV GCABASHE SC:    So you arr ived at  Agricul ture before 

Mr Zwane arr ived there? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  ar r ived before Mr  Zwane arr ived.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you.   Very br ief ly,  can you just  

te l l  the Chai rman what your qual i f icat ions are?  You are a 

CFO.  What are the qual i f icat ions that  you hold?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  have qual i f ied in a BCom Degree.   My 

major subjects are Account ing and Management Account ing.   

I  further studied but  could not  complete wi th the Inst i tute of  

Management Accountants which is in the UK.  I  a lso studied 10 

at  the Universi ty  in Canada and I  d id a course which is 

equivalent  to a masters in Investment Appraisa l .   Thank you,  

Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes,  thank you.   So you are very 

qual i f ied,  qui te f rankly?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  in terms of  the requirements of  the 

post  of  a Financia l  Off icer,  I  am properly qual i f ied.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And you have vast  exper ience 

because of  your serv ice in th is part icular role?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  I  have vast  experience in the service 20 

because I  jo ined the government in 1996 and worked for the 

Provincial  Treasury of  the Free State.   In 2007,  I  became the 

CFO in the Northern Cape Department of  Treasury and I  

moved again f rom the same year as only March af ter  

December.   December,  I  jo ined the Free State Government in 



02 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 259 
 

Page 41 of 270 
 

Local  Government  and Housing as the CFO. 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So . . . [ intervenes]   

MS DHLAMINI :    My role as a CFO started in 2007.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So one can safe ly say that  when i t  

comes to understanding the legal  f ramework that  regulates 

and governs anything to do wi th  procurement,  you would 

know everything you need to know about that?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Can I  just  ask you one quest ion just  

as an exercise real ly?  The Premier of  the Free State in the 10 

per iod that  we are real ly just  interested in,  which is  2011 to 

2015 or 2010 to 2015, was Mr Magashule.    

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  i t  was Mr Magashule.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Did you work in his off ice at  any 

point  in t ime?  

MS DHLAMINI :    No,  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you.   You were an Execut ive 

wi thin the Management Commit tee of  DARD.  DARD being 

the Department of  Agricul ture and Rural  Development.    

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  I  served as a CFO.  I  served in the 20 

Execut ive Management of  that  department.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And I  just  want to make i t  c lear for  

the record that  we wi l l  at  some point  going to refer to Exco.   

That  reference al ready be to the Provincial  and Legislature 

Execut ive Commit tee.   Is that  a tota l ly di fferent  st ructure?  
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MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  i t  is a total ly  di fferent  st ructure Chai r  

but  I  am not  sure i f  Chai r  you want to refer to Exco as for the 

legislature or Exco as the structure that  is consistent  of  the 

Premier and the MEC’s,  a l l  the MEC’s?  That  is then di fferent  

f rom the legislature.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    For our purposes and just  for  c lar i ty  

Ms Dhlamini ,  we are real ly referr ing to the f i rst ,  where is the 

provincial  leg islature because we are going to be talk ing 

about the resolut ion that  cabinet  s igned,  the Exco Resolut ion 

that  deal t  wi th Vrede.  10 

 And that  real ly is our interest  in  making sure that  on 

record there is no confusion between our reference to Exco 

and when we are talk ing about the Provincial  Legislature 

headed by the Premier and your Execut ive Management 

Commit tee wi thin  the department  which would have been 

headed by Mr Zwane as the Head of  the Department.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink there may be confusion there.   

The. . .  as I  understand the posi t ion,  unless you said one 

thing whi le in your mind you had something else in mind.   

The. . .  there is the execut ive counci l  of  the province.    20 

 The execut ive counci l  of  the province is led or chaired 

by the premier and the other members of  that  counci l  are the 

MEC’s.   Those are the only members of  the execut ive 

counci l .   So some people might  cal l  i t  Exco.   I  do not  know.   

 But  const i tut ional ly that  is the execut ive counci l  of  the 
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province.   That  is  l ike the cabinet  of  the province.   And then 

there is the provincial  legislature.    

 Now again whether the provincial  legislature would have 

i ts own Exco but  I  doubt  that  i t  would involve the premier or 

any MEC.  H’m.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Chai rman,  in  context ,  the relevance 

of  th is is related to the Exco minute that  author ise the 

implementat ion of  the Vrede Dai ry Project .   And that  was a 

cabinet  discussion.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So that  is the execut ive counci l?  10 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So that  would the execut ive counci l  

of . . .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja,  ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  is  real ly what I  was t ry ing to  

clear up.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  so when you refer to Exco,  that  is the 

st ructure you are referr ing to? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  is what  we wi l l  be referr ing to.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  just  did not  want there to be 20 

confusion.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   No,  no,  no.   That  is important .   So I  

know a lso when you say Exco in th is context ,  you are 

referr ing to the Provincial  Execut ive Counci l .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  thank you for assist ing in clear ing 
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up this.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   No,  that  is f ine.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Chairman.  Again,  just  I  

am real ly just  probing your competency,  your experience,  et  

cetera at  th is point  Ms Dhlamini .   You were also a member of  

the Chief  Financial  Off ices Forum which was convened and 

coordinated by the Provincial  Account ing General ,  is  that  not  

correct? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Now, this is  a forum that  would have 10 

to faci l i tated the work that  you did as CFO, al l  of  your 

CFO’s.   Am I  r ight? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  that  is correct .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And i t  a lso al lowed you to ask and 

debate operat ional  quest ions and issues that  concerned 

you?  You could debate the at  th is forum?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    You were also able t  have direct  

access to th is forum to the Provincial  Account ing General  

especial ly the black person may have queried a certain non-20 

compl iance by a department for instance your department?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Again,  I  am just  put t ing on record 

what we understand you to have been fami l iar wi th  at  the 

t ime.  I  am correct  in saying you were not  a member of  the 
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Provincial  Treasury Commit tee,  were you?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Wi l l  you repeat Chair? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    You were not  a  member of  the 

Provincial  Treasury Commit tee which would have been part  

of  the Provincial  Treasury?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  was not ,  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Would you be invi ted to meet ings of  

the Provincial  Treasury Commit tee?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  you would be invi ted at  some point ,  

only when i t  deal t  wi th budget  matters.   When you are invi ted 10 

to come and basical ly i t  would be the department  that  is 

invi ted to come and present  the budget of  the department to 

the commit tee.   So you. . .  I  would go there as the CFO 

together wi th . . . [ in tervenes]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The HOD,  o ther  [ ind is t inc t ]  00 .01  

managers  in  the  depar tment .   That  i s  how I  unders tand i t .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And the  HOD wou ld  rea l l y  l ead the  

team and your  job  was to  adv i se  on  f inanc ia l  and 

budgeta ry  mat te rs  tha t  were  supposed to  be  d iscussed a t  20 

these meet ings.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Exce l len t .   I  am sure  you w i l l  agree 

w i th  me when I  say to  you tha t  the  most  impor tan t  

funct ions o f  the  CFO – and I  know you have dea l t  w i th  
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some o f  those in  your  a f f idav i t  bu t  I  rea l l y  am jus t  t ry ing  to  

have a  b road ove rv iew o f  who you  were  pro fess iona l l y  and  

what  you r  competenc ies  were .   I  wou ld  l i ke  jus t  to  keep 

say ing  tha t .   The  most  impor tan t  funct ions as  a  CFO in  a 

prov inc ia l  depar tment  wou ld  inc lude f inanc ia l  management ,  

budget  and expend i tu re  cont ro l ,  render ing  adv ice  to  

management  espec ia l l y  to  the  HOD and,  o f  course ,  to  o ther  

managers .   R isk  management ,  asset  management ,  

in fo rmat ion  sys tems management  and ensur ing  tha t  there  

was fu l l  compl iance w i th  the  f inanc ia l  lega l  p rescr ip t s  10 

inc lud ing  compl iance w i th  the  SCM po l icy  document .  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.   However,  r i sk  

management  and in fo rmat ion  management  sys tem were  no t  

par t  o f  my respons ib i l i t y.   R isk  management  i s  a  separa te  

un i t  tha t  repor ts  to  the  HOD and in fo rmat ion  sys tems repor t  

a lso  -  in  our  depar tment  i t  was repor t ing  under  corpora te  

serv i ces .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  am comfor tab le  w i th  tha t .   I  jus t  

want  to  underscore  the  spec i f i c  leg is la t i ve  prescr ip ts  o r  

p rov is ions tha t  wou ld  have ass i s ted  you in  d ischarg ing  20 

your  funct ions.   So we know tha t  f i rs t  Sect ion  217 o f  the  

Const i tu t ion  and  we rea l l y  a re  dea l ing  la rge ly  w i th  

p rocu rement  mat te rs  because the  Vrede Da i ry  Pro jec t  was 

about  p rocurement  la rge ly  o r  fa rmer  suppor t .   So  Sect ion  

217 you are  happy was rea l l y  the  ground ing  prov is ion  tha t  
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you  had to  re fer  to .  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am happy,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And tha t  wou ld  then cascade down 

to  the  PFMA which  then wou ld  fu r the r  cascade down to  

Treasury  regu la t i ons and s t ruc ture  no tes .  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And is  tha t  no t  on ly  you bu t  every  

CFO was ob l iged to  be  fami l ia r  w i th  a l l  those p rov is ions?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Char.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  want  to  focus fo r  a  m inute  on  10 

Sect ion  38  o f  the  PFMA jus t  fo r  one minute  because  I  want  

us  to  have a  common unders tand ing  tha t  the  en t i re  Sect ion  

38  was app l i cab le  to  the  funct ions  tha t  you d i scharged,  am 

I  cor rec t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I f  you  look a t  the  en t i re  Sect ion  –  can I  

re fe r,  Cha i r?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    P lease.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Because i t  i s  confus ing ,  somet imes i t  

ta lks  about  par t  2  o f  the  PFMA.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  have a  s l igh t ly  newer  copy o f  the  20 

PFMA than you do.   I  hope tha t  our  p rov i s ions are  the  

same.   I  have one in  my re ference bund les  bu t  a re  you  

happy to  use the  one you are  ho ld ing  in  your  hand? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  th ink ,  Cha i r,  they  are  s t i l l  the  same,  i t  i s  

jus t  tha t  they were  no t  p r in ted  a t  the  same pr in te rs .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Le t  us  p roceed.   So you have got  

Sect ion  38(1)  wh ich  runs f rom – (1 )  runs f rom (a)  a l l  the  

way down to  (n )  and then you have got  (2 ) ,  38(2)  wh ich  is  

par t i cu la r l y  impor tan t  in  th is  par t i cu la r  invest iga t ion  

because i t  says  tha t :  

“An account ing  o f f i cer  may  not  commi t  a  

depar tment ,  t rad ing  en t i t y  o r  Const i tu t iona l  

ins t i tu t ion  to  any l iab i l i t y  fo r  wh ich  money has not  

been appropr ia ted . ”  10 

You are  comfor tab le  tha t  th is  app l ied  to  the  work  tha t  you 

d id .   That  was the  quest ion .  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am comfor tab le ,  Cha i r,  tha t  i t  app l ies .   

However,  the re  a re  o the r  e lements  in  th is  sec t ion  tha t  they 

may not  -   cer ta in ly  no t  be  my co re  respons ib i l i t y  l i ke  you  

wou ld  re lease th i s ,  an  in te rna l  aud i t  wh ich  is  separa te  to  

th is ,  a lso  r i sk  management  bu t  in  annexure  i t  app l ies .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes.   And then the  o ther  impor tan t  

one I  th ink  we shou ld  jus t  agree on is  tha t  Sect ion  44  and  

45 o f  the  PFMA wou ld  a lso  have been re levant  to  the  work  20 

tha t  you d id  because 44 a l lowed  the  account ing  o f f i ce r,  

tha t  i s  Mr  Thabethe,  as  the  HOD to  de legate  cer ta in  

funct ions to  you .   So the  f inanc ia l  func t ions wou ld  be  

de legated to  you.   A re  you comfor tab le  w i th  tha t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am f ine  w i th  tha t ,  Cha i r.  
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ADV GCABASHE SC:    And then Sect ion  45  ac tua l l y  te l l s  

you what  your  respons ib i l i t i es  wou ld  have  been.   

Respons ib i l i t i es  o f  o f f i c ia ls  who  have been de legated 

cer ta in  respons ib i l i t i es .   You are  comfor tab le  w i th  tha t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Bas ica l l y,  Sect ion  45 ,  Cha i rperson,  ta lks 

to  respons ib i l i t i es  o f  o ther  o f f i c i a ls  and in  th is  case,  yes ,  I  

wou ld  a l so  fa l l  under  o ther  o f f i c ia ls .   I  w i l l  exp la in  tha t  

mat te r  when we dea l  w i th  the  budget .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  i s  f ine  because what  w i l l  be  o f  

par t i cu la r  impor tance when you get  there  –  and I  am happy 10 

we w i l l  dea l  w i th  tha t  la te r  -  wou ld  be  45(b)  wh ich  says tha t  

those o f f i c ia l s  o r  tha t  pa r t i cu la r  o f f i c ia l  i s  respons ib le  fo r  

the  e f fec t i ve ,  e f f ic ien t ,  economica l  and t ransparent  use  o f  

f inanc ia l  and o ther  resources w i th in  tha t  o f f i c ia l ’s  a rea  o f  

respons ib i l i t y.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So  the  broad p ropos i t ion  you have  

here .   You have  to  say yes and  not  nod,  hey,  you must  

remember  tha t .   Then the  las t  one wh ich  I  th ink  i s  a lso  

impor tan t  –  no t  as  impor tan t  as  the  o thers ,  bu t  re levant ,  20 

wou ld  be  Sect ion  66  and 68 o f  the  PFMA because  these  

say they wou ld  app ly  to  any t ransact ion  tha t  b inds  or  may  

b ind  an  ins t i tu t ion  and in  essence  Sect ion  66  proh ib i t s  the  

depar tment  f rom enter ing  in to  any t ransact ion  tha t  b inds or  

may b ind  the  depar tment  un less  such t ransact ion  is  
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au thor ised by  the  PFMA,  so  i t  has  a  tangent ia l  re levance to  

the  c i r cumstances under  wh ich  you cou ld  b ind  the 

depar tment .   Can  we proceed?  

MS DHLAMINI :    We can proceed,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    We are  br ie f l y  go ing  to  look  a t  what  

d i f fe ren t  w i tnesses sa id  they unders tood  your  

respons ib i l i t i es  to  be  and th is  w i l l  re la te  to  some o f  the  

tes t imony tha t  has been g i ven befo re  th is  Commiss ion .    

The contex t  rea l l y  i s  tha t  a  mater ia l  par t  o f  the  

adv ice  tha t  you wou ld  have g iven ,  and you w i l l  exp la in  as  10 

we go a long,  th is  i s  jus t  g iv ing  contex t  e i the r,  e i ther  in  

re la t ion  to  the  appo in tment  o f  the  imp lement ing  agents  or  

the  approva l  o f  p roposa ls  p laced before  HOD by Est ina  or  

any recommenda t ions on  any dev ia t ions f rom SCM po l icy  

o r  the  approva l  o f  any agreement .   Those a re  mat te rs  tha t  

you were  invo l ved in  e i ther  d i rec t l y  o r  ind i rec t l y.    

 So  the  tes t imon ies  tha t  I  am go ing  to  be  read ing  to  

you,  the  quest ions I  w i l l  be  ask ing  you,  w i l l  re la te  to  what  

o thers  thought  your  goa l  was.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you,  Cha i r.  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Can we jus t  s ta r t  w i th  look ing  a t  

the  SCM po l i cy  document  wh ich  w i l l  be  found a t  re fe rence  

bund le  A .   So i f  you  look a t  the  bund les  beh ind  you.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Refe rence bund le  A?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Reference  bund le  A and i f  you tu rn  
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to  page 333,  i t  i s  r igh t  a t  the  end,  shou ld  be  r igh t  a t  the  

end.   So th is  is  the  supp ly  cha in  management  po l i cy  

documents  wh ich  was s igned by  Mr  Thabethe,  as  the  HOD, 

on  the  1  Apr i l  2012.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i r,  le t  me get  to  i t .    

CHAIRPERSON:    Do the  best  you can to  ra ise  your  vo ice  

so  I  can hear  you,  Ms Dh lamin i .   D id  you say 333,  Ms 

Gcabashe?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    On the  top  r igh t  hand s ide ,  

Cha i rman,  yes .   Oh,  i t  i s  because  the  re ference I  want  to  10 

take  her  to ,  my apo log ies .   My apo log ies  to  the  Cha i rman 

and to  you,  Ma ’am,  the  document  i t se l f  s ta r ts  a t  page 325  

but  I  want  to  take  you to  page 333.   Yes,  tha t  page,  i t  

s ta r ts  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  the  re levant  i s  333?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes,  i t  s ta r ts  a t  325.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Bu t  the  f i rs t  page I  want  to  take  her  

to  i s  page 333 o f  tha t  document .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.    20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Page 333,  you are  there?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am there ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  thank you.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And I  know tha t  you have dea l t  w i th  

th is ,  espec ia l l y  in  your  f i rs t  a f f idav i t ,  Ma ’am,  bu t  I  rea l l y  
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jus t  want  to  have  an overv iew,  I  am not  go ing  to  s top  you  

f rom go ing  –we a re  go ing  to  dea l  w i th  your  a f f idav i t  la te r  – 

f rom go ing  back  to  those par t i cu la r  a reas you wanted to  

emphas ise .   But  fo r  cur ren t  purposes,  c lause 2 .1 .4  on  tha t  

page dea ls  w i th  the  ro le  o f  the  account ing  o f f i cer,  tha t  

wou ld  be  the  HOD,  and i t  says  tha t :  

“The HOD can do var ious th ings inc lud ing  sub-

de legat ing  powers  and dut ies  to  the  CFO and SCM 

pract i t ioners  to  d ischarge SCM funct ions. ”  

You do not  take  i ssue w i th  tha t?  10 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  do  no t  take  issue w i th  tha t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I f  you  go  over  the  page to  page  

334,  you get  the  ro le  o f  the  CFO,  sub 2 .2  dea ls  w i th  a l l  o f  

the  th ings tha t  were  expected o f  you.   Can you p lease jus t  

read those in to  the  record  because tha t  i s  par t i cu la r l y  

impor tan t  to  th is  invest iga t ion .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Paragraph 2 .2 :  

“Ro le  o f  the  Ch ie f  F inanc ia l  Off i ce r,  ensur ing  tha t  

the  depar tment ’s  p rocu rement  p rocesses are  in  l ine  

w i th  the  app l i cab le  leg i s la t ion ,  ensur ing  tha t  the  20 

depar tment ’s  p rocurement  po l i cy  i s  e f fec t i ve ly  

imp lemented,  ensure  tha t  o f f i c ia ls  imp lement ing ,  

app ly ing  and management  the  SCM po l icy  a re  

t ra ined in  accordance w i th  the  prescr ibed  

requ i rements ,  gu id ing  and moni to r ing  the  supp ly  
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cha in  management   un i t  in  the  opera t ion ,  serves as  

a  member  o f  the  B id  Ad jud ica t ion  Commi t tee . ”  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Ma’am.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    In  add i t ion  to  tha t ,  you then  have a t  

2 .5  the  de legat ion  by  the  HOD which  wou ld  be  cons is ten t  

w i th  Sect ion  44  o f  the  PFMA and tha t  they are  re fe r r ing  to  

c lause 2 .6 .1 .   I  jus t  po in t  these out  to  you so  tha t  when we 

have the  d iscuss ion  about  your  ro le  you these in  m ind what  

th is  document  says your  ro le  was.    10 

 I f  we go ove r  the  page to  335  we there  see a t  

c lause 3 .3 :  

“P rocurement  above the  t ransact ion  va lue  o f  

500 000”  

Which  speaks to  compet i t i ve  b ids  be ing  inv i ted  fo r  a l l  

p rocu rement  above 500 000.   Now we have a l ready sa id  

tha t  you have to  make sure  tha t  the  presc r ip ts  o f  th is  

document  must  be  compl ied  w i th  and I  know you w i l l  dea l  

w i th  the  except iona l  cases,  I  w i l l  no t  s top  you,  I  am jus t  

go ing  th rough the  genera l  pos i t ion .    20 

 Can we then go over  the  page,  a t  c lause 3 .5 .1  there  

is  a  p rov is ion  tha t  says tha t :  

“Any reason fo r  dev ia t ing  f rom inv i t ing  compet i t i ve  

b ids  shou ld  be  recorded and improved by  the  

account ing  o f f i ce r. ”  
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You are  comfor tab le  w i th  tha t .    

We then move on to  page 349,  Ma’am,  349 and a t  

349 you have got  c lause 2 .19  wh ich  speaks  to  the  

appo in tment  o f  consu l tan ts .   To  the  ex ten t  tha t  tha t  may be 

re levant  I  jus t  wanted to  po in t  i t  ou t  to  you because you  

may want  to  speak to  us  about  who may or  may not  have  

been a  consu l tan t  as  opposed to  an  imp lement ing  agent  

when we get  to  tha t  par t .  

We then move on to  page 352  wh ich  speaks to  

i r regu lar  expend i tu re  and payments  wh ich  is  another  10 

cr i t i ca l  e lement  to  the  invest iga t ion  we have been  

conduct ing .   I t  i s  c lause 3 .4  and i t  spe l l s  ou t  what  i r regu lar  

expend i tu re  m igh t  be  and aga in ,  o f  cou rse ,  anyth ing  tha t  

does not  f i t  w i th  p rescr ip ts  as  se t  ou t  in  th is  document  

cou ld  const i tu te ,  m ight  const i tu te  i r regu la r  expend i tu re .   

MS DHLAMINI :    A l r igh t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  then you to  page 356,  I  w i l l  no t  

dwe l l  on  i t ,  I  s imp ly  po in t  ou t  tha t  th is  par t  dea ls  w i th  

e th ica l  s tandards  and then we go to  the  las t  page,  wh ich  is  

359,  wh ich  is  o f  par t i cu la r  impor tance wh ich  under  Goa ls  20 

and Respons ib i l i t i es .   Th is  i s  what  Mr  Thabethe put  in to  

th is  document ,  359.   I t  reads as  fo l lows:  

“Respons ib i l i t y  fo r  the  imp lementa t ion  o f  th is  po l i cy  

res t s  w i th  the  Ch ie f  F inanc ia l  Off i cer  w i th  the  

ass is tance o f  the  sen ior  manager  supp ly  cha in  
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management . ”  

You are  happy tha t  tha t  i s  what  i s  wr i t ten  he re?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Okay,  tha t  i s  go ing  to  become an  

impor tan t  p rov is ion  in  re la t ion  to  whether  you were  the  

custod ian  or  no t  the  custod ian  o f  th is  po l i cy  document .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Must  we put  tha t  f i l e  away fo r  now? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Jus t  to  the  s ide  fo r  now,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Cha i rman,  I  do  no t  know i f  you 10 

want  to  us  to  go  jus t  a  l i t t le  beyond quar te r  past  o r  i f  you  

want  us  to  take  the  shor t  ad journment  now and come back  

or  you want  us  to  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am easy,  I  am easy.   What  i s  –  f rom 

your  s ide ,  do  you want  us  to  go  up  to  ha l f  past  and then 

take  the  tea  break or  shou ld  we take i t  now? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Cha i rman,  we are  go ing  to  the 

t ranscr ip ts  now so  maybe we shou ld  jus t  take  a  shor t  

ad journment .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And go to  the  – we w i l l  need the  

t ranscr ip ts  poss ib ly  as  we come back.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay,  we w i l l  take  the  tea  

ad journment ,  i t  i s  now quar te r  pas t ,  we w i l l  resume a t  ha l f  

past .   We ad journ .  
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INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON:    You may p roceed.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Cha i rman.   Cha i rman,  

you w i l l  need fo r  the  next  coup le  o f  quest ions the  bund le ,  

the  t ransc r ip ts  bund le .   You w i l l  a lso  need Mr  Thabethe ’s  

f i rs t  a f f idav i t  wh ich  can be found in  the  o ld  EXHIBIT 

HH10(a ) .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   Or  what  we can do,  because I  do  

no t  have too  many f i les  he re ,  as  and when you re fer  to  a 10 

par t i cu la r  one you w i l l  announce and you w i l l  g ive  i t  to  me.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Abso lu te l y .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   For  now,  jus t  I  jus t  dea l  –  i t  i s  in  

bund le  01?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  th ink  le t  us  s ta r t  w i th   -  i f  you  

cou ld  be  handed Mr  Thabethe ’s  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Which  is  in  HH10(a) .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And i t  i s  page –  the  b lack  numbers ,  

i t  wou ld  be  page 9 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Paragraph –  I  beg your  pardon.   
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Cha i rman,  I  do  beg your  pa rdon,  I  do  have th ree  f i les  he re .   

I t  i s  page 13,  MRT13,  i f  i t  i s  Thabethe we a re  look ing  a t ,  

MRT13 a t  paragraph 37.4 .   MRT13.   You have Mr 

Thabethe ’s  a f f idav i t  there ,  Ma ’am?  H10(a)  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  have i t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you .   What  he  says a t  page  

13,  pa ragraph 37 .4  and 37.5  -  essent ia l l y,  I  th ink  a l igns  to  

what  we have d i scussed on the  respons ib i l i t i es  o f  a  CFO,  

so  –  and you w i l l  con f i rm i f  th is  i s  cor rec t .   He says,  fo r  

ins tance,  tha t :  10 

“A l l  payments  wh ich  were  made in  respect  o f  the  

Vrede Da i ry  Pro jec t  inc lud ing  payments  to  Est ina  

were  au thor i sed  by  the  prov inc ia l  t reasury  a f te r  

hav ing  been du ly  ver i f ied  by  me and the  

depar tment ’s  Ch ie f  F inanc ia l  Off i ce r.   The Ch ie f  

F inanc ia l  Off i cer  had to  ver i f y  and conf i rm the  

cor rec tness o f  the  invo ices,  had to  do  a  tax  

c lea rance on the  payee and had to  manage the  

payments  in  accordance w i th  the  approved budge t  

be fore  any payment  wou ld  be  made . ”  20 

Now tha t  wou ld  fa l l  square ly  w i th in  the  f inanc ia l  

management  por t fo l io  tha t  you wou ld  ho ld ,  am I  cor rec t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Then the  fo l low ing paragraph says  

–  aga in ,  th is  i s  Mr  Thabethe say ing :  
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“ I  d id  no t  per fo rm  any funct ion  and  d id  no t  take  any  

dec is ion  in  respect  o f  the  imp lementa t ion  and  

execut ion  o f  the  Vrede Da i ry  Pro jec t  w i thout  hav ing  

fo l lowed the  presc r ibed depar tmenta l  p rocesses o r  

w i thout  hav ing  f i r s t  ob ta ined the  requ i red  approva ls  

and autho r i t y  f rom the  MEC Agr icu l tu re  and the  

Exco. ”  

Now here  aga in ,  when he speaks to  the  presc r ibed  

depar tmenta l  p rocesses,  you wou ld  be  the  person adv is ing  

h im on how to  comply  w i th  those,  tha t  i s  par t  o f  what  you  10 

do.   Yes or  no?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson,  I  th ink  fo r  me th is  s ta tement  

i s  too  broad espec ia l l y  tha t  when i t  re fe rs  to  approva ls  and  

author i t y  f rom the  MECs and Exco .   I f  i t  has  to  be  conf ined  

to  my respons ib i l i t y  then i t  w i l l  be  conf ined w i th in  the  

conf inement  o f  the  PFMA and  the  PFMA,  so le ly  the  

account ing ,  i t  i s  very  c lear,  HOD i s  the  account ing  o f f i ce r.   

So once you br ing  the  MEC and Exco in to  the  PFMA 

mat te rs  then you are  s ta r t ing  to  dea l  w i th  i ssues o f  

in te r fe rence.    20 

So we have –  Sect ion  –  parag raph 37.5 ,  I  am no t  

agree ing  w i th  I  hundred percent .   Yes,  the  processes o f  the  

depar tment  w i th  regard  to  f inanc ia l  management  issues,  

because the re  i s  a  lo t  o f  p rocesses,  tha t  i s  why I  am 

say ing ,  Cha i r,  th is  s ta tement  i s  too  broad,  there  i s  a  lo t  o f  
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p rocesses tha t  a re  happen ing .   

For  ins tance,  when you dea l  w i th  p ro jec t s ,  i t  i s  a  

p rocess.   When  you ident i f y  the  pro jec t ,  i t  i s  p rocess,  

wh ich  process the  CFO might  no t  be  respons ib le  fo r  o r  

m ight  no t  even  par t i c ipa te .   Hence I  am say ing  th is  

s ta tement  i s  too  broad and too  b ig  fo r  me.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  what  he  is  say ing  he re ,  he  re fers  to  

funct ions tha t  he  per fo rmed in  respect  o f  the  

imp lementa t ion  and execut ion  o f  the  Vrede Da i ry  Pro jec t  

and he says there  is  no  funct ion  and there  is  no  dec is ion  10 

he took in  respec t  o f  the  imp lementa t ion  and the  execut ion  

o f  the  Vrede Da i ry  Pro jec t ,  one,  w i thout  hav ing  fo l lowed  

the  prescr ibed depar tmenta l  p rocesses or  to  -  w i thout  

hav ing  ob ta ined the  requ i red  approva ls  and author i t y  f rom 

the  MEC Agr icu l tu re  and the  Exco.    

Now you have made the  po in t  tha t  the  MEC and  

Exco,  i f  I  unders tood you cor rec t l y,  ought  no t  to  be  

invo l ved in  the  dec i s ion  re la t ing  to  the  imp lementa t ion  o f  a  

p ro jec t  such as  tha t .   D id  I  unders tand you cor rec t l y?  

MS DHLAMINI :     Cha i r,  tha t  i s  no t  what  I  am say ing .   What  20 

I  am say ing  is ,  w i th  regard  to  a l l  sec tors  o f  f inanc ia l  

management  wh ich  a re  w i th in  the  conf inement  o f  the  

PFMA.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  the  ro le  o f  the  account ing  o f f i ce r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    And are  you say ing  tha t  in  regard  to  tha t  

ro le  there  i s  no  approva l  requ i red  f rom the  – requ i red  by  

the  account ing  o f f i cer  f rom the  MEC or  f rom the  execut ive  

counc i l .   I s  tha t  what  you are  say ing ,  he  must  jus t  do  h is  

job ,  o r  she must  do  her  job?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Okay,  what  I  mean,  Cha i rpe rson,  i s  yes ,  

there  m ight  be  o ther  –  I  am aware  o f  o the r  p rocesses  

whereby a l l  the  pro jec ts  fo r  ins tance before  they can be  

imp lemented they wou ld  be  approved by  the  Exco or  the 

MEC because we  w i l l  then,  w i th  regard  to  the  MEC,  as  we  10 

prepare  the  budget  we w i l l  p resent  the  pro jec t s  to  the 

MEC.   MEC wi l l  say  i t  i s  okay and there  is  another  p rocess  

o f  the  Exco and the  Budget  Lekgot la  where  in  the  Budget  

Lekgot la  you w i l l  then present  the  pro jec t  o f  the 

depar tment ,  then the  Exco wou ld  agree to  tha t ,  i t  i s  par t  o f  

the  budget ,  the  Budget  Lekgot la .  

 What  I  meant  he re ,  espec ia l l y  I  was p repar ing  two  

processes.   When  HOD is  say ing :  

 I  d id  no t  per fo rm  any funct ion  and  d id  no t  take  any 

dec is ion  in  respect  o f  the  imp lementa t ion  and  20 

execut ion  o f  the  Vrede Da i ry  Pro jec t  w i thout  hav ing  

fo l lowed the  prescr ibed depar tmenta l  p rocesses 

or…”  

And then he sa id  processes or :  

“…wi thout  hav ing  f i rs t  ob ta ined the  requ i red  
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app rova l  and author i t y  f rom the  MEC”  

Yes,  the  la t te r  pa r t  I  agree w i th  i t  and hence I  am say ing  in  

te rms o f  p rocesses o f  the  depar tment ,  yes ,  he  was  

fo l low ing the  processes o f  the  depar tment  and I  can on ly  

ta lk  to  those  processes w i th  regard  to  f inanc ia l  

management  and issues a round  tha t  invo l ves in to  the  

PFMA.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  so  you are  say ing  you wou ld  l im i t  

your  comment .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    To  those p rocesses.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Anyth ing  ou ts ide  o f  tha t  you –  we l l ,  you  

do not  have –  you do not  have an issue w i th  h im say ing  he  

d id  no t  imp lement  any dec is ions  o f  th is  p ro jec t  w i thout  

seek ing  the  requ i red  approva ls ,  au thor i t y  o f  the  MEC o r  

Exco.   You do no t  have a  prob lem wi th  tha t  e i ther.   A l l  you  

are  say ing  is ,  the  ones tha t  you a re  de f in i te  about  in  te rms 

o f  compl iance are  the  ones re la t ing  to  the  f inanc ia l  

management  p rocesses.    20 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  exac t ly  what  I  am say ing ,  

Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   Now Ms Gcabashe ’s  quest ion  

was whether  in  fo l low ing –  inso fa r  as  Mr  Thabethe  says in  

th is  paragraph tha t  the  funct ions he  per fo rmed and the  
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dec is ions he  made in  regard  to  the  imp lementa t ion  o f  th is  

p ro jec t ,  he  fo l lowed the  prescr ibed depar tmenta l  

p rocesses.   A t  leas t  in  regard  to  tha t ,  he  was ask ing  wou ld  

he  have compl ied  or  fo l lowed those processes on your  

adv ice  and I  unders tood her  to  be  ask ing  tha t .   In  o ther  

words,  you were  g iv ing  adv i ce  as  to  what  shou ld  be  done  

in  regard  to  the  processes on f inanc ia l  management ,  a t  

leas t .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson ,  can you c la r i f y  tha t  

quest ion?  Maybe  I  am miss ing  someth ing .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  I  th ink  what  you sa id  i s ,  w i th  

regard  to  f inanc ia l  management ,  p rocesses re la t ing  to  

f inanc ia l  management ,  o f  th is  p ro jec t ,  in  the  depar tment ,  I  

unders tood you to  say those,  you can tes t i f y  to  those,  tha t  

those were  compl ied  w i th .  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  what  I  am say ing ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Now here  he  is  say ing  he  compl ied  

w i th  those and as  I  unders tood Ms Gcabashe ’s  quest ion ,  i t  

inc ludes ask ing  whethe r  in  comply ing  w i th  those,  he  was  

ac t ing  on  your  adv ice  or  gu idance or  no t?  20 

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rpe rson,  in  dea l ing  w i th  tha t  mat te r,  

we w i l l  have to  unpack them.   As I  sa id ,  p rocesses ,  there  

are  a  lo t  o f  p rocesses.   Un less  we  unpack those p rocesses 

tha t  he  is  re fe r r ing  to  …[ in te rvenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  those processes.  
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MS DHLAMINI :    …then I  can say w i th  th is  p rocess yes,  he  

compl ied  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You –  okay,  okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    …wi th  my adv ice .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  what  I  meant .   

CHAIRPERSON:    So  your  answer  wou ld  be ,  in  regard  to  

some processes i t  wou ld  have been w i th  your  gu idance or  

adv ice  bu t  in  regard  to  o the rs ,  i t  m igh t  no t  have been w i th  

your  adv i ce .  10 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  exact ly  what  I  want  to  say,  

Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

MS DHLAMINI :    O f  what  I  am say ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ms Gcabashe?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And we a re  go ing  to  unpack them 

because we are  go ing  to  ta lk  about  the  dev ia t ion  

memorandum,  those submiss ions ,  where  your  s ignature  

appears  under  recommended,  we  are  go ing  to  ta l k  about  

the  agreement ,  aga in  where  your  s ignature  appears ,  and I  20 

know you say you s igned as  a  w i tness,  e tce tera ,  e tce tera .   

So you are  cor rec t  when you say you are  more  comfor tab le  

in  g iv ing  spec i f i c  cases.   We wi l l  be  ge t t ing  to  those ,  I  was 

rea l l y  jus t  t ry ing  to  g ive  you tha t  b road overv iew be fore  we 

dea l  spec i f i ca l l y  w i th  dev ia t ions,  fo r  ins tance,  and your  
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ro le  in  tha t .  So we w i l l  ge t  there  and i f  you are  

comfor tab le ,  Cha i rman,  there  are  examples  tha t  we w i l l  

p lace  befo re  he r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no ,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine  bu t  be fore  you 

proceed can I  c la r i f y  th is  one po in t?   Ms Dh lamin i ,  Mr  

Thabethe here  says every  func t ion  he  per fo rmed as  I  

unders tand i t  and the  dec i s ion ,  he  made  in  the  

imp lementa t ion  o f  the  Vrede Da i ry  Pro jec t  he ,  among o ther  

th ings,  ob ta ined requ i red  approva ls  and the  au thor i t y  f rom 

the  MEC and o f  course ,  Exco.   Now on your  unders tand ing ,  10 

in  regard  to  a  pro jec t  l i ke  th is ,  wou ld  no t  the  approva l  tha t  

may be requ i red  f rom the  MEC and maybe the  execut ive  

counc i l  be  l im i ted  to  approv ing  tha t  the  pro jec t  –  approv ing  

the  pro jec t ,  as  such,  bu t  when i t  comes to  the  var ious  

funct ions and dec is ions to  be  made in  imp lement ing  i t ,  

wou ld  tha t  no t  be  le f t  to  the  account ing  o f f i cer  and h i s  

management  and the  po l i t i c ians wou ld  no longer  be  

invo l ved in  tha t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    You are  co r rec t ,  Cha i rperson,  tha t  i s  how 

i t  works .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    MEC,  Exco,  they  approve the  p ro jec ts  to  

say the  depar tment  can imp lement  th is  p ro jec t ,  they  no t  

the  budget  –  the  f inanc ia l  imp l ica t ion  o f  the  pro jec t  bu t  

when i t  comes to  spec i f i cs  in  te rms o f  imp lement ing ,  
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mak ing  the  p ro jec t  to  work ,  tha t  i s  the  HOD and  h is  

management .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  wou ld  i t  be  cor rec t  then to  say i f  th is  

s ta tement  by  Mr  Thabethe is  fac tua l l y  cor rec t ,  then i t  wou ld  

mean tha t  the  MEC and the  execut ive  counc i l  go t  invo l ved 

in  var ious imp lementa t ion  dec is ions in  respect  o f  wh ich 

they shou ld  no t  be  invo lved because tha t  shou ld  be  fo r  the  

management  and  the  account ing  o f f i cers  and not  fo r  the  

po l i t i c ians?  I f  th is  i s  co r rec t ,  i f  th is  i s  what  i t  means?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i rperson,  i f  th is  s ta tement  i s  10 

cor rec t ,  tha t  i s  what  i t  wou ld  mean .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Cha i rman,  and  we w i l l  

come back to  th is  i ssue o f  the  re la t ionsh ip  be tween the  

execut ive ,  as  in  the  MEC and the  admin is t ra t i ve  s ta f f ,  when  

we ta lk  about  the  f i rs t  payment  o f  30  m i l l ion  because in  

your  a f f idav i t  you  say MEC Zwane asked you to  go  and see 

the  f inance peop le  about  tha t  payment .    

So tha t  i s  exact ly  the  k ind  o f  example  tha t  the  

Cha i rman has in  m ind,  when MEC ins t ruc ts  you to  go  and 20 

ask  fo r  money,  tha t  now he is  de lv ing  in to  imp lementa t ion ,  

go  and  get  money fo r  th i s  p ro jec t .   We wi l l  come back to  i t  

because i t  i s  a  spec i f i c  se t  o f  ques t ions.    

I  jus t  want  to  fo reshadow i t  so  tha t  you know tha t  I  

w i l l  be  l ink ing  the  Cha i rman ’s  quest ion  w i th  tha t  example  
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where  the  MEC actua l l y  to ld  you to  go  to  Treasury  and get  

the  f i rs t  30  m i l l ion .   A re  you happy  w i th  tha t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Oh,  okay,  Cha i rperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  jus t  want  to  come back very  

br ie f l y  aga in  to  Mr  Thabethe ’s  re l iance on your  as  the  CFO 

and i f  you look a t  the  t ransc r ip t s  bund le ,  the  th in  l i t t le  

t ranscr ip ts  bund le  a t  page 20.   There  is  a  d i scuss ion  tha t  

he  was hav ing  w i th  the  Cha i rman and as  I  was prob ing  h im 

where  he  ac tua l l y  sa id  –  and i t  i s  page 20,  i t  on ly  one 

number  there ,  i t  is  wr i t ten  in  red ,  where  he  ac tua l l y  says a t  10 

l ine  –  f rom abou t  l ine  13 ,  he  says he  cannot  be  a  super  

human be ing ,  no t  when he has an  exper t  on  h is  team –  I  

am paraphras ing  -  ,  such as  the  CFO.   I  am s imply  showing 

you where  I  ge t  i t  f rom and he re  he  was essent ia l l y  say ing  

tha t  he  re l ies  on  you when i t  come to  tak ing  judgment  ca l l s  

tha t  re la te  to  f inance.   That  i s  the  essence o f  what  he  says  

in  th is  par t  o f  the  t ransc r ip t .   I  am s imply  conso l ida t ing  

what  he  has sa id  in  the  a f f idav i t ,  he  had a  debate  w i th  the 

Cha i rman and here  he  says tha t  you are  in  a  be t te r  

pos i t ion  to  unders tand what ,  fo r  ins tance,  Treasury  wou ld  20 

want ,  what  the  aud i to r  genera l  wou ld  want  and  th is  i s  

cor rec t ,  i t  must  be  cor rec t ,  tha t  he  wou ld  re ly  on  you fo r  

th is  f inanc ia l  adv i ce .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  i t  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i rperson,  he  cou ld  

re ly  on  me but  as  we dea l  w i th  these issues,  I  wou ld  show 
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tha t  there  is  ins tances where  he  d id  no t  re ly  on  me hence I  

w i l l  emphas ise  the  fac t  tha t  he  cou ld  bu t  no t  a lways tha t  he  

re l ied  on  me.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Okay.   Aga in ,  I  am go ing  to  come 

back to  th is  because here  we were  ta lk ing  about  the  

month l y  and quar te r ly  repor t s  tha t  were  submi t ted .   I  know 

you want  to  dea l  w i th  them,  you have dea l t  w i th  them in  

your  supp lementa ry  a f f idav i t .   P lease bear  th is  in  m ind tha t  

h is  v iew was as  he  in te r rogated  the  month-end quar te r l y  

repor ts  submi t ted  by  Est ina  you were  an  impor tan t  sou rce  10 

o f  gu idance to  h im because you a re  f inanc ia l l y  as tu te .   We 

wi l l  come to  tha t  when you dea l  w i th  your  supp lementa ry  

a f f idav i t .  

 I  then b r ie f l y  want  to  take  you to  page  23 o f  the  

same t ransc r ip t  bund le  and Dr  Mas i teng,  we a l so  asked 

h im about  the  competenc ies  tha t  a  CFO wou ld  have and 

there  you have f rom l ine  10  or  f rom l ine  6  rea l l y  where  he  

summar ises tha t :  

“An account ing  o f f i cer  shou ld  appo in t  a  CFO wi th  

re levant  exper ience…”  20 

E tce tera ,  e tce tera .    

“…to  manage,  in te rpre t ,  ana lyse  in fo rmat ion ,  

work ing  cap i ta l ,  assets . ”  

E tce tera .   I  do  no t  know i f  you want  to  read i t  bu t  i t  rea l l y  

conf i rms what  we have been dea l ing  w i th  a l l  a long,  what  
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your  competenc ies  ought  to  have been.   A re  you 

comfor tab le  tha t  he  conf i rms tha t  o r  wou ld  you l i ke  to  read  

i t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am comfor tab le ,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Then I  want  to  very  b r ie f l y  jus t  to  –  

so  I  do  no t  have  to  necessar i l y  come back to  th i s  bund le  

too  soon –  take  you to  page 72 o f  the  same bund le  and  

there  we have the  tes t imony o f  Mr  Dumisan i  Ce le ,  page 72,  

f rom about  l ine  9  to  about  14  where  he  spec i f i ca l l y  says 

tha t  you,  the  CFO,  are  the  custod ian  o f  the  SCM po l icy,  i t  10 

is  one o f  the  presc r ip ts ,  one o f  the  po l i cy  documents  tha t  

you wou ld  be  g iv ing  adv ice  on  and  aga in ,  th is  l inks  in to  the 

adv ice  you are  g iv ing  to  the  HOD and,  o f  course ,  to  o ther  

managers  as  we l l .   

 You have d i sputed th is  in  your  a f f idav i t  tha t  you  

are  the  custod ian  o f  the  SCM po l i cy,  so  maybe you want  to  

exp la in  what  you  meant  when you sa id  you are  no t  the  

custod ian  and to  ass is t  you,  you dea l  w i th  th is  in  your  f i rs t  

a f f idav i t  under  the  –  b lack  numbers ,  page 9  go ing  th rough 

to  page 11 o f  tha t  document  and because th is  i s  your  20 

exp lanat ion  I  th ink  i t  i s  cor rec t  fo r  us  to  p lace  i t  on  record  

tha t  th is  i s  how you v iewed your  ro le  now tha t  you know 

what  Dr  Mas i teng ,  what  Mr  Thabethe and Mr  Ce le  be l ieves  

your  ro le  was.  

 So i f  you  are  a t  your  paragraph 7 .1 ,  7 .2  –  a re  you  
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there ,  Ms Dh lamin i?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  yes ,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you .   I  jus t  want  to  g ive  you 

the  oppor tun i ty  to  exp la in  to  the  Cha i rman,  you do not  

have to  read i t  bu t  jus t  to  exp la in  t o  the  Cha i rman why your  

v iew was tha t  you  are  no t  a  custod ian  o f  the  SCM po l icy.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Cha i rperson,  genera l l y  

the  po l i c ies  o f  the  depar tment ,  the  custod ian  is  the  HOD 

because the  HOD is  the  one who approves the  po l i c ies .   

However,  those  po l i c ies  m igh t  impact  on  d i f fe ren t  10 

managers  or  d i f fe ren t  respons ib i l i t i es  and w i th  tha t  regard ,  

tha t  i s  where  they are  be ing  imp lemented.   

Hence is  no t  i n  the  po l i cy,  the  supp ly  cha in  

management   po l i cy  as  Advocate  Leah has i l l us t ra ted ,  I  

th ink  i t  i s  a lmost  the  las t  page o f  the  po l i cy,  i t  says  the  

imp lementa t ion  i s  the  respons ib i l i t y  o f  the  CFO and 

ass is ted  supp ly  cha in  management .    

That  i s  where  I  am coming to  in  th is  when I  say  -  I  

am not  the  custod ian  but  I  am the  imp lementer  o f  th is  

po l i cy  and fu r thermore ,  I  sa id  even o ther  managers  20 

imp lement  th is  po l i cy  because Sect ion  45  o f  the  PFMA 

g ives respons ib i l i t y  –  ass igns respons ib i l i t y  to  o ther  

o f f i c ia ls  and tha t  o ther  o f f i c ia l s  w i l l  be  inc lus i ve  o f  me a lso  

wh ich  then I  wou ld  exp la in  to  Cha i rpe rson why I  am say ing  

because in  te rms  o f  o ther  o f f i c ia ls ,  where  do  I  s i t?   I  s i t  



02 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 259 
 

Page 70 of 270 
 

whereby I  approve ro les  in  the  depar tment ,  I  run  a  un i t ,  

wh ich  is  my pr imary  respons ib i l i t y  to  ensure  tha t  the  

ac t iv i t ies  o f  tha t  un i t  a re  happen ing  wh ich  i s  f inanc ia l  

management  in  genera l ,  I  have done,  I  have my  budget .   

Sect ion  45  o f  the  PFMA app l ies  to  me in  tha t  regard .  

And then I  have these o the r  ro les  tha t  I  am –  th is  

o ther  cap tha t  I  am wear ing  wh ich  is  in  te rms o f  the 

Treasury  regu la t ions wh ich  says I  must  ass is t  the  

account ing  o f f i cer  in  te rms o f  h is  respons ib i l i t y.    

So when you read Sect ion  45  o f  the  PFMA i t  ta lks  10 

about  o ther  managers  a lso  imp lement ing  e f f i c ien t ,  e f fec t i ve  

and t ransparent  f inanc ia l  management  and tha t  i s  inc lus i ve  

o f  supp ly  cha in  when you imp lement  i t .   Hence I  am say ing ,  

yes ,  the  imp lementa t ion ,  the  mon i to r ing  o f  th is  po l i cy  

wou ld  fa l l  under  –  as  a  gu idance wou ld  be  under  t he  CFO 

but  i t  does not  necessar i l y  mean I  assume exc lus i ve  

respons ib i l i t y  because those who budgets  in  te rms o f  

Sect ion  45  o f  the  PFMA,  as  and when they imp lement  tha t ,  

they  ought  to  know th i s  po l i cy,  they ought  to  be  ab le  to  

imp lement  th is  po l i cy  and I  th ink  i t  i s  even in  the  po l i cy  20 

where  i t  says  as  a  –  I  th ink  i t  i s  par t  o f  my respons ib i l i t y,  I  

ought  to  ass is t  and t ra in  those who imp lement  th is  po l i cy  

and tha t  has happen.    

That  i s  what  I  meant ,  Cha i rperson,  when I  sa id  I  do  

no t  assume exc lus ive  respons ib i l i t y  o f  th is  po l i cy  and I  am 
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no t  the  custod ian .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  when I  say  tha t  d is t inc t ion  you 

sought  to  make,  I  was not  sure  what  the  po in t  was tha t  you 

sought  to  make because you made  the  po in t  c lear  tha t  par t  

o f  your  respons ib i l i t i es  as  CFO was to  see to  i t  tha t  the 

SCM po l icy  i s  imp lemented proper ly,  as  I  unders tood,  i s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  r igh t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  in  the  contex t  o f  what  we are  

dea l ing  w i th ,  one  o f  the  issues is  whethe r  tha t  po l i cy  was  10 

proper ly  imp lemented.   You have  to  es tab l i sh  what  the  

po l i cy  i s ,  you have to  look  a t  wha t  happened and then say 

d id  what  happen  –  d id  what  happened comply  w i th  the  

po l i cy  when i t  was imp lemented.    

So i t  seems to  me tha t  i f  you  are  respons ib le  fo r  the  

proper  imp lementa t ion  o f  the  po l i cy,  tha t  i s  the  impor tan t  

par t ,  so  I  was not  sure  what  the  po in t  i s  about  be ing  or  no t  

be ing  a  custod ian  but  f rom what  you are  say ing ,  i t  seems 

tha t  a l l  you  are  say ing  is  the  pe rson who must  approve 

po l i c ies  fo r  the  depar tment  i s  the  account ing  o f f i cer  and  20 

tha t  i s  the  person  you ca l l  the  custod ian .   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  bu t  as  fa r  as  imp lementa t ion ,  

you read i l y  accep t  tha t  i t  was your  respons ib i l i t y  to  ensure  

tha t  there  was proper  imp lementa t ion  o f  the  SCM po l icy.  
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MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes and you make the  po in t  tha t  there  

was respons ib i l i t y  on  o ther  peop le  to  ensure  tha t  there  was 

compl iance as  we l l  bu t  in  the  end I  th ink  a t  the  top  o f  – 

be low the  accoun t ing  i t  was you.  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes,  thank  you,  Cha i rman.   And in  

your  a f f idav i t  a t  parag raph 7 .6  you essent ia l l y  say  in  

d i f fe ren t  language exact ly  what  the  Cha i rman is  say ing  10 

because you say  here  tha t  any document  w i th  f inanc ia l  

imp l ica t ions,  those submiss ions have to  come to  the  CFO 

for  recommendat ion .    

 So aga in ,  when they come to  the  CFO fo r  

recommendat ion ,  your  task  is  to  make sure  tha t  the  

po l i c ies  o f  the  organ isa t ion ,  cer ta in ly  the  supp ly  cha in  

management  po l i cy  and then the  lega l  p resc r ip ts  had been  

compl ied  w i th .   That  i s  what  par t  o f  mak ing  a  

recommendat ion  wou ld  en ta i l .  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i rperson,  espec ia l l y  20 

when i t  dea ls  w i th  i ssues o f  f inanc ia l  management .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Abso lu te ly.   Cha i rperson,  I  be l ieve  

tha t  we now have  a  base f rom which  we can move on to  the  
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nex t  a rea .  

And the  next  a rea  we are  mov ing  to ,  Ms Dh lamin i ,  

rea l l y  dea ls  w i th  what  we,  the  lega l  team,  ca l l  a  top  down 

in i t ia t ion  o f  th is  Vrede Da i ry  Pro jec t .  

 We are  aware  tha t  the  pro jec t  i t se l f ,  Mohuma 

Mobung,  in i t ia t ion  s ta r ted  in  2010.   That  i s  co r rec t ,  i s  i t  

no t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I t  s ta r ted  in  2011.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    No,  no ,  Ms Dh lamin i ,  i t  s ta r ted  in  

2010 because the  idea was conce ived by  the  MEC,  MEC 10 

Zwane,  in  2010 on our  records .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Le t  me –  Cha i rperson,  le t  me exp la in  i t  

…[ in te rvenes]  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    My apo log ies ,  Ma ’am,  in  2011.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    2011.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Page 11.   I  am going to  

. . . [ intervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  i t  is page 11.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes.   No,  no,  no.   I  am with you.   20 

Because when we had Ms Rockman,  she spoke about a 

presentat ion of  September 2011 that  spoke to the Mohuma 

Mobung concept.   So I  immediately agree wi th the 2011.  

Can we t ick that  one,  2011? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chai rperson.   Let  us. . .  i t  started in  
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2011.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And the important  element to th is is,  

i t  was conceived by the MEC.  At  the t ime i t  was MEC 

Zwane.  Is th is correct? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct ,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And one of  the projects wi thin 

Mohuma Mobung was the Vrede Dai ry Project? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct ,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    A long wi th a range of  others,  

piggery,  hatcheries,  a range of  other projects? 10 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct ,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    There was no budget f rom your  

perspect ive as a f inance person,  no budget for the Vrede 

Dai ry Project  as a project  in the 2011/2012 f inancial  year?  

You probably budgeted for i t  f rom 2012 onwards and correct 

me i f  I  am wrong.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson in 2011/2012, we did not  

have any budget for Vrede Dai ry.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes.   Now,  Vrede Dai ry went al l . . .  I  

beg your pardon.   The budgetary per iod would have been 20 

f rom Apri l  2011 to March 2012? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Can you repeat that  Chai r?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The per iod,  the f inancial  year.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Apr i l  to March,  every year.   Apri l  to  
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March.    

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chai rperson our f inancial  year runs 

f rom Apri l  to March.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So come March 2012, you had no 

speci f ic budget for the dairy project? 

CHAIRPERSON:    End of  the 2011/2012 f inancial  year,  in  

other words.   By the end of  the 20911/2012 f inancial  year,  

you were using the budget that  you had prepared much 

earl ier which did not  include the Vrede Dai ry Project .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  for the year  2011/2012 that  March 10 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja.  

MS DHLAMINI :    . . .we d id not  have a budget for Vrede Dairy.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you.   That is  what I  

understand Chai r.  

MS DHLAMINI :    But  in the meant ime, in that  per iod,  MEC 

Zwane went out  to Vrede to speak to the people of  Vrede,  

Thembal ih le Township about th is  pro ject .   You know about 

that?  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    In. . .  in the year 2011/2012? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Correct ,  Ma’am.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Chai r,  I  was not  aware.   I  am not 

aware that  he was talk ing to people about i t  in that  part icu lar 

year.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  say this  because Mr Thabethe’s 

evidence was that  certainly by June 2012 when the f i rst  

agreement was s igned,  he had a l ready accompanied MEC 

Zwane to Vrede to speak to benef ic iar ies,  to  invi te  

benef ic iar ies to the project .    

 So I  know that  def in i te ly by June,  on Mr Thabethe’s 

evidence,  some work had been done in just  at  least  ta lk ing 

to people about  th is project .   You were not  part  of  any of  

those discussions? 10 

MS DHLAMINI :    Chairperson,  I  was not  part  o f  those 

discussions.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    What we a lso know and disputed,  i f  

you have facts on which you can dispute this,  is that  when 

Mr Thabethe arr ived in August  of  2011,  he is  the one who did 

the desktop study on an integrated dairy pro ject .   Would you 

know about th is? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  would not  have known Chai rperson for the 

simple reason that  he would not  report  to me on the work the 

does.   He rather report  to the MEC on the work that  he does.   20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    No problem.  Do not  forget ,  the 

context  here is,  th is was a top-down ini t iat ion of  project ,  not  

a bot tom-up in i t ia t ion of  a project .   This is why I  am giving 

you a perspect ive and these are facts that  are on record.  

 Mr Thabethe also gave evidence that  in March he went 
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to Indian to go and speak wi th Paras because he thought 

they would make a good strategic partner.  

 So al ready in February/March,  he was t ravel l ing to India 

to go and speak to Paras.   Did you know about that  t r ip? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  was aware of  that  t r ip of  the HOD to India.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Are you also aware that  he did not  

take a single off ic ia l  f rom the dist r ict  services wi th  him on 

that  t r ip? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am aware Chai rperson that  he went alone.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    You did not  go alone.   He went wi th  10 

Mr Narayana.   

MS DHLAMINI :    Okay Chai rperson,  I  wanted to say f rom the 

department.   When I  say alone,  I  meant to say f rom the 

department . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Ja,  he was the only one f rom the 

department.  

MS DHLAMINI :    He was the only one f rom the department.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And the mot ivat ion you gave to the 

premier  in  a submission/memorandum that  was given to  the 20 

Premier,  I  th ink i t  is dated the 28t h of  February 2012, was 

that  there were three dai ry projects that  he was looking into, 

Qwaqwa, Lesotho and Vrede.  

 And there was R 17 mi l l ion budget that  was avai lable to 

deal  wi th feasibi l i ty studies,  et  cetera to kick-star t  these 
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dairy projects.    

 I  am simple summarising what he said to the premier  

which enabled the premier to sign off  on h im going to  Indian 

to go and explore the dai ry farm opt ion wi th Paras.    

 I  do not  know i f  you are aware of  that  part icular 

memorandum and the quantum or the amount of  R 17 mi l l ion 

that  he ment ioned or  that  the MEC ment ioned in that  

part icular memorandum? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Chairperson,  I  was not . . .  I  am not  aware of  

the memorandum that  went to the premier.   And also,  as the 10 

CFO, I  was not  aware of  the R 17 mi l l ion.    

 Maybe i t  would help me i f  I  can be given the detai ls to 

say,  was he saying the R 17 mi l l ion was in the 2011/2012 

f inancial  year or  the R 17 mi l l ion was in the 2012/2013 

f inancial  year?   

 That  would help me i f . . .  then I  would know i f  we had that 

budget or not  i f  I  had the speci f ic o f  which f inancial  year is,  

he referr ing to.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    We wi l l  come back to that  because 

you are going to take us through the var ious al locat ions f rom 20 

your supplementary aff idavi t .   You have annexed var ious 

f inancial  documents.    

 For current  purposes,  the proposi t ion is s imple this that  

what was told the premier was there is money that  we want  

to spend on dai ry farming,  dai ry projects.    
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 At  that  t ime,  they had f ree mind and this was part  of  the 

mot ivat ion for  h im to go to India to go and explore the 

possibi l i ty of  th is dairy project .    

 That  is real ly the essence of  what  I  am put t ing to you.   

Are you happy wi th that? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  hear you Chai rperson.   I  am not  aware of  

the R 17 mi l l ion.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  is f ine.   The other important  

element is that  in his aff idavi t  to th is Commission,  Mr Zwane 

conf i rmed that  he suggested that  Mr Narayana accompany 10 

Mr Thabethe because of  the local  cul tural  issues that  might  

ar ise in India.    

 Again,  the only issue I  br ing to your at tent ion is,  nobody 

f rom Distr ict  Services was involved in going to look for a  

st rategic partner for the Vrede Dai ry Project .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chair  I  am aware of  that .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Would you have expected that  Mr 

Thabethe would have taken wi th him some or other off ic ia l  or 

off ic ia ls f rom the department when he went on such a t r ip?  

Would that  be in your expectat ion that  he would br ing one or  20 

more off ic ia l  s wi th him? 

MS DHLAMINI :    To be honest  Chai rperson I  would not . . .  I  

d id not  know at  what point  do they this. . .  a  decision is taken 

to say,  there is a  t r ip that  goes overseas and these are the 

off ic ia ls that  have been.. .  that  are being taken.    
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 I  was not  aware of  the cr i ter ia because somet imes the 

l imi t  of  the number of  people who undertook outs ide of  the. . .  

we cal l  i t  outside of  the count ry t r ip,  wi l l  a lso be. . .  i f . . .  wi l l  

a lso be determined i f  we have the budget we can carry. . .  we 

can carry al l  those people.   So I  would not  have known the 

cr i ter ia that  is used.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m.  Okay al r ight .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you.   Then my quest ion I  

suppose is,  seeing the MEC, MEC Zwane was so involved in  

in i t iat ing and promot ing this pro ject ,  my quest ion to you is,  is  10 

i t  usual  for a MEC to get  th is engaged in promot ing a 

part icular project?  Because i t  is associated wi th h im.  His 

home was Vrede.   He went to look for benef ic iar ies,  et  

cetera,  et  cetera.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Chairperson,  the MEC would promote al l  

the projects that  they approved,  that  are part  of  our budget.   

As to th is change at  which you would to do that ,  I  guess i t  is 

up to him but  al l  the pro jects he would own them up,  al l  of  

them.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Maybe I  should pose the quest ion 20 

di fferent ly.   I t  is in the in i t iat ion.   Is i t  usual  for an MEC to 

in i t iate and then champion a project  in the same manner in  

which the Vrede Dai ry Project  was in i t iated by MEC Zwane 

and championed by him? 

MS DHLAMINI :    No,  not  as far as I  know.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    And maybe a fo l low-up quest ion would be.   

During the t ime that  Mr Zwane was MEC of  Agricu l ture and 

you were the CFO of  that  department,  is there any other  

project  that  was. . .  that  he in i t iated in  the same way as he 

in i t iated this one?   

 In other words,  as Ms Gcabashe says,  a top-down 

approach where the in i t iat ion comes f rom the MEC and he 

then appears,  as opposed to a project  that  comes f rom the 

off ic ia ls,  management and his approval  is sought  i f  that  is 

necessary.  10 

MS DHLAMINI :    Maybe Chai rperson,  to give context  to th is  

f rom where I  am si t t ing,  I  would say in i t iat ing dai ry as a 

project ,  I  cannot  conf i rm to say i t  was in i t iated by MEC 

Zwane, the project  Vrede Dai ry under Mohuma-Mobung.  

 But  Mohuma-Mobung as a st rategy and wi th in  the 

f ramework wi thin  the department  was in i t iated by MEC 

Zwane.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Exco,  the speci f ics of  the project ,  that 

fo l lowed within that  Mohuma-Mobung Concept.   Who ini t iated 20 

i t ,  I  cannot real ly say.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    But  when Advocate Leah was talk ing about 

top-down and to an extent  and then I  agree.   I t  is when he 

was saying Mr Thabethe is the one who started to do a 
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desktop.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja.  

MS DHLAMINI :    And advocate saying,  i f  I  heard him,  I  heard 

her correct ly,  is  saying,  Mr Thabethe sa id that  in his  

aff idavi t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Then I  would take i t  that ,  yes he started 

that  project .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay maybe . . . [ in tervenes]  

MS DHLAMINI :    The Vrede Dairy pro ject .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Okay maybe I  misunderstood Ms 

Gcabashe.  I  thought she was talk ing about what was 

in i t iated by the MEC Zwane but  maybe accept  Vrede Dairy 

Project  whether  she may have been talk ing about the 

st rategy.   Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    No,  Chai rman you did not  understand 

me.  The Mohuma-Mobung Concept was indeed conceived by 

MEC Zwane.  I  th ink we have made common cause on that .  

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m.  H’m.  Ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And then we moved on f rom that  to 20 

say the Vrede Dairy Project ,  judging by the conduct  – I  am 

now explaining my quest ion – judging by the conduct  of  the 

MEC, i t  was championed,  th is speci f ic  project  was 

championed by him.   

 He went out  to Vrede.   We have that  test imony on 
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record.   To go and look for benef ic iar ies,  to  ta lk to 

benef ic iar ies,  et  cetera,  et  cetera.    

 I f  we even take the inst ruct ion,  he gave you,  he involved 

himsel f  personal ly in making sure that  th is project  moved 

forward i f  I  can use that  word very broad Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m.  

MS DHLAMINI :    In that  context ,  I  understand.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You. . .  and you accept? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  accept .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay al r ight .  10 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    In fact . . .  because this is  such a 

central  issue.   I  th ink we can agree that  would normal ly 

happen and I  am not  saying always happen but  normal ly 

happen.  

 Is i f  Dist r ict  Services,  which is in charge of  farmer 

support ,  would br ing a project  and i t  would be cascaded up 

unt i l  i t  eventual ly  gets to the HOD.  That  is what normal ly  

happens.   Is that  not  correct? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct ,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes.   In  th is instance,  Dr Takisi  20 

Masi teng who was the Chief  Di rector at  the t ime at  Distr ict  

Services,  says in  his t ranscr ipt .   I  wi l l  not  go to i t .   We do 

not  need to go the t ranscr ipt  each t ime, Chai rman but  the 

reference is there i f  we need to check on the val id i ty of  the 

proposi t ion.  
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 He says that  he did not  know about Mr Thabethe going 

to India.   He had nothing to do wi th the appointment of  

Est ina as an implement ing agent for the Vrede Dairy Project .  

 And the f i rst  t ime he real ly got  involved wi th th is project  

was when he had returned f rom China and was asked to 

prepare,  what we have come to cal l  the second deviat ion 

submission.   Would you agree wi th that? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Chairperson,  number one,  I  would not  know 

why Dr Masi teng would say he did not  know that  HOD went 

to Ind ian but  what I  expect  h im to know is HOD was not  10 

around in the department because. . .   

 I  just  cannot remember when he came because once he 

is not  there,  somebody is appointed to act  as an HOD.   

 So.   And I  cannot remember who was appointed to act  as 

an HOD at  that  part icular point  in t ime, so we would know 

that  HOD is not  there.   Maybe yes,  he is r ight ,  he did not  

know the speci f ics of  the t r ip that  HOD undertook.    

 Secondly,  on the issue of  whether Dr  Masi teng knew 

about th is project  or not .   I  a lso do not  understand why he 

said so because the record wi l l  show as at  the t ime when we 20 

conclude the budget for 2012/2013 f inancial-year,  Vrede 

Dai ry was there in  the l ist  of  projects.    

 And our pol icy would show that  i t  says the Distr ict  

Services dur ing the plan when the budget is planned, Dist r ict  

Services wi l l  provide the CFO with the l ist  of  pro jects.    
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 So part  of  that  l ist  that  was provided and ul t imately  

approved and became part  of  our budget for 2012/2013.  

Vrede Dairy was there wi th only a budget of  R 9 mi l l ion.    

 So I  would not  know from which angle did Dr Masi teng 

said he was not  aware of  the project .   What I  am aware is 

that  he was no there when Est ina /  Paras came to make a 

presentat ion which changed the whole shape of  the pro ject .    

 When you have only R 9 mi l l ion budget,  then i t  grew up 

to 570 budget of  which 342 was required f rom the 

department.    10 

 In that  presentat ion,  yes he is r ight ,  he was not  there but  

honest ly to say he did not  know about Vrede Dai ry Pro ject  at  

a l l ,  I  do not  know why he said so.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So clear ly your expectat ion is that  he 

would have known? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Because the l ist  that  comes into the budget 

is provided to the CFO when the CFO prepares the budget  

by Distr ict  Services.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    And besides that .   Those projects – 20 

because they were funded by the condi t ional  funds which is 

. . . [ indist inct ]  and grant .  [00:19:24]  and Dr Masi teng was the 

account manager.    

 He is the one who would go to the nat ional  and present  

that .   He is the one who would go to what we cal l  Nat ional  
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Assessment of  Panel ,  who would look at  those projects that  

we want to fund wi th the grant  and approved them.   

 So I  would have expected him to have said:   I  used 

Vrede Dairy at  the t ime when i t  had only R 9 mi l l ion because 

i t  was part  of  our projects.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m.  Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Can I  make sure that  the Chairman 

understands this fact ,  Ma’am?  And this is what Dr Masi teng 

says.   Just  to go to the CASP example.   He went to  ask for 

money for the Vrede Dairy Project  in January of  2013.    10 

 So he does not  deny his involvement as of  the t ime of  

the deviat ion memo going forward because the deviat ion 

memo is a 2012 document.    

 What he says he was not  part  of  was the development,  

anything to do wi th the development of  th is project  up to the 

t ime that  he signed that  memo on the 26t h,  I  th ink,  of  May 

2012.   

 So I  just  do not  want us to confuse issues.   He did go to 

CASP to ask for money for the Vrede Dai ry Project  in 

January 2013.  That  is c lear evidence that  is on record.   20 

Both f rom him and f rom Ms Mayisa.   We are talk ing about 

these ear ly stages where this project  was being developed.  

 And with Dist r ict  Services was not  involved in t ry ing to  

deal  wi th how th is pro ject  should develop,  should evolve,  

who should be involved,  which implement ing agent should be 
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appointed,  et  cetera,  et  cetera.    

 That  is what we are deal ing wi th.   Those where the 

decisions that  were taken is a di fferent  level .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Okay,  Chai rperson.   What I  was saying 

Chairperson.   Advocate Leah is  ta lk ing about Dr Masi teng 

went Nat ional  in January 2013.   That  is when we are deal ing 

wi th the planning and the preparat ion of  the budget for the 

2013/2014 f inancial -year which wi l l  start  the 1s t  of  Apri l .   But  

what I  explained is,  in that  year of  ‘12/ ’13 which is the year 

. . . [ intervenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Of  2012/2013 f inancial-year? 

MS DHLAMINI :    2012/2013, Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Which is the year,  the f inancial  year  that  in 

January of  that  f inancial  year,  he went and present  th is.   But ,  

however,  I  am saying,  a l ready at  the beginning of  2012/2013 

f inancial  year Vrede Dairy was part  of  the project .    

 Maybe he did not  know but  I  am saying the l ist  that  is to 

be provided to the CFO.  When the CFO implement  and 

prepare the budget,  i t  comes f rom Nat ional .    20 

 Maybe he could explain how the Vrede Dai ry Project  for 

that  part icu lar year wi th a budget of  R 9 mi l l ion found i tsel f  

in the budget,  in the l ist  of  the projects.  

 Because the 2013 presentat ion that  he went and asked 

for is af ter Vrede Dairy has al ready been up scaled to be 
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another project .   That  is when he presented the pro ject  and 

he got  R 53 mi l l ion.    

CHAIRPERSON:    So . . . [ intervenes]   

MS DHLAMINI :    And that  R 53 mi l l ion would be implemented 

or take and used in the f inancial  year 2013/2014.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So are you saying f rom early in 2012 or 

rather for  the best  part  of  2012 calendar year  which fal ls  

wi thin the 2012/2013 f inancial-year  for that  per iod there is a 

lot  of  act iv i ty that  happened with regard to the Vrede Dai ry 

Project .  10 

 And you are saying that  part  of  what happened were 

preparat ions that  would inform the budget ing for the 

2013/2014 f inancial -year.  

 And you are saying that  some of  the informat ion that  

would come to you ul t imately  as the CFO for  budget ing 

purposes would have been prepared by his uni t  or his  

sect ion and that  would have inc luded references to th is  

project .  

 And you are surpr ised how that  informat ion i t  could have 

found i ts way to you wi thout  him knowing about th is project .   20 

Is that  what you are saying? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is exact ly what I  am saying,  

Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Hence I  was t ry ing to explain Chai rperson 
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to say,  probably what Dr Masi teng did not . . .  was not  part  of ,  

which I  agree he was not  there . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    At  the presentat ion.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Is when the presentat ion was done.  And 

that  presentat ion is the one that  necessi tated this project  to  

ul t imately to be up scaled as another project  but  as a smal l  

project .    

 Maybe let  me use that  word even i f  i t  is not  the correct  

word.   As a smal l  project  wi th only R 9 mi l l ion budget .   I t  was 

in the budget.   I t  was appropriated.    10 

 And i t  went  through Dist r ict  Services.   I t  was under the 

budget of  Dist r ict  Serv ices.   So hence I  am saying,  I  do not  

know why he would say he was not  aware of  

the. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Of  the project .  

MS DHLAMINI :    . . .of  i t .   But  I  would accept  i f  he said. . .  I  am 

not  saying I  am not  accept ing what he said but  I  would rather  

say I  can say yes i f  you are saying when i t  became a mega 

project ,  I  was not  there.   There I  am saying he was not  there.    

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m.  H’m.  Okay.   Ms Gcabashe.  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  w i l l  s imply give you a quick 

example of  the f i rst  deviat ion you know that  somebody else 

f ind because he was act ing.   Masi teng was not  part  of  that .   

He did not  know about that .    

 So that  is a quick example of  an instance where a 
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document came from his uni t  that  he knew noth ing about.   I  

real ly just  to give you that  context .   That  is the f i rst  example.    

 The second being.   This is why I  wanted us to be clear.   

Your  f inancial  year start  in Apr i l .   We wi l l  be deal ing in a few 

minutes wi th that  f i rst  document that  came f rom Est ina which 

was an Apri l  2012 document.    

 So the documentat ion that  was being prepared around 

the Vrede Dai ry Project  was documentat ion that  was si t t ing 

at  a high level .   I t  was not  s i t t ing at  the Dist r ict  Serv ices 

level .    10 

MS DHLAMINI :    Chai rperson,  yes I . . .  in that  regard,  yes I  

agree because even the presentat ion was started f rom the 

HOD.  So the not ion that  says i t  was dr iven f rom the top,  I  

th ink i t  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Last  issue on this aspect .   Dist r ict  

Services is essent ia l  to the regist rat ion of  benef ic iar ies.   Is 

that  not  correct? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  just  wanted us to t ick that  box that  20 

Dist r ict  Services would be essent ia l  to the regist rat ion of  

benef ic iar ies.   Let  us talk about  implement ing agents 

because that  is a very important  top ic.    

 So I  am moving away f rom the top-down bot tom-up issue 

to a di fferent  issue.   This Commission has heard var ious,  so 
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to speak,  to implement ing agents.    

 I  real ly want to be br ief  because we have qui te a bi t  of  

evidence on this but  I  th ink i t  is  fa i r  for  you to give us your  

understanding of  two things.    

 One, when d id you start  using implement ing agents?  

First  quest ion.   I  wi l l  break on my quest ion.   So when did you 

start  using implement ing agents? 

MS DHLAMINI :    We started using implement ing agents in  

20. . .  in the f inancial  year 2011/2012.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Right .  10 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is when we started implement ing 

agents.   Because in 2011/2012 f inancial-year,  I  said I  was 

t ransferred to Agr icul ture in 2010 which is the f inancial -year 

2010/2011 and then we got  audi ted.    

 And one of  the issues which was a burn ing issue was 

issues of  asset  management  especial ly those assets that  wi l l  

be si t t ing in the farmers.   So the problem here Chai rperson 

was before then the grant  were classi f ied as goods and 

serv ices or capi tal  expendi ture.    

 The grant  were classi f ied as such and you procure. . .  say 20 

you procure a t ractor for a farmer.   Because you procure i t  

under capi tal  expendi ture of  the department that  t ractor must 

get  into the asset  register of  the department.    

 Now you come the t ime of  the audi t .   Th is t ractor is  

s i t t ing in the asset  register of  the department but  th is  t ractor 
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is not  in  the department.   This t ractor is  somewhere in  

QwaQwa and i t  has a bar code and i t  has been working for  

years or for  months when as you want to  ver i fy the 

completeness of  your  assets register  completeness is  you 

can f ind al l  the assets that  you have l isted.   You want to  

check that .   A l l  the assets you have l isted in  your asset  

register they are al l  there.   Now you must check that .   Then 

he said oh there is th is t ractor;  I  want  to see i t ;  I  want  to  

ver i fy  i t  and then you take the Audi tor  General  to QwaQwa 

and see here is the farm.   10 

Somet imes you get  to that  farm they say no i t  has 

been leased to another farm.  You go to that  farm.   

Ul t imately you f ind i t .   The problem now is af ter you have 

found i t  now that  bar  code is no longer there because i t  is a 

smal l  th ing.   Now you cannot see i t  anymore.    

Now as you saying but  you cannot convince that  th is 

is the t ractor.   Yes I  can see the t ractor.   The only th ing that  

wi l l  convince him is when he sees the bar code.   That  the 

bar  code in  the asset  register correlates wi th the bar  code on 

the t ractor.   But  that  bar code is no longer there.   So that  is  20 

where the problems started.    

Then in – in that  part icular year then the Account ing 

Off icer then was Dr Mohae took a decision to say we would 

rather use implement ing agent and that  in  the f inancial  year  

also where we went to Treasury and explained this that  I  am 



02 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 259 
 

Page 93 of 270 
 

explain ing to the Chai rperson around the complexi t ies in 

managing the assets that  would be in the asset  register of  

the Department that  does i t  somewhere in the farmers.   And 

that  is where we started to change the classi f icat ion of  – the 

classi f icat ion of  goods and service of  the grant  f rom being 

goods and serv ices to being t ransfer payments which is 

t ransfer payments to farmers.   Because i f  you – the 

condi t ions of  the – the grant  are saying they are for the 

farmers i t  is for summer support  so they are not  intended for 

the use of  the Department.    10 

They are not  intended – even those assets are not  

intended to be the assets of  the Department.   They are 

intended r ight ly so to go to the farmers because the money 

used is supposed to support  the farmer to buy cat t le ,  to buy 

fodder,  to buy feed,  to buy al l  those things.   So that  in 2011 

Chair  2011/2012 f inancia l  year where we started to use the 

implement ing agents.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Is i t  correct  however that  an 

implement ing agent has no ro le  in the absence of  the 

benef ic iary?  Mr Thabethe l iked to cal l  them the farmers.   So 20 

i t  is the same term – farmer/benef ic iary is that  correct? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Ja no the implement ing agent has no role in 

– in the benef ic iar ies.   Thei r  goal  is only to assist  us 

implement those projects l ike let  us say we want to – we 

want to put  up a chicken house he wi l l  help us to  bui ld that .   
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So basical ly,  they do not  real ly have a role in.   Unless I  do 

not  understand whether i t  is in ident i fy ing or – or  what – 

what does that  mean Chai rperson? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   No what I  wanted to understand f rom 

you is the only reason you br ing in an implement ing agent is 

so that  they can do something that  is going to benef i t  the 

farmer.   Is that  c learer? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Can you repeat that  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   The reason you br ing an 

implement ing agent to do work that  the department should 10 

be doing is so that  the benef ic iary;  the farmer can benef i t  

f rom whatever th is implement ing agent is doing.   Am I  r ight? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Whether we use the implant ing agent  – 

maybe let  me ask – answer i t  that  way.  Whether we use the 

implement ing agent or not  implement ing agent Chairperson 

the farmer would st i l l  benef i t  because whatever product  that  

you come up wi th whether  you buying cat t le wi th that  part  

and i t  is for a part icu lar farm they wi l l  u l t imately go to that  

part icular farm. 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  th ink – I  th ink maybe Ms Gcabashe is  20 

looking for what I  am looking for too and maybe you have 

explained i t  but  maybe I  just  did not  hear i t  or understand i t  

properly.   What was the just i f icat ion or  the department to say 

let  us br ing in implement – an implementat ion or 

implement ing agent?  What was the just i f icat ion?  What was 
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the mot ivat ion?  I  know you told me about the issue of  the 

code and the t ractor in QwaQwa or  whatever but  i f  that  is – 

was the just i f icat ion please repeat i t?  I f  that  was just  one 

example but  the just i f icat ion was broader just  te l l  me? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Oh I  – thank you Chairperson I  th ink now I  

understand that .   What is needed here is the just i f icat ion.   

The just i f icat ion – one of  the just  – or one of  the reasons 

was the other problem that  we are faced with is the issue 

around – was the issue around f rui t less and wasteful  

expendi ture.   Was the issue about i r regular – i r regular  10 

expendi ture?  Because I  remember def in i te ly at  that  

part icular year when I  arr ived Distr ict  [00:06:05]  would be 

the one who source your – your – who source the quotat ions 

when they buy those things.   Somet imes you – wi l l  come that  

t ime that  the AG is going to audi t  some of  th is – some of  th is 

ei ther – some of  th is goods and serv ices would have not  

been del ivered would say there is  – I  remember there was 

one part icular project  where i t  was said they bought some 

machines for those benef ic iar ies to  do some sal t  – i t  was a 

sal t  project .  They were going to manufacture a sal t .   But  at  20 

the end of  the day they did not  receive those.   So those are 

some of  the reasons why a decision was taken to say we 

going to – going forward use the implement ing agents and 

they would then be held accountable wi th al l  the 

expendi ture.   But  the farmers st i l l  benef i t .  



02 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 259 
 

Page 96 of 270 
 

CHAIRPERSON:   So – so what gave r ise to the idea of  using 

an implementat ion agent was that  there were chal lenges wi th 

regard to managing f rui t less and wasteful  expendi ture.   Is 

that  r ight  on the part  of  the department when before they 

came up wi th th is idea of  implementat ion agents? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I  am sorry Chai r  to explain Chai r  that  is 

correct  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  was correct? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Now precisely what was the problem?  Why 10 

was i t  d i ff icul t  to  manage and control  and prevent  f ru i t less 

and wasteful  expendi ture before you had implementat ion 

agents?  Why was i t  a problem – a d i ff icul ty? 

MS DHLAMINI:   The problem Chairperson was these projects 

are implemented at  di fferent  – we are f ive dist r icts  in the 

province.   They were implemented al l  over  in a l l  those 

dist r icts and you f ind that  one dist r ict  have a lot  of  projects 

and the – the off ic ia ls si t t ing in those dist r icts would be the 

ones who would implement – would be the one who would 

source – would be the one who sourced quotat ions as and 20 

when they procure.    

So i t  was real ly a very cumbersome process.   

Because now you start  to lose t rack of  th is  – th is 

expendi tures of  the processes i f  the processes was real ly 

properly fo l lowed.   And at  that  t ime when AG comes then he 
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p icks up al l  these things to say but  in th is case these people 

have received – they did not  receive three quotat ions or – 

there might  be – there was a whole lot  of  issues 

Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is  the posi t ion that  off ic ia ls  of  the 

department in di fferent  parts of  the province were not  able to  

ensure that  ei ther  there was no f ru i t less and wasteful  

expendi ture or that  i f  there was f rui t less and wasteful  

expendi ture i t  remained within acceptable levels?  Is that  

what the problem was? 10 

MS DHLAMINI:   That  is correct  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI:   And the other problem was in th is  instances 

the very same off ic ia ls they procure they even receive the 

goods and services before they go to the farmer.   I t  is them 

who signs the receipts to say these goods and services 

being cat t le or whatever have been del ivered.  So basical ly,  

what happens is they start  a process and f in ish the process.   

So there was an issue around what  we cal l  segregat ion of  –  

segregat ion of  dut ies.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  But  would those off ic ia ls have 

received proper t raining for managing f rui t less and wasteful  

expendi ture?  Or was the problem that  they were not 

properly t rained to deal  wi th – or  to manage f rui t less and 

wasteful  expendi ture? 
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MS DHLAMINI:   Chairperson I  cannot say why i t  cannot – i t  

was not  properly managed.  And I  a lso cannot say they were 

not  properly t rained because let  us take for instance the 

issue of  f ru i t less and wasteful  expendi ture.   I t  is  a simple 

thing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS DHLAMINI:   When they – when I  buy ten pants and the 

serv ice provider br ings ten pants.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS DHLAMINI:   And I  s igned off  to say – or br ings an 10 

invoice.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS DHLAMINI:   That  says I  have del ivered ten pants I  

should have ensured that  ten pants were del ivered.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Not  that  at  the t ime when AG comes AG 

says ja but  you – you paid for ten pants,  you signed for the 

invoice but  your ten pants are not  there.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS DHLAMINI:   I t  is a simple thing.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Or  you would expect  anybody to  know about 

i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS DHLAMINI:   And to be able to manage i t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  You see I  am concerned about the 

just i f icat ion or  mot ivat ion for  using implement ing – 

implement ing or implementat ion agents simply because as I  

understand i t  the implementat ion agents would charge for  

their  – for their  services,  would they not? 

MS DHLAMINI:   That  is correct  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And therefore,  i f  you use your own off ic ia ls 

then you do not  pay for extra services.   You use the money 

that  otherwise you are now going to use to pay 

implementat ion agents you use i t  for other projects.   So – 10 

but  – but  you accept  what do you say you do not  know why 

the off ic ia ls were not  – were fai l ing to manage f rui t less and 

wasteful  expendi ture properly  and you cannot  say they were 

not  t rained to deal  wi th that .   And you say actual ly i t  is a 

simple thing i t  is  just  making sure that  i f  you buy X number 

of  i tems make sure that  you receive X number and you keep 

proper records of  that  and you make sure the i tems are 

there.   Is that  r ight? 

MS DHLAMINI:   That  is correct  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   So – but  the – the benef i t  that  the 20 

department saw in using implementat ion agents to  overcome 

frui t less and wasteful  expendi ture that  the off ic ia ls could not  

manage.  What was the benef i t?  How – how was that  going 

to be control led bet ter i f  you do i t  th is way? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I  th ink the benef i t  Chairperson yes we then 
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d id not  have f rui t less expendi ture,  we did not  have i rregular 

expendi ture.   We also have the qual i ty also of  –  of  the 

products that  we get t ing especial ly wi th regard to the 

inf rast ructure was bet ter than what we were get t ing when we 

were using our own – our own off ic ia ls.   Because even i f  our 

own off ic ia ls the issue was probably – because you st i l l  use 

– you st i l l  use contractors.   You st i l l  appoint  somebody to 

come and do – and do the work.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The [00:13:45]  gets them moved.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes I  th ink the issue also goes to monitor ing 10 

that  wi th our own off ic ia ls also monitor ing was not  real ly –  

was not  real ly good.   But  wi th  the comings in  of  the 

implement ing agent moni tor ing became bet ter.   They would 

st i l l  have – i t  d id not  do away hundred percent  wi th the 

chal lenges.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS DHLAMINI:   But  we could get  a bet ter – bet ter products.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So what do you say to somebody who says 

therefore this idea of  implementat ion agents was brought up 

because management – the management of  the department 20 

fai led to do their  job namely ensure that  the off ic ia ls in the 

var ious parts of  the province did thei r  job themselves in 

terms of  making sure that  f ru i t less and wasteful  expendi ture 

was managed properly.   What do you say to that  cr i t ic ism? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I  would agree wi th that  cr i t ic ism 
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Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Because that  is  the cr i t ic ism you wi l l  a lso 

f ind in the – in the audi t ing – in our audi t  reports.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Thank you – thank you Chai rman.  A 

couple of  issues ar is ing f rom the quest ions the Chai rman has 

asked you and the one is the conclusion that  one easi ly  

comes to on the explanat ion that  you have given is that  

using implement ing agents al lowed the department to  10 

abdicate i ts responsibi l i ty to keep an eye on the  

1.  How government monies were being spent .  

2.  What assets government actual ly had at  the end of  the 

day? 

3.  Whether i t  was get t ing va lue for money f rom the 

projects that  the implement ing agents were taking care 

of .  

What is your comment? 

MS DHLAMINI:   My comment Chair  would say no the 

department did not  adjudicate i ts – i ts responsibi l i ty.   Hence 20 

I  said chal lenges were – chal lenges are there and they are 

st i l l  there.   But  moni tor ing was happening though not  at  the 

speed at  which i t  was supposed to.   So to  say the 

department we are abdicate i f  the correct  wording wi th i ts 

responsibi l i ty I  would say – I  would say not  real ly.   Not  
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real ly.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Okay we move on to one or two 

issues.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh before – before you do that  Ms 

Gcabashe I  want to fo l low up on your quest ion.   But  once 

there was an implementat ion agent  or implement ing agent I  

keep on forget t ing what you cal l  them.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   They cal l  them implement ing agents.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Implement ing agents.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Yes Chairman.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Once you had an implement ing agent you 

as the off ic ia ls;  the management of  the department you were 

monitor ing the implement ing agent  and not  the off ic ia ls of  

the department in  the var ious parts  of  the count ry you were 

expect ing the implement ing agent to be the one that  would 

do your job as management of  – of  moni tor ing those 

off ic ia ls,  is that  not  so? 

MS DHLAMINI:   No the implement ing agents Chai r  would 

implement the projects and off ic ia ls in the department wi l l  

moni tor the work of  the implement ing agent.   They wi l l  get  20 

reports.  They would go and check the projects.   That  the 

projects are in accordance with the speci f icat ions that  were 

given to the implement ing agent.   So monitor ing as I  said 

monitor ing was st i l l  there.    

Probably what  might  have improved i t  is the service 
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providers that  the implement ing agent would then use in  

implement ing those projects.  They would have del ivered the 

tar product .   Because now – okay let  me explain i t  th is way.   

When you use an implement ing agent say you want to put  up 

a boi ler  house the implement ing agent  wi l l  appoint  a – the 

contractor who wi l l  bui ld the – and i f  – the responsibi l i ty of  

that  implement ing agent to make sure that  the boi ler house 

is bui l t  in terms of  the speci f icat ions,  your qual i ty and 

everything and the work of  the department is to  get  the 

reports,  moni tor the implement ing agent,  get  the reports f rom 10 

the implement ing agents and i f  they are not  happy interact  

wi th the implement ing agents wi th those reports.  

CHAIRPERSON:   No that  is part  of  what I  do not  understand.  

You see where is my legal  background?  I f  you put  me in an 

IT sector where I  have no knowledge of  anything but  maybe I  

am the Chai rperson of  the Board or whatever I  might  say we 

need or I  need somebody wi th  the IT expert ise and 

experience who wi l l  moni tor these people who are – or th is 

company that  is  providing IT serv ices to my company 

because without  the expert ise I  would not  know when they 20 

do something wrong.  I  would not  know when they – their  

work is below the acceptable standard so I  need somebody 

who knows what is to be expected f rom an IT company that  

is do ing A,  B,  C,  D.   Okay.  And they must  advise me.  Now 

with you you are the Department of  Agricul ture.   The person 
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– the people who are in  the management of  the department a 

lot  of  them are supposed to be people who are 

knowledgeable on agr icul ture.   Okay.   Now you are supposed 

to implement and monitor the projects that  you do.   They fa l l  

wi th in your sector.   Okay.   Now I  am talk ing about 

management not  about  you in part icular.   Okay.   Because 

you might  not  have the agr icul tural  expert ise.   You have the 

f inancial  expert ise but  the HOD has got  the agr icul tural  

expert ise and so on.   Now this is a job that  you can do as 

management or th is is the job you are supposed to be able 10 

to do and to moni tor  and implement  but  you go and look for  

somebody else to come and do essent ia l ly your  job as 

management of  the department.  Why?  And you are going to 

pay more money but  you are being paid to  do exact ly that  job 

as management;  why are you doing that? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Chair  I  hear what you are saying and I  

accept  what you are saying.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Thank you Chair  i f  we might  just  go 

on just  a l i t t le longer i f  you do not  mind;  just  into a l i t t le bi t  20 

of  the lunch hour?  I f  that  is in order? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay what is your  suggest ion? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Can I  have another ten minutes? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Thank you.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Because I  just  want to f in ish this  

implement ing agents sect ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   I f  you do not  mind? 

CHAIRPERSON:   A lr ight  okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Thank you.   Ma’am you see the 

di ff icul ty as the Chairman points out  but  just  in terms of  what 

I  have heard of  the other test imonies of  wi tnesses is th is.   

You – you abdicate your author i ty because what the 10 

implement ing agent then does is appoint  the sub-contractors 

that  they prefer to  appoint .   I t  does not  mean that  those sub-

contractors are going to be compl iant  wi th our BEE 

legislat ion our preferent ia l  pol icy f ramework,  documentat ion 

etcetera.   You as the Department say we are not  the 

implement ing agent i t  is the implement ing agent who has 

sub-contracted.   And that  is why I  say you abdicate the 

responsibi l i ty conferred on you in legislat ion to make sure 

that  certa in t ransformat ive steps take p lace even within the 

agr icul tura l  indust ry.  20 

MS DHLAMINI:   Chairperson I  hear that  and I  accept  that .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   I  wi l l  g ive you a very quick example 

on the Est ina Pro ject  because we wi l l  not  go into too much 

detai l  we have done that  al ready.  Very many of  the people 

that  were brought  to work in th is count ry came from India.   
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Whether i t  was f rom Mr Prasad or Mr Yathabo [?]  the 

consul tants who prepared that  – there is a R5 mi l l ion 

feasib i l i ty study we have heard about that  was prepared by 

people who are not  South Afr ican.   So a lot  of  the money we 

may f ind t ime later on to go through this – a lot  of  the money 

that  you were paying to Est ina actual ly went to consul tants 

who were coming f rom everywhere else but  South Afr ica.   

You accept  that?  I  am talk ing about Est ina and the Vrede 

Dai ry Project .  

MS DHLAMINI:   Chairperson because I  d id not  see who was 10 

implementat ion and monitor ing of  that  project  was not  my 

responsibi l i ty and I  d id not  have the – I  d id not  see those but  

I  take i t  that  Advocate has checked and I  – I  accepted i t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   In fact  those facts are in the accounts 

that  you would have looked at  – the quarter ly and monthly 

accounts and some of  the invoices that  would have been 

presented to you I  presume so that  you could author ise 

certain payments.   But  you are correct  th is  is fact  that  we 

have on record.   Can I  ask you this related quest ion?  What  

is the di fference between an implement ing agent and the 20 

managing agent and I  ask because Est ina was appointed as 

an implement ing agent and the managing agent? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Chairperson I  c lear ly cannot – cannot  

answer.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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MS DHLAMINI:   Ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   But  you wi l l  agree there is a 

dist inct ion between the two? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I  th ink there should be but… 

CHAIRPERSON:   She might  not  know.  

MS DHLAMINI:   I  do not  rea l ly have the – I  do not  real ly 

have the def in i t ions of  the two unless the def in i t ions of  the 

two just  to be put  before me.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Again,  i t  comes back to what you 

were paying people to do.  And when I  say you, I  mean the 10 

department.   What the department was paying people to do.   

So Est ina is one example where they were appointed both as 

an implement ing agent  and a managing agent.   The FDC 

Free State Development Corporat ion is another  example.   

They went – they were appointed – they were charging a ten 

percent  management fee for the work they were doing.   At 

the same t ime,  they were get t ing capi tal  amounts to 

implement the Vrede Dai ry Project .   You understand what I  

am saying? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I  understand Chai r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:   So for instance, so for the FDC the 

management fee would be ten percent .   I  am not  sure 

whether you can quant i fy  even i f  you look at  the document 

Est ina submit ted how much was paid to them for managing 
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the project .  I t  may be something you want to look at  when we 

look at  the – at  the quarter ly reports that  you – your 

appendage to your supplementary aff idavi t .  

MS DHLAMINI:   What d id? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   The reason this becomes such an 

important  issue and i t  is something the Chai rman has 

t raversed with other wi tnesses i t  is because of  the manner in 

which you then paid implement ing agents.   You paid them by 

way of  t ransfers.   Transfer payments rather than paying them 

in terms of  any of  the other l ines of  expendi ture.   I  am 10 

correct  you paid by way of  t ransfer payments.  

MS DHLAMINI:   That  is correct  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   And the t ransfer payment is a  

payment you take the payment you pay i t  d i rect ly to the 

implement ing agent because i t  is a  – most  of  those t ransfer 

payments came from condi t ional  grants.  

MS DHLAMINI:   That  is correct  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   And the di ff icul ty we have had at  th is 

commission is in how you monitored where that  money was 

going to.   What  that  money was doing for you?  That  is  20 

where the nub of  the problem is.  Because you t ransfer,  you 

have not  gone through a compet i t ive bid.   What  are they – is  

the money being used for?  I t  is in [00:27:09]  purpose as the 

PFMA puts i t .   There our di ff icul t  l ies.    

MS DHLAMINI:   I  wi l l  expla in to you Chai rperson.   
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Chairperson when the implement ing agent is appointed,  the 

contract  s igned part  of  that  contract  – they are given 

projects to say you are given these ten projects to 

implement.   Right .  Now the department monitor ing and 

implementat ion uni t  they wi l l  have to ensure that  the money 

that  was t ransferred was spent  on those ten projects that  

were given to these part icular implement ing agents.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   You see Ms Dhlamini  the di ff icul ty  

wi th your explanat ion is i t  is very general .   You know that  

wi th Est ina and were paid before they rendered any serv ices.   10 

Fact .  

MS DHLAMINI:   Fact  Chai rperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   And I  am not  just  ta lk ing about the 

f i rst  R30 mi l l ion that  was supposed to deal  wi th those f i rst  

prel iminary studies.   I  am talk ing about even the second 

amount which came to a total  sum of  R84 mi l l ion.   Even that  

money they were paid and you do not  have a proper 

account ing of  where that  money was spent .  

MS DHLAMINI:   Okay Chairperson let  me expla in this.   

Because i f  the t ransfer payment  – let  us start  wi th the f i rst  – 20 

let  us use this Est ina or Vrede Dairy.   You pay the f i rst  R30 

mi l l ion that  R30 mi l l ion the f i rst  R30 mi l l ion they were – they 

were del iverables at tached to i t  to say Est ina when you get  

th is money these are the fol lowing things that  you must  do 

which was phase 1 of  the project  which i t  was at tached as 
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Annexure to the cont ract .   And the nature of  t ransfer 

payments you t ransfer the money;  i t  gets used and then i t  

gets to be accounted af ter that .   That  is how a t ransfer –  

t ransfer payments works.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   In fact ,  because you deal  wi th those 

monthly and quarter ly accounts in your supplementary 

aff idavi t ,  I  want  us to unpack what  you are saying when we 

get  there.   We wi l l  do that  immediately af ter lunch.  And I  wi l l  

te l l  you what the context  wi l l  be just  for you to ref lect  on.   Mr 

Thabethe of  course as the HOD was – he was asked also – 10 

the quest ions around this.   He took us to the agreement and 

to annexure A of  the agreement which set  out  the mi lestones.   

He s igned o f f  on  those hav ing  been ach ieved in  

c i rcumstances where  we es tab l i shed a t  th is  commiss ion  

tha t  most  o f  them had not  been ach ieved,  so  you are  g iv ing  

peop le  money fo r  what  they say they have done when in  

fac t  had anybody  gone to  check and I  wou ld  aga in  say I  

wou ld  l i ke  to  th ink  the  CFO does not  s ign  o f f  on  anyth ing  

un t i l  she  has checked tha t  these se rv i ces  have been  

rendered.    20 

 So the  d i f f i cu l t  is  w i th  nobody mon i to r ing  exact ly  

where  th is  money  was go ing  and what  i t s  in tended purpose 

was pub l i c  funds  were  be ing  spent  in  a  manner  tha t  you  

had not  an t ic ipa ted .   Turn  to  Cha i rperson.  

MS DHLAMINI :   Cha i rperson I  hear  what  Advocate  i s  
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say ing ,  f i rs t l y  Advocate  i s  te l l ing  me tha t  the  HOD h imse l f  

s igned and say th is  much has been ach ieved.   As  the  CFO 

I  th ink  I  have a l ready exp la ined a t  the  beg inn ing  to  say I  

am l i te ra l l y  hav ing  two caps,  I  run  the  un i t ,  tha t  i s  f inanc ia l  

management ,  I  have my budget  tha t  I  manage,  and  I  have 

th is  o ther  adv iso ry  ro le  to  the  account ing  o f f i ce ,  so  each  

and every  manager,  o r  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  manager  have the  

budget ,  the  person who is  supposed to  s ign  on  tha t  budget  

i s  the  owner  o f  the  budget ,  in  th is  case I  wou ld  no t  have 

known why those  mi les tones were  s igned o f f  by  the  HOD,  10 

because I  wou ld  have expected those mi les tones to  have 

been s igned o f f  by  the  D is t r i c t  Serv i ces  in  par t i cu la r  the  

D is t r i c t  D i rec tor,  so  I  wou ld  no t  know why he s igned fo r  i t ,  

and any o the r  serv i ce  o r  any o ther  invo i ce  o r  any o ther  

repor t  tha t  wou ld  come o f  any o the r  expend i tu re  tha t  wou ld  

happen under  Vrede Da i ry  wou ld  have been s igned o f f  by  

the  D is t r i c t  Serv ices  because tha t  i s  the  program tha t  

manages tha t  expend i tu re ,  eve ry  CFO I  manage my own 

budget ,  my own l i t t le  budget  wh ich  main l y  I  use  i t  fo r  

s ta t ionary,  t rave l l ing  o f  my o f f i c ia ls ,  so  tha t  i s  how i t  works  20 

and even the  counc i l  po l i cy  i s  very  spec i f i c  in  those areas 

to  say who i s  supposed to  do  what ,  o therw ise  i f  the  CFO 

s tar ts  to  do  tha t  then you ’ re  s ta r t ing  to  manage o the r  

peop le ’s  budgets  and they may no t  be  he ld  accountab le  in  

te rms o f  Sect ion  45  o f  the  PFMA.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  in  p r inc ip le  i f  when a  cer ta in  

document  i s  b rought  to  you and  i t  has  go t  the  HOD’s  

s ignature  bu t  you know tha t  i t  i s  supposed to  a lso  have 

o ther  s ignatures ,  i sn ’ t  the  pos i t ion  tha t  you w i l l  say  bu t  

where  –  why i s  so  and so ’s  s ignature  no t  he re ,  wou ld  tha t  

be  what  you wou ld  ask  to  say,  th is  document  i s  supposed  

to  have been s igned by  th ree  peop le ,  now i t  has go t  one  

s ignature ,  so  in  p r inc ip le  you wou ld  want  to  enqu i re  wou ld  

you not?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson I  d id  no t  enqu i re  because 10 

overa l l  account ing  o f f i cer  the  budget  be longs  to  the 

account ing  o f f i ce  overa l l ,  so  even  i f  I  have my own l i t t le  

budget  i f  he  fee ls  tha t  Madam CFO I  want  to  take  say one 

mi l l ion  f rom your  budget  and I  am go ing  to  use i t  he  can do  

tha t ,  because i t  i s  h is  budget ,  he  has jus t  g iven me tha t  

bu t  a t  the  end o f  the  day tha t  budget  be longs to  h im  as an  

account ing  o f f i ce r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Cha i rman  I  th ink  when we come 

back,  we w i l l  then look a t  those,  f i rs t  we are  go ing  to  look  20 

a t  the  agreement  and the  m i les tones and what  Mr  Thabethe 

s igned o f f  on ,  tha t  i s  one area we are  go ing  to  l ook  a t .   

The second area we a re  go ing  to  look  a t  i s  the  mon th ly  and  

quar te r l y  repor ts  wh ich  you have annexed,  wh ich  we  had in  

any event  in  our  bund le  and the  payments  tha t  were  made  



02 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 259 
 

Page 113 of 270 
 

to  Est ina  in  te rms o f  those repor ts ,  tha t  comes  to tha t  

mon i to r i ng  funct i on  and your  approva l  o f  the  payments ,  

tha t ’s  the  second issue.  

 The th i rd  i ssue we are  go ing  to  dea l  w i th  w i l l  be  the  

R30mi l l ion ,  the  f i rs t  R30mi l l ion  tha t  you asked the  

Prov inc ia l  Treasury  to  pay in  on  the  15 t h  o f  June and the  

bas is  on  wh ich  you asked fo r  tha t .   Those  are  th ree  

impor tan t  a reas tha t  I  th ink  we w i l l  cover  a f te r  lunch,  tha t  

a re  impor tan t  to  the  ro le  tha t  you d ischarged the  CFO.    

 Cha i rman maybe  we shou ld  then take  the  lunch 10 

ad journment  and . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no  tha t ’s  f ine ,  jus t  be fore  we do  

tha t  Ms Dh lamin i  I  am go ing  back to  a  quest ion  tha t  you  

and I  d iscussed  ear l ie r  on .   I t  seems to  me tha t  the  

jus t i f i ca t ion  and the  mot iva t ion  fo r  us ing  imp lementa t ion  

agents  cer ta in ly  in  regard  to  th is  p ro jec t  was not  tha t  the  

depar tment  d id  no t  have the  exper t i se  or  peop le  who cou ld  

imp lement  the  p ro jec t .   I t  seems tha t  i t  was s imp ly  tha t  the 

depar tment  o r  peop le  w i th in  the  depar tment  who were  

supposed to  imp lement  the  pro jec t  o r  p ro jec ts  such as  20 

these,  because o f  p rob lems tha t  may have ar i sen  before ,  

no  longer  had conf idence tha t  they cou ld  do  tha t  p roper ly  

and there fo re  thought  they shou ld  br ing  in  imp lement ing 

agents  to  do  what  ac tua l l y  was a  job  fo r  wh ich  they were  

be ing  pa id .  
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 I s  tha t  a  fa i r  p ropos i t ion?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson tha t  fa i r  p ropos i t ion  –  tha t  

p ropos i t ion  is  fa i r  w i th  regard  to  o ther  p ro jec ts ,  p robab ly  

Vrede Da i ry  a l so  bu t  w i th  regard  to  Vrede Da i ry  the re  were  

o ther  e lements  Cha i rperson,  you might  be  aware  f rom 

documents  tha t  one o f  the  th ings i t  was sa id  i s  Vrede Da i ry  

i s  a lso  go ing  to  invest  in  tha t  p ro jec t ,  they  are  go ing  to  be  

an  investor  in  tha t  p ro jec t  whereby  the  depar tment  i s  go ing  

to  pu t  up  a  da i ry  par lour,  wh ich  is  where  you w i l l  m i lk  and 

they wou ld  pu t  up  a  process ing  p lan t  wh ich  is  where  you 10 

wou ld  do  your  bu t te r,  your  cheese  and a l l  those th ings,  so  

i t  was l i ke l y  no t  the  same as o the rs ,  so  I  th ink  tha t ’s  where  

the  compl ica t ion  came wi th  regard  to  Vrede Da i ry.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  in  so  fa r  as  Est ina ’s  ro le  was the  

imp lementa t ion  o f  the  pro jec t  tha t  was someth ing  tha t  

cou ld  have been done by  the  o f f i c i a ls  even i f  PARAS/Est ina 

was go ing  to  invest  in  the  pro jec t ,  is  tha t  r igh t?   

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  and –  yes Cha i rperson,  however  a l so  

the  magn i tude o f  the  pro jec t  I  th ink  necess i ta ted  the  sk i l l s  

tha t  rea l l y  h igh l y  qua l i f ied  o f f i c i a ls  o r  peop le  who have 20 

managed tha t ,  and look ing  a t  the  –  look ing  a t  the  

background tha t  were  g iven around PARAS espec ia l l y  to  

say i t  i s  the  la rgest  da i ry  in  Ind ia ,  you s ta ted  tha t  the  sk i l l  

tha t  they are  hav ing  is  fa r  above the  sk i l l s  tha t  our  o f f i c ia ls  

a re  hav ing  and a lso  w i th  regard  to  the  process ing  p lan t  
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tha t  they were  go ing  to  pu t  up ,  bu t  I  am mindfu l  

Cha i rperson tha t  yes  ou r  o f f i c ia ls  cou ld  s t i l l  have done i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  when you g ive  the  answer  tha t  you 

have g i ven me and you say the  sk i l l s  requ i red  fo r  the  

recommendat ion  o f  th is  p ro jec t  were  h igher  o r  much h igher  

than the  sk i l l s  tha t  o f f i c ia ls  o f  the  depar tment  had are  you  

say ing  tha t  on  the  bas is  o f  a  c lea r  knowledge o f  sk i l l s  the  

depar tment ’s  o f f i c ia ls ,  re levant  o f f i c ia ls  had or  a re  you jus t  

say ing  tha t  when  you look a t  the  pro jec t  and you th ink  we 

d idn ’ t  have o f f i c ia ls  who had these requ i red  sk i l l s .    10 

 In  o ther  words,  a re  you say ing  tha t  hav ing  app l ied  

your  m ind to  what  sk i l l s  the  o f f i c ia ls  in  the  depar tment ,  

re levant  o f f i c ia ls  had?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson I  am say ing  th is  in  

compar ison to  what  we are  to ld  what  i s  PARAS,  how long  

they have been in  the  bus iness,  and ja  i f  I  compare  tha t  

sk i l l  w i th  what  the  depar tment  was hav ing  I  p resumed tha t  

they m ight  have bet te r  sk i l l s  than what  we had.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes so  i n  o the r  words  your  answer  i s  

when you g i ve  me tha t  answer  i t  i s  no t  based  on you 20 

hav ing  app l ied  your  m ind to  the  sk i l l s  tha t  the  re levant  

o f f i c ia ls  o f  the  depar tment  had,  you look a t  what  was sa id  

about  PARAS and  you say probab ly  they had bet te r  sk i l l s .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mmm,  okay,  a l r i gh t .  



02 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 259 
 

Page 116 of 270 
 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Cha i rman  i f  I  m igh t  jus t  ask  Ms  

Dh lamin i  to  re f lec t  on  th is  aspec t  a r is ing  f rom what  you 

sa id ,  we t raversed th is  w i th  o the r  w i tnesses.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    We had VKB exper t ,  we have VKB 

exper t i se  in  the  count ry  and there  are  o ther  o rgan isa t ions,  

agr i cu l tu ra l  en t i t ies  tha t  do  the  k ind  o f  work  tha t  PARAS 

was inv i ted  to  come and do.  There  is  a lso  the  issue o f  

whethe r  Par lamat ,  Da i ryBe l le ,  some o f  these o ther  da i ry  

p roducers  were  i nv i ted ,  we have t raversed tha t ,  and he re  I  10 

am jus t  dea l ing  w i th  the  sk i l l s  i ssue tha t  you ra ised and the  

Cha i rman ra ises  in  the  contex t  o f  o f f i c ia ls  bu t  I  am ra is ing  

i t  in  the  contex t  o f  us ing  loca l  peop le  as  opposed to  

b r ing ing  exper t i se  f rom outs ide .  

 So tha t ’s  jus t  someth ing  to  re f lec t  on ,  we w i l l  touch 

on i t  very  shor t l y  and then I  wou ld  l i ke  you a lso  jus t  to  

when you ta lk  about  Est ina  be ing  a  b ig  investo r  I  w i l l  be  

showing you a  document  tha t  says jus t  be fore  the  f i rs t  

30mi l l ion  was pa id  in to  the i r  account  they had R16 in  the i r  

bank,  R16 and some cents  in  the i r  bank.   Th is  a l l  goes 20 

back to  what  you were  supposed  to  in te r rogate  a t  every  

leve l  o f  th is  p ro jec t  as  the  CFO,  no t  as  the  HOD,  as  the  

CFO,  and these are  the  k inds o f  examples  tha t  I  w i l l  be 

p lac ing  be fore  you a f te r  lunch.  

 Cha i r  I  jus t  wanted to  ge t  tha t  contex t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes thank you,  we are  go ing  to  t ake  the  

lunch ad journment ,  the  t ime is  twenty  past  one,  we w i l l  

resume a t  twenty  past  two.  

 We ad journ .  

REGISTRAR:   Al l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  let  us cont inue.   But  before we 

cont inue.   Let  us talk about  some pract ical i t ies.   I  do not  

know what your own assessment is Ms Gcabashe, whether 10 

we wi l l  f in ish i t  by four or not ,  but  I  want to  ta lk  about  a 

si tuat ion where four o’c lock we are not  done.   I  just  want to  

indicate that  f rom my side I  would be avai lable to si t  beyond 

four o’c lock and want to check whether everybody is  f ine 

wi th that .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Chai rman, al l  of  us includ ing Ms 

Dhlamini ’s legal  team wi l l  be avai lable.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Ms Dhlamini ,  you are able,  are you 

not?  20 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am avai lable,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   Thank you. 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Chairman.  Chai rman, I  

thought that  -  because this is an important  part  of  Ms 

Dhlamini ’s evidence -  we should go to her Exhibi t  HH16.1.   
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Ms Dhlamini ,  page 15.   And talk about  your role in ver i fy ing 

the payments for the Vrede Dai ry Project .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Which page, Chai r? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    One.. .  I  beg your pardon.   I t  is page 

53.   The black numbers.   You are correct  to ask.   Page 53 of  

the black numbers,  Est ina 01.    

MS DHLAMINI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Est ina 01.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Est ina Bundle 01? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    01.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Page 53.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And page one f ive? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    No,  s i r.   I t  is  53.  

CHAIRPERSON:    F ive three? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Five three.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   Thank you.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Now just  as a quick bi t  of  

background to th is sect ion.   I  had a range of  quest ions but  I  

actual ly do not  th ink i t  is necessary to go through al l  of  20 

them, Ms Dhlamini .   You conf i rm that  you at tended a 

presentat ion by Est ina on the project? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chair  I  conf i rm.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So you learnt  al l  about  that  pro ject  at  

that  presentat ion? 
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MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Had you heard about i t  before that  

about  Est ina’s involvement?  Let  me be speci f ic,  before that .  

MS DHLAMINI :    No,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Good.  What was the expectat ion?  

What were you supposed to do wi th  the informat ion you were 

given on that  day? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Chairperson,  on that  part icu lar day nothing 

was expected of  me because af ter  the presentat ion the 

decision was. . .  the economists must  go and look at  that  10 

presentat ion which I  presume would have had thei r  

problems.  So i t  was referred to the economists to  have a 

look at  i t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Were any part icular documents given 

to you on that  day? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Chairperson,  I  real ly cannot remember.   

What I  remember,  the presentat ion was a PowerPoint 

presentat ion.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Were you expected to interrogate the 

two gent lemen who were making the presentat ion at  al l?  So 20 

by way of  example where they wi l l  br ing in  an investment  of  

R 224 mi l l ion?  Were you expected to engage them on that? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  was not  expected Chai rperson.   I  was just  

invi ted to the meet ing to come and l isten to the presentat ion.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And then,  were you also not  
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expected to ask about  a feasibi l i ty  study,  a business plan or 

any of  those part icular mi lestones at  that  meet ing? 

MS DHLAMINI :    As far as I  know, I  was not  expected.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Last  one on this aspect .   This is just  

to give context  on how you analysed the submissions on 

invoices.   The last  one relates to. . .  they,  of  course,  have a 

memorandum of  understanding that  they have signed on the 

11t h of  Apri l  2012.   I t  is a memorandum of  understanding 

between Est ina and Paras.   Do you know about that  

memorandum of  understanding? 10 

MS DHLAMINI :    I . . .  yes,  i t  was ment ioned in the 

presentat ion that  there is a memorandum of  understanding.   

I  got  to know the actual  documents when the submission 

came to me because there was reference to that  and in 

ascertaining that ,  I  d id ask for that  memorandum.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So you took this informat ion and 

simple held onto i t  af ter you le f t  that  meet ing on the 

15t h of  Ma 2012? 

MS DHLAMINI :    You say,  I  took i t  and. . .?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The informat ion and just  held onto i t  20 

essent ia l ly.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Ja,  I  l istened to the presentat ion.   I  held on 

the informat ion and ja.   Unt i l  the submission came.  That  is 

when then I  looked at  i t  in more detai ls.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  submission,  is that  the one on 
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page 59 of  your bundle,  the same bundle,  Est ina 01,  page 

59?  Is that  the submission you are referr ing to? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Page.. .?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Five nine.  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is the submission,  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And what exact ly were you expected 

to do here,  Ma’am? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Chairperson,  as I  have already al luded to,  

that  every submission in the department that  has got  a  

f inancial  impl icat ion wi l l  be send to the CFO.  You wi l l  f ind 10 

the CFO signature in al l  the submissions.    

 As long as there is  a f inancial  impl icat ion where the 

department would have to spend money,  you would f ind the 

signature of  the CFO.   

 So basical ly,  wi th regards to  th is  submission,  I  would 

then. . .  I  was expected to conf i rm the avai labi l i ty of  the 

budget.   That  is  in the main.   To deal  wi th the f inancial  

impl icat ion thereof .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Would you,  when a document or a project  

that  has got  f inancial  impl icat ions or a document that  ta lks 20 

about something that  has got  f inancial  impl icat ions that  gets 

brought to you,  when i t  comes to you,  are you expected to 

simple indicate whether there is budget avai lable? 

 Or are you supposed to go beyond that  including,  yes 

there may be budget but  th is is not  the way to use money?  
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You are wasteful .   You wi l l  be wast ing money i f  you do i t  th is 

way,  for example.  

MS DHLAMINI :    I t  depends.   Chai rperson,  i t  depends on the 

kind of  submission what you are expected to do.   Let  us take 

for instance a submission where we are appoint ing off ic ia ls,  

f i rst  appointments.   

 That  submission has got  f inancial  impl icat ions.   A l l  what  

I  am expected to  do is to conf i rm that  the budget is there  

That  is what my signature is as a recommendat ion talks to.    

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m.  H’m.  But  would you,  for example. . .  10 

so f rom your answer,  i t  seems that  you are saying i t  depends 

on the document.   Somet imes al l  you would be requi red is to 

indicate whether there is a budget and nothing more.    

 But  there may be another si tuat ion where the document  

is presented to you,  requires you to do more than just  to  

simple say,  there is budget.  

 Includ ing saying,  al though there is budget but  you wi l l  

be wastefu l  i f  you use this budget for th is.   Am I  r ight  to  

understand your evidence in that  way? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is not  real ly what is required of  the 20 

CFO Chairperson.   Because as I  have indicated that  Sect ion 

45 of  PFMA gives a responsibi l i ty  to di fferent  programme 

managers when they are implement ing thei r  budget  for  them 

to know bet ter what they want to use thei r  budget for.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So are you saying,  as CFO i t  does not  fa l l  
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wi th in your responsibi l i ty when a document is presented to  

you that  has got  f inancia l  impl icat ions to say,  but  i f  you use 

this budget in th is way or for th is purpose you wi l l  actual ly  

be using taxpayers money not  properly or effect ively or  

eff ic ient ly? 

MS DHLAMINI :    When you put  i t  that  way Chai rperson,  yes.   

One of  the things you check as the CFO, is th is money the 

way i t  is being supposed to be used?  Is i t  according to how 

i t  is has been appropriated?  Is i t  according to the intended 

purpose?  You would a lso look at  those things.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m.  Okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay al r ight .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Chai r.   I f  you then look at  

page 61 where your signature appears.  

MS DHLAMINI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Are you tel l ing the Chai rman, th is 

Commission,  that  what you were approving were the f inancia l  

impl icat ions of  th is project?  Or what you are recommending,  

in fact ,  is a recommendat ion f rom you,  was what is wri t ten 20 

above your signature?  One:  

1.  I t  is recommended that  the project  is granted 

to accept  the proposal  f rom Est ina wi th regard to  

Vrede Dairy Integrated Project .  

 The f i rst  th ing you are recommending.  
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2.  You are recommending approval  that  the 

department enter  into a partnership wi th Est ina to  

implement the integrated dai ry project  in Vrede.  

 I  just  want to be c lear about  what you are recommending 

for approval  here.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you,  Chai rperson.   Chai rperson,  in 

the main,  I  focused on the f i rst  bul let  point  where i t  says:   

“Accept  the proposal  f rom Est ina wi th regards to the Vrede 

Dai ry Project ” .    

 And the proposal  in the main seeks to say they are going 10 

to. . .  they seek to partner wi th the department.   They seek to 

invest  in the Vrede Dai ry but ,  however,  i t  gave f igures to say,  

th is is the budget that  would be implemented.    

 So i f  you accept  th is proposal  i t  means you are saying 

there is that  budget that  the three. . .  I  th ink i t  was 300 and 

not . . .  No,  I  th ink i t  was R 342 mi l l ion VAT inclusive.   That  wi l l  

be required f rom the department in total i ty.    

 But  wi th regard to th is part icu lar submission,  what  was 

requi red immediately was the R 30 mi l l ion.   So I  looked at  

both the f inancial  impl icat ions in to tal i ty and for  the purpose 20 

of  th is part icu lar submission.    

 And I  recorded that  Chai rperson,  at  the t ime when this  

submission or when this proposal  was brought to the 

department,  Vrede Dairy was budgeted only R 9 mi l l ion.    

 So clear ly,  yes,  the R 342 mi l l ion was not  there.   The 
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R 30 mi l l ion was not  there.   So what I  d id before I  s igned 

this submission,  I  went  to the HOD.   

 I  d iscussed with the HOD the f inancial  impl icat ions in a 

way that  I  am advising him of  the f inancial  impl icat ion of  

th is.   And indicat ing to him that  the department does not  

have this. . .  of  th is project ,  has not  been budgeted to that  

amount of  money.   I t  only has R 9 mi l l ion.   

 And the answer I  got  form the HOD is,  he wi l l  be 

pr ior i t is ing the budget in order to accommodate this project  

and I  accepted i t .    10 

 Before I  accepted i t ,  what  I  d id,  I  checked.   I f  he is  

saying he is go ing to repr ior i t ise,  f i rst ly,  I  need to check.   

Does the department over the MTEF period,  which is a 

per iod of  three years,  does i t  even have that  k ind of  budget?  

I f  he repr ior i t ise,  wi l l  i t  be able to accommodate this project?   

 And when I  checked the budget that  was avai lable,  I  

real ised,  yes i t  is  possible i f  he repr ior i t ise.   I t  w i l l  be able 

to. . .  he wi l l  be able to accommodate this project .    

 And furthermore,  wi th regard to the R 30 mi l l ion.   I  a lso 

said in th is f inancial  year we do not  have that  R 30 mi l l ion.   20 

We only have R 9 mi l l ion.   And the same answer was to say 

he is going to. . .  there wi l l  be a repr ior i t isat ion of  the budget.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Okay and . . . [ intervenes]   

MS DHLAMINI :    And to this  effect ,  Chai rperson.   In my 

aff idavi t ,  I  have at tached a document  that  shows that  the 
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budget was indeed repr ior i t ised and i t . . .  then this  project  

was able to be accommodated.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Can I  raise two issues f rom your 

answer? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The f i rst  one is.   I f  you look at  bul let  

point  A which is. . .  or the f i rst  one,  which you say is the f i rst  

one which you focused on:   “ . . .accept  the proposal  f rom 

Est ina wi th regard to Vrede Dai ry In tegrated Project . ”  

 Were you not  commit t ing the department to provid ing 10 

funds that  you had not  appropriated or that  you had not  t r ied 

to provide for as required by Sect ion 38(2) of  the PMFA?   

 Is th is what you were discussing wi th the Head of  

Department,  that  you were now looking at  a three year  

per iod,  you were being asked to provide R 342 mi l l ion,  you 

had not  made any provis ion for that  at  a l l?  Why were you 

approving that  f i rs t  bu l let  point? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Okay,  Cha i rpe rson,  as  I  have  a l ready  

ind ica ted ,  tha t  I  have asked the  HOD and the  HOD sa id  I  

w i l l  repr io r i t i se .   In  repr io r i t i s ing  means he w i l l  take  money  20 

f rom e i ther  o ther  p ro jec ts  and fund th is  p ro jec t .   Now tha t  

i s  in  the  f i rs t  f inanc ia l  yea r.   

 The second and  the  th i rd  f inanc ia l  yea r,  my ro le  

now is  to  ensure  tha t  th is  p ro jec t  i s  budgeted fo r  and we 

are  no t  go ing  to  –  the  depar tment  i s  no t  go ing  to  
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rep r io r i t i se  any fu r ther  and as  I  sa id ,  I  looked a t  the  budget  

tha t  was ava i lab le  over  the  MTEF,  i f  i t  w i l l  be  ab le  to  

accommodate  the  repr io r i t i sa t ion  tha t  HOD is  ta lk ing  about  

and I  was sa t is f ied  tha t  i t  w i l l  be  ab le  to  accommodate  i t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    P lease take  us  the  document  you  

say is  in  th is  bund le  tha t  shows tha t  tha t  repr io r i t i sa t ion  

was poss ib le .   I s  i t  the  one on page 316? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  w i l l  te l l  you  now-now,  Cha i rperson.   I  

want  to  go  to  the  spec i f i c  budget  vo ted  tha t  w i l l  be  ab le  – 

wh ich  w i l l  be  easy to  unders tand,  Cha i rperson,  hence I  am 10 

s t rugg l ing  a  b i t  to  ge t  there .   That  w i l l  be  page 143 o f  my –  

o f  you ca l l  i t  HH16.1 .    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  i s  the  b lack  number  you are  

read ing ,  nè?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  the  b lack  number  I  am read ing ,  

Est ina  01143.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes,  tha t  says annexure  S5.  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  the  document .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes and then over  the  page? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Oh,  le t  us  go  to  page 147 tha t  says four  20 

rece ip ts  and f inanc ing .   4 .1 ,  Summary o f  rece ip ts ,  the  

fo l low ing sources  o f  fund ing  are  used fo r  the  vo te .   I f  you  

go to  tha t  par t i cu la r  parag raph,  Cha i r,  you wou ld  rea l i se  

tha t  tha t  i s  cond i t iona l  g ran ts .   There  is  a  l ine  tha t  says  

equ i tab le  share .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Jus t  on  the  equ i tab le  share ,  the  

depar tment  had 360  –  okay,  you  have co lumn one,  two,  

th ree ,  fou r,  f i ve ,  s ix ,  I  want  to  Cha i rperson to  focus on  the  

las t  th ree  co lumns o f  tha t  tab le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  under  m id term est imates .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Under  summary o f  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Med ium term es t imates .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  under  med ium term est imates .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja?  10 

MS DHLAMINI :    We a re  on  2012 /2013,  tha t  i s  when the  

pro jec t  s ta r ted .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Under  the  equ i tab le  share  a lone the  

depar tment  had 360 fo r  2012/2013.   ’13 / ’14  363 m i l l ion .   I  

am not  read ing  the  en t i re  –  I  am jus t… 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  you are  round ing  o f f .  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am round ing  o f f  and ‘14 / ’15  the  

depar tment  had 358.   Jus t  on ly  on  the  equ i tab le  share  bu t  I  

am not  go ing  to  focus on  the  equ i tab le  share ,  Cha i r,  I  am 20 

go ing  to  focus on  the  cond i t iona l  g ran ts .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Because those were  the  funds 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    The f igures  he re  are  in  m i l l i ons ,  hey?  
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MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON:    The f igures  he re  are  they in  m i l l i ons?  

MS DHLAMINI :    They are  in  m i l l i ons .    

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes …[ in tervenes ]  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Can I  ask  you jus t  to  pause wh i le  

you are  a t  the  equ i tab le  share ,  Ma ’am,  because we a re  

then say ing  tha t  those th ree  se ts  o f  f igures  fo r  2012/2013,  

2013/2014,  2014/2015 represented  the  equ i tab le  share  tha t  

wou ld  be  g iven  to  Agr icu l tu re  fo r  a l l  p ro jec ts ,  fo r  10 

every th ing  under  Agr icu l tu re .   P lease cor rec t  me  i f  I  am 

wrong.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  the  equ i tab le  share ,  Cha i rpe rson,  i s  

fo r  a l l  –  in  the  main  i t  i s  fo r  the  runn ing  o f  the  depar tment .   

Yes,  you might  have some monies  tha t  m ight  go  to  the 

pro jec ts  bu t  in  the  main  we wou ld  use i t  fo r  compensat ion  

o f  employee and the  runn ing  costs  o f  the  depar tmen t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  so  you rea l l y  cou ld  

no t  re l y  on  those amounts  fo r  one da i ry  p ro jec t  and I  

accept  tha t  you  are  comfor tab le  w i th  tha t  p ropos i t ion  20 

because you were  about  to  take  us  to  the  o ther  sources o f  

money.   

 The po in t  I  rea l l y  make is  tha t  i t  i s  very  impor tan t  

fo r  the  reco rd  to  re f lec t  tha t  the  amounts  you have jus t  

g iven to  the  Cha i rman represented a l l  the  money tha t  the  
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depar tment  wou ld  have had a t  i t s  d isposa l  to  do  the  work  i t  

i s  en jo ined to  do  fo r  those f inanc ia l  years .   That  i s  an 

impor tan t  po in t .   P roceed,  Ma’am? 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  take  you accept  tha t  p ropos i t ion?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  accept  the  p ropos i t ion  bu t  I  want  to  

c la r i f y  fu r ther,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay,  a l r igh t .  

MS DHLAMINI :    By  say ing  in  tha t  equ i tab le  share  you 

wou ld  f ind  compensat ion  o f  employee when you c lass i f y  i t  

down and you w i l l  f ind  goods and serv i ces .   The po r t ion  o f  10 

goods and serv ices ,  even there  HOD cou ld  s t i l l  tap  on  tha t  

por t ion .   The pa r t  tha t  he  cou ld  no t  touch i s  the  par t  tha t  

wou ld  have ta l ked to  –  the  pa r t  tha t  was ta lk ing  to  

compensat ion  o f  employees.   That  he  cou ld  no t  touch but  

the  o ther  ….  

CHAIRPERSON:    Por t ion .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Por t ions ,  he  cou ld  a lso  tap  in to  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  oaky.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Can I  add the  r ider  in  tha t  case tha t  

what  you wou ld  a lso  have to  be  care fu l  about  i s  your  own  20 

SCM po l icy  wh ich ,  o f  course ,  cascades down f rom the  

Treasury  regu la t ions espec ia l l y  16A,  tha t  any p rocu rement  

over  500 000 mus t  go  ou t  on  a  compet i t i ve  b id .    

 So i f  you  were  look ing  a t  th is  money,  knowing fu l l  

we l l  you had not  gone out  on  a  compet i t i ve  b id ,  no t  by  the  
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26  May,  anyway -  you d id  no t  a t  a l l  bu t  tha t  i s  fu r ther  po in t  

–  you had to  be  aware  tha t  as  you were  d iscuss ing  the  

issue w i th  the  HOD,  th is  money,  i f  you  were  go ing  to  tap 

in to  i t ,  must  be  used in  compl iance w i th  a l l  the  lega l  

p rescr ip ts  inc lud ing  the  supp ly  cha in  management  po l i cy  

document .   They are  rea l  cons t ra in ts ,  you cannot  jus t  

spend money,  you had to  do  i t  in  a spec i f i c  way.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you,  Cha i rperson.   I f  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  I  jus t  want  to  know,  a re  you 

accept ing  the  propos i t ion ,  a re  you not  accept ing  or  you are  10 

accept ing  w i th  an  exp lanat ion?  I  jus t  want  to  know so tha t  

as  we move fo rward ,  I  know what  you a t t i tude is  to  what  Ms  

Gcabashe has pu t  to  you.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Okay,  Cha i r,  I  am accept ing  w i th  a  fu r ther  

exp lanat ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Le t  us  say fo r  ins tance HOD dec ided to 

say f rom goods and serv i ces  I  am go ing  to  take  10 mi l l ion  

and I  am go ing  to  take  i t  to  Vrede Da i ry,  tha t  wou ld  then  

mean he is  chang ing  the  c lass i f i ca t ion  because  Vrede 20 

Da i ry  i s  be ing  appropr ia ted  under  t ransfer  payment .   Now 

we wi l l  be  i nc reas ing  the  t ransfer  payment  and  i f  you 

increase t ransfe r  payment  you wou ld  then go to  Treasury  

fo r  approva l  o r  you w i l l  wa i t  fo r  the  Ad jus tment  

Appropr ia t ion  Act  because now i t  i s  a  new Act ,  a f te r  the 
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ma in  Appropr ia t ion  Act .    

 So  you cou ld  s t i l l  do  tha t  bu t  there  wou ld  be  those  

two cond i t ions  to  be  met .   E i ther  you w i l l  wa i t  fo r  the 

Ad jus tment  Appropr ia t ion  Act  o r  he  goes to  Treasury  and 

ask  to  increase the  t ransfe r  payment  and now when i t  ge ts  

in to  Vrede Da i ry  now,  you wou ld  then app ly  the  prescr ip t s  

tha t  app l ies  to  t ransfe r  payment  because i t  wou ld  have now 

been rec lass i f ied  in to  t ransfe r  payment .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Cont inue,  Ma ’am.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    You were  go ing  to  go  to  the  next  

source  o f  fund ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The next  source  o f  fund ing ,  Cha i rperson,  

was the  cond i t iona l  g ran ts  and these cond i t iona l  g ran ts  

tha t  we have,  CASP,  I l ima/Letsema,  main ly  CASP and  

I l ima/Letsema and Land Care .   Those were  the  grants  tha t  

were  meant  fo r  fa rmers ,  tha t  were  fo r  the  pu rpose o f  

suppor t  to  the  fa rmers ,  tha t  were  fo r  the  pu rpose o f  

suppor t  to  the  fa rmers .    20 

So even in  tha t  –  and those cond i t iona l  g ran ts  had  

194 mi l l ion ,  206 mi l l ion  and 212 mi l l ion  over  a  pe r iod  o f  

th ree  years  wh ich  c lear ly  exceeds on tha t  no te  a lone,  

c lea r ly  exceeds  the  300 mi l l ion  –  342  mi l l ion  tha t  i s  

requ i red .  
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ADV GCABASHE SC:    Aga in ,  can I  ask  you to  re f lec t  on 

th is  p ropos i t ion .   Those cond i t iona l  g ran ts  you had to  go  

and mot iva te  fo r,  I  am cor rec t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Those cond i t iona l  g ran ts  wou ld  te l l  

you  how much you can ac tua l l y  take  and use on a  spec i f i c  

p ro jec t .   By  way  o f  example ,  how much you can  g ive  to  

Vrede Da i ry  Pro jec t ,  am I  cor rec t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    You are  cor rec t ,  Cha i r,  bu t  le t  me exp la in  

i t  a  b i t  to  say  they wou ld  no t  say  how much you can.   10 

Rathe r,  I  wou ld  be  comfo r tab le  t o  say how much  wou ld  

have been budgeted on those cond i t iona l  g ran ts  fo r  a  

p ro jec t  because there  is  no  spec i f i c  fo rmula  tha t  says i f  

you  come wi th  Vrede Da i ry  th is  i s  how much you can take .   

That  wou ld  come f rom the  bus iness p lan  tha t  wou ld  

have been prepared by  our  p lann ing  sect ion  in  the 

depar tment  to  say the  depar tment  wants  to  do  Vrede Da i ry  

and when they do  the i r  es t imates  we have a l l  –  they w i l l  

have the  in fo rmat ion  what  does i t  en ta i l  in  the  Vrede Da i ry  

and they wou ld  then say th is  i s  the  amount  o f  money tha t  20 

wou ld  be  needed .   So tha t  wou ld  tha t  be  the  amount  tha t  

wou ld  have been budgeted fo r  p ro jec ts  and approved.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Can I  aga in  jus t  ge t  c la r i f y  f rom 

you because we know as a  fac t  tha t  when Dr  Mas i teng went  

to  CASP to  make the  presenta t ion  fo r  money,  the  CASP 
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g ran t  tha t  was  approved was  fo r  53  po in t  someth ing  

mi l l ion .   That  i s  a  fa r  c ry  f rom the  206 tha t  –  I  beg your  

pardon,  f rom the  140,  tha t  i s  the  l ine  i tem here  under  

2013/ ’14 .    

 The s imp le  p ropos i t ion  is ,  you may w ish  fo r  one 

th ing  bu t  you wou ld  ge t  someth ing  d i f fe ren t .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i rperson,  Advocate  i s  r igh t .   

However,  we a re  ta lk ing  –  I  thought  we are  go ing  to  s ta r t  

w i th  2012/2013 because ‘13 / ’14 ,  when you go there ,  there  

is  anothe r  Appropr ia t ion  Act  fo r  ‘13 / ’14  wh ich  w i l l  then 10 

show yes,  a t  the  po in t  when we were  dea l ing  w i th  the  

p lann ing  and the  budget  p rocess  f rom CASP,  53  mi l l ion 

was approved fo r  th is  p ro jec t  bu t  the  114 was budgeted,  

then I  was go ing  to  ind ica te  when I  go  to  the  next  

appropr ia t ion  where  the  60  mi l l ion  came f rom in  the  tha t  

par t i cu la r  year.  

 Cha i r  wou ld  remember  a t  the  s ta r t  I  sa id  fo r  the  f i rs t  

year,  when the  pro jec t  s ta r ts ,  2012 /2013,  tha t  i s  where  the  

rep r io r i t i sa t ion  happened but  fo r  ‘13 / ’14  and ‘14 / ’15  the 

budget  was there ,  i t  was budgeted  fo r  fu l l y.  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I f  we go back to  where  you  wanted  

to  be  Ms Dh lamin i  wh ich  is  2012 /2013 what  you have to  

remember  i s ,  the  document  tha t  we ’ re  in te r rogat ing  is  the  

approva l  document ,  you s igned tha t  on  the  26 t h  o f  May  

2012.   You are  a l ready in  the  new f inanc ia l  year  
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2012/2013,  you a re  approv ing  a  pro jec t  tha t  says you need  

to  f ind  R340mi l l ion  there ’s  no  feas ib i l i t y  s tudy,  no  bus iness  

p lan  you have not  even s igned  an agreement  ye t  w i th  

Est ina ,  a re  you say ing  tha t  desp i te  those const ra in ts  you 

were  comfor tab le  w i th  say ing  to  –  in  your  d iscuss ion  w i th  

the  HOD,  say ing  to  h im,  I  th ink  th is  i s  doab le  i r respect ive  

o f  the  fac t  tha t  our  base documents  tha t  we need are  

nowhere  in  s igh t ,  we jus t  don ’ t  have them? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you Cha i rperson,  to  s ta r t  w i th  you  

wou ld  no t  have s igned –  the  f i rs t  th ing  you must  accept ,  i f  10 

the  proposa l  comes,  you must  f i rs t  accept  the  proposa l  

be fore  you can s ign  an  ag reement ,  second ly,  on  the  issue  

o f  the  feas ib i l i t y  s tudy,  par t  o f  the  pro jec t  money,  when you 

p lan  the  p ro jec t ,  the  to ta l  fund ing  o f  tha t  p ro jec t  wou ld  

inc lude costs  fo r  your  feas ib i l i t y  s tudy and cost  fo r  you r  

impact  assessment  E IA ,  Env i ronmenta l  Impact  Assessment .   

So –  and there  wou ld  be  o ther  cos ts  tha t  a re  pre l im inary 

costs ,  even befo re  you put  –  i f  i t ’s  a  s t ruc ture  tha t  you ’ re  

go ing  to  pu t  up ,  even before  you put  up  tha t  s t ruc ture ,  you  

wou ld  have incu r red  those costs ,  so  they fo rm par t  o f  the 20 

costs  o f  the  pro jec t?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Bu t  ma ’am i t  i s  a lso  co r rec t  tha t  as  

you wou ld  be  look ing  a t  those costs  a t  th is  s tage o f  the  

proposa l  s tage,  because we are  cur ren t ly  look ing  a t  

p roposa l  th rough to  what  you  thought  wou ld  come 
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ava i lab le ,  tha t ’s  rea l l y  what  we are  d iscuss ing .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    In  the  budget ,  even as  you ’ re  

look ing  a t  tha t  p roposa l  there  were  no  –  there  was no 

deta i l  tha t  you were  fami l ia r  w i th ,  w i th  regard  to  how much 

the  feas ib i l i t y  s tudy wou ld  cost ,  what  exact ly  they wou ld  be  

do ing ,  a l l  o f  the  types o f  de ta i l  tha t ,  essent ia l l y  led  to  tha t  

agreement  o f  the  5 t h  o f  June 2012 be ing  found  to  be  

inva l id .  I  don ’ t  rea l l y  want  to  focus on  tha t  r igh t  now;  a l l  

I ’m  say ing  is  tha t  the  same issues wou ld  have ar i sen had 10 

you d iscussed th is  p roposa l  w i th  the  S ta te  Law Adv isors  as  

you d iscussed i t  w i th  Mr  Thabethe .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you Cha i r.   Cha i r,  you wou ld  on l y  

know about  those  deta i l s  a f te r  you  have commiss ioned the  

pro jec t .   When the  pro jec t  has s ta r ted ,  because the  f i rs t  

th ing ,  when i t  has  s ta r ted  and you  have  t ransfer red  –  you 

have made the  f i rs t  t ransfe r  payment ,  they wou ld  use tha t  

money fo r  feas ib i l i t y  s tudy,  they wou ld  use tha t  money fo r  

Env i ronmenta l  Impact  Assessment  and the  l i ke  and the  

l i ke .   Hence the  f ina l  cont rac t  tha t  was s igned had tha t  20 

Annexure  A tha t  wou ld  say as  a  f i rs t  phase o f  th is  p ro jec t  

the  fo l low ing shou ld  be  done.   So tha t  R30mi l l ion  wou ld  be  

used fo r  tha t  and i t ’s  bas ica l l y  an  es t imate ,  i t  does not  

necessar i l y  mean  i t  w i l l  –  those th ings w i l l ,  exact ly  cos t  

tha t  o r  –  they can be o re ,  they can be less  i t ’s  jus t  an  
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es t imate  tha t  you  are  say ing ,  as  a  s ta r t  o f  th is  p ro jec t  th is  

i s  how much I ’m t ransfe r r ing  so  tha t  you can beg in  w i th  

your  –  the  feas ib i l i t y  s tudy and a l l  tha t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    P lease cont inue,  Ms Dh lam in i ,  you  

were  tak ing  us  th rough the  res t  o f  these f igures .  

MS DHLAMINI :    And then I  was  say ing ,  Cha i rpe rson,  i f  

you  look a t  tha t ,  because tha t  where  I  was say ing ,  I  looked 

a t  th is  budget  to  check as  to  –  over  the  per iod  o f  th ree  

years  does th is  budget  cover,  can i t  cove r,  i f  HOD 

pr io r i t i ses ,  can i t  cove r  the  R342mi l l ion  and I  was sa t is f ied  10 

tha t  i t  can  do tha t ,  hence I  then –  a f te r  my d iscuss ion  w i th  

h im,  I  then s igned the  submiss ion  and I  fu r ther  sa id ,  

Cha i rperson,  now is  the  f i rs t  day 2012/2013 tha t  w i l l  be  the  

pr io r i t i sa t ion  bu t  go ing  in to  2013 /2014,  2014/2015  I  must  

make sure  tha t  we are  no  longer  go ing  to  do  the  

pr io r i t i sa t ion  bu t  the  budget  i s  the re  the  pro jec t  i s  funded 

proper ly,  dur ing  the  budget  p rocess each one mus t  make 

h imse l f  c lear  to  say,  th is  i s  how much I ’m go ing  to  g ive  fo r  

Vrede Da i ry.  

CHAIRPERSON:    He lp  me wi th  someth ing  he re .   I  wou ld  20 

have thought  tha t  be fore  there  is  approva l  tha t  the 

depar tment  goes  in to  a  par tne rsh ip  w i th  Est ina ,  in  regard  

to  th is  p ro jec t ,  the  feas ib i l i t y  s tudy wou ld  have p receded  

tha t  s tage so  tha t  i f  the  feas ib i l i t y  s tudy revea led  tha t  th is  

p ro jec t  wou ld  no t  be  v iab le  then he wou ld  no t  en ter  in to  
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the  pa r tnersh ip  –  the  depar tment  wou ld  no t  en ter  i n to  any 

par tnersh ip  w i th  Est ina  and tha t  you wou ld  on l y  en ter  in to 

a  par tnersh ip  w i th  Est ina  a f te r  the  s tudy had revea led  tha t  

th is  p ro jec t  wou ld  be  v iab le?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Idea l l y,  Cha i rperson,  i t  wou ld  have 

happened tha t  way but  l i ke  I  sa id  a t  the  beg inn ing  to  say,  

Vrede Da i ry  was  a l ready in  the  budget ,  i t  was a l ready in  

the  books w i th  a  budget  o f  R9mi l l ion .   So,  I  d id  no t  have  

the  spec i f i cs  as  to  what  was the  in ten t ion  o f  the  R9mi l l ion ,  

I  don ’ t  have those spec i f i cs ,  those spec i f i cs  wou ld  be  w i th  10 

the  Pro jec t  Managers  or  the  D is t r i c t  D i rec tors .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  jus t  seems s t range to  me tha t  you and  

the  HOD approve  tha t  the  depar tment  shou ld  en te r  in to  a 

par tnersh ip  w i th  Est ina  fo r  a  spec i f i c  p ro jec t  in  

c i rcumstances where ,  as  I  see i t ,  you  haven ’ t  done the  

r igh t  homework  and fo r  me the  r igh t  homework  inc ludes a  

feas ib i l i t y  s tudy to  say,  w i l l  th is  p ro jec t  be  v iab le ,  you 

unders tand where  I ’m  coming f rom? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  unders tand where  you are  coming f rom 

and I  accept  tha t  Cha i rperson but  as  fa r  as  I  can know,  a l l  20 

the  pro jec ts  tha t  were  s ta r ted ,  pa r t  o f  the  f i rs t  mon ies  tha t  

wou ld  be  spent  on  issues l i ke  feas ib i l i t y  s tudy.   I ’m  not  

th ink ing  o f  any pro jec t  where  i t  was in  the  budget  and 

there  was the  feas ib i l i t y  s tudy be fore  the  budget  was put  

as ide  because i t ’s  par t  o f  the  p lann ing ,  you p lan  to  say,  I ’ l l  
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pu t  th is  much and you know tha t  you might  –  one  o f  the  

th ings  i t ’s  feas ib i l i t y  s tudy  tha t  you ’d  do ,  Env i ronmenta l  

Impact  S tudy and  a l l  those th ings.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Hmm,  Ms Gcabashe.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you  Cha i rman.   I  don ’ t  know 

i f  there  i s  anyth ing  e lse  you want  to  po in t  ou t  in  respect  o f  

the  prov is ion  you  be l ieved wou ld  be  ava i lab le?  

MS DHLAMINI :    No there ’s  no th ing  more  I  want  to  –  tha t  I  

want  to  po in t  ou t  Cha i rperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Okay so  we ’ re  back to  –  we were  10 

jus t  ske tch ing  the  background fac tors  tha t  you were  aware  

o f  a t  the  t ime tha t  you then had to  s ta r t  mak ing  these  

par t i cu la r  payments .   Le t ’s  go  to  tha t  because we ’ l l  then 

come back to  dea l  w i th  the  very  f i rs t  payment  o f  R30mi l l ion  

bu t  take  me to  the  payments  tha t  you had wanted to  

ind ica te .  I  don ’ t  know i f  tha t ’s  the  one tha t  s ta r ts  a t   f lag 

number  13  wh ich  is  a t  page 312,  i s  tha t  where  you want  us  

to  go  to?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I ’m  go ing  to  te l l  you .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Un less  you want  to  look  a t  your  20 

a f f idav i t  ma ’am,  wh ich  is ,  aga in  page 53 and  jus t  go 

th rough,  in  summary what  you say he re ,  i t ’s  up  to  you,  I  

jus t  want  you to  exp la in  your  ro le  in  ver i f y ing  the  

payments ,  whether  you do i t  by  way o f  a  nar ra t i ve ,  wh ich  is  

what  you ’ve  go t  in  you r  paragraph  12 or  whether  you want  
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to  ac tua l l y  ind ica te  on  the  Annexures you ’ve  pu t  in  here ,  

we a re  in  your  hands.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i r,  I  p re fer  to  go  to  the  Annexure ,  I ’ l l  

exp la in  i t  be t te r  tha t  way.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And tha t ’s  Annexure  number?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That ’s  Annexure  S13.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes,  and S13,  Cha i rman,  you w i l l  

f ind  –  i t  s ta r ts  a t  page –  Est ina  01 ,  312 the  ac tua l  f igures  

s ta r t  on  the  fo l low ing page,  313.   We are  in  your  hands  

ma’am.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you Cha i rpe rson.   Cha i rperson i f  

you go to  page –  le ts  sk ip  page  313,  bas ica l l y  i t ’s  –  i t ’s  

jus t  our  records ,  le t ’s  a lso  sk ip  page 314,  because i t ’s  jus t  

a  record .   I f  you  go to  page 315,  tha t ’s  the  ac tua l  payment  

–  i t ’s  wr i t ten  there ,  sundry  payment  adv ice  tha t ’s  the  ac tua l  

payment  tha t  needs to  be  approved when a  payment  i s  

done.   The pe rson wou ld  rea l i se  f rom tha t  page tha t  there ’s  

no  s ignatu re  –  those th ree  s ignatu res ,  none o f  them is  my 

s ignature .   You have the  f i rs t  s ignature ,  i t s  A C Meyer,  the  20 

second s ignature ,  wh ich  had been ve r i f ied ,  i s  S  M K 

Scha lkwyk and the  las t  s ignature  i s  fo r  Mr  Thabethe as  the  

HOD who has author i sed the  payment .   Th i s  takes me back 

to  two th ings tha t  I ’ ve  a l ready…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m  sor ry  –  oh  th is  i s  the  payment  o f  the  
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R30mi l l ion  –  no  R30 000 what  i s  i t?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    R30mi l l ion  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  th is  i s  the  payment  o f  R30mi l l ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And jus t  fo r  c la r i t y,  th is  i s  the  f i rs t  

R30mi l l ion  tha t  you pa id  in  –  i t  eventua l l y  was pa id  in  Ju l y  

o f  2012 even though i t  was reques ted in  June o f  2012? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That ’s  r igh t ,  tha t ’s  r igh t  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And th is  i s  the  R30mi l l ion ,  i f  I  10 

reca l l  co r rec t l y,  f rom what  you sa id  be fore  lunch,  th is  i s  the  

R30mi l l ion  tha t  was supposed to  cover  the  pre l im inary  

exerc ises ,  feas ib i l i t y  s tudy e tce te ra ,  e tce tera ,  a l l  the  ones 

tha t  a re  on  Annexure  A o f  the  agreement?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That ’s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You ment ioned tha t  you…[ in te rvenes] .  

MS DHLAMINI :    So ,  I  was say ing ,  Cha i rperson,  th is  then  

takes me back to  two th ings tha t  I ’ ve  spoken  about .  

Sect ion  45  o f  the  PFMA which  g ives  respons ib i l i t y  to  o ther  

o f f i c ia ls  in  the  depar tment  tha t  wou ld  then g ive  –  what  20 

g ives  e f fec t  to  tha t  in  the  budget  i s ,  eve ry  Programme 

Manager  –  the  budget  i s  d iv ided in to  programmes,  so  those  

programmes has  got  Programme Managers ,  ma in ly  the  

Programme Mangers  wou ld  be  the  Execut ive  Management .   

In  th is  case th is  budget  wou ld  have sa t  under  p rogramme,  
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Farmer  Suppor t  Deve lopment  wh ich  the  Programme 

Manager  i s  Dr  Mas i teng.   So,  on  th is  par t i cu la r  day Dr  

Mas i teng was no t  there ,  Mr  van Scha lkwyk was ac t ing  so  

hence he s igned  there  as  the  person who ver i f ied  and  

checked the  payment .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    D id  you speak w i th  Mr  van  

Scha lkwyk about  why he was approv ing  th is  payment ,  

be fore  you recommended i t  on to  the  HOD? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson,  I  d idn ’ t  speak to  Mr  van 

Scha lkwyk because th is  par t i cu la r  payment  d id  no t  come to  10 

me and –  because the  person who  compi led  th i s  pa r t i cu la r  

payment  was Ms A l ta  Meyer  who was,  I  th ink  by  then was 

ac t ing  D is t r i c t  D i rec tor  Thabo Mofu tsanyane and then f rom 

there  i t  went  to  the  HOD and HOD author ised i t .   The on ly  

t ime i t  came to  my a t ten t ion  is  when i t  came wi th  the  

cer t i f i ca te  tha t  I  needed to  s ign  to  go  to  Treasury.  Now I ’m 

go ing  to  ta lk  ve ry  techn ica l  th ings.   When you make a  

payment…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m  sor ry  be fore  you do tha t ,  I  jus t  want  

to  ask  th is  quest ion  bu t  you must  te l l  me i f  i t ’s  a  quest ion  20 

tha t  w i l l  be  exp la ined as  you  go a long,  okay.   You 

ment ioned tha t  –  you make ment ion  o f  the  fac t  tha t  your  

s ignature  doesn ’ t  appear  here  in  th is  document ,  i s  there  a  

par t i cu la r  s ign i f i cance to  tha t ,  o r  no t  rea l l y?  

MS DHLAMINI :    The reason why I ’m showing tha t  my  



02 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 259 
 

Page 143 of 270 
 

s ignature  does not  appear  here ,  is  because –  hence I  sa id  

i t  g ives  e f fec t  to  Sect ion  45  o f  the  PFMA where  the  

Manager,  manages h i s  o r  her  own budget .   So,  th is  i s  the  

budget  o f  the  D is t r i c t  Serv ices ,  they managed the  budget  

they don ’ t  rea l l y  have to  ask  me how they use the i r  budget .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    So ,  i t  was not  necessar i l y  a  requ i rement  

tha t  i t  must  come to  me and I  w i l l  exp la in  why o thers  came 

to  me.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  10 

MS DHLAMINI :    The second th ing  tha t  I  wanted to  show,  

wh ich  is  what  Advocate  Gcabashe ta lked about  a t  the 

beg inn ing  when we were  s ta r t ing  –  when we were  re fer r i ng  

to ,  I  th ink  the  task  o f  Mr  Thabethe and Dr  Mas i teng were  

Dr  Thabethe sa id  he  was re l y ing  on  me and a t  tha t  po in t  I  

made a  comment  to  say,  no t  a lways because he cou ld  s ign  

th is  payment  w i thout  coming to  me .   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Can you then exp la in ,  and  I  know 

I ’m jumping issues a  l i t t le  b i t  bu t  I  know you are  ab le  to  –  

because th is  i s  what  you d id ,  you can exp la in  i t .   Can you  20 

then exp la in  why i t  i s  tha t  you then went  to  t reasury  to  ask  

fo r  th is  payment ,  was i t  because you were  the  on ly  person  

who cou ld  s ign  tha t  cer t i f i ca te?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Okay,  le t  me exp la in  tha t ,  tha t  the  

Cha i rperson s topped me a t .   When you make a  payment  in  
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the  Depar tment ,  any payment  tha t  i s  above R1mi l l ion ,  i t  

must  go  v ia  Treasury,  any payment  tha t  i s  less  than a  

m i l l ion  –  I  th ink  a  m i l l ion  and above,  i t  goes to  Treasury  

less  than a  m i l l ion ,  tha t ’s  what  we ca l l ,  in te r face .   You 

capture  i t  in to  our  f inanc ia l  sys tem,  i t  au tomat ica l l y  

in te r faces w i th  the  bank and the  bank w i l l  pay  

au tomat ica l l y  the  in tended benef i c ia ry  bu t  any payment  

tha t  i s  a  m i l l ion  and above,  i t  w i l l  then go to  the  Prov inc ia l  

Treasury.   There ’s  what  we ca l l  BCT,  i t ’s  Bus  Cred i t  

Transfe r,  tha t ’s  why I  was say ing ,  Cha i rperson,  I ’m  go ing  10 

to  ta lk  to  techn ica l  th ings now tha t  m ight  no t ,  maybe make 

sense to  you.  So,  there ’s  tha t  document  tha t  wou ld  come,  

when the  payment  i s  above – i s  a  m i l l ion  and above,  tha t  

document  wou ld  come f rom th i s  –  the  sys tem genera ted  

fo rms o r  documents  tha t  wou ld  come.   That  wou ld  need the  

s ignature  o f  the  s ignator ies ,  each  and every  bank account ,  

i t  has  go t  s ignator ies  –  there ’s  o f f i c ia ls  a re  des ignated to  

be  s ignato r ies ,  tha t  wou ld  need tha t  bu t  except  tha t  there ’s  

a lso  a  ce r t i f i ca te  tha t  the  CFO must  s ign .   That  cer t i f i ca te  

goes to  Treasury,  together  w i th  tha t  payment ,  together  w i th  20 

suppor t ing  documents  so  tha t  Treasury  can ins t ruc t  the  

bank d i rec t l y,  tha t ’s  what  we ca l l  d i rec t  t ransfe r.   Treasury  

cou ld  then ins t ruc t  the  bank to  say,  t ransfe r  th is  money  

in to  th is  pa r t i cu la r  in tended bank,  benef ic ia ry  payee ’s  

account .   The  cer t i f i ca te  tha t  I  s ign ,  as  the  CFO 
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Cha i rperson,  wou ld  be  found on  Est ina  01 ,  328,  i t ’s  an  

example  o f  tha t  cer t i f i ca te  bu t  any payment  tha t  comes – 

th is  par t i cu la r  ce r t i f i ca te  does not  re la te  to  th is  payment  

per  se  bu t  a l l  the  payments  tha t  a re  above one mi l l ion  –  a  

m i l l ion  and above  wou ld  come wi th  a  cer t i f i ca te .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Where  is  tha t  ce r t i f i ca te  aga in  31 . .?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    328.  

MS DHLAMINI :    328.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Es t ina  01 ,  328.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay I  jus t  want  to ,  jus t  see –  yes you 10 

may cont inue.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And i f  you  check tha t  cer t i f i ca te ,  i s  

tha t  cer t i f i ca te  payment  conf i rmat ion .  

“ I t  i s  hereby conf i rmed and cer t i f ied  tha t  the 

payment  l i s ted  above were  du ly  au tho r ised by  

mandated o f f i c ia ls  in  the  depar tment .   The 

payments  are  fo r  expend i tu re ,  in  check ing  up  on 

th is  w i th  the  vo te  o f  the  Depar tment ,  tha t ’s  in  te rms 

o f  the  Appropr ia t ion  Act  o f fse t t ing  th is  payment  w i l l  

no t  resu l t  in  unauthor i sed expend i tu re  fo r  the  20 

Depar tment .   The expend i tu re  was accura te ly  and 

cor rec t l y  a l loca ted  and c lass i f ied  under  cor rec t  

budget  a l loca t ion .   Payments  aga ins t  ea rmarked 

fund ing  and cond i t iona l  g ran ts  where  re levant  fo r  

expend i tu re  incu r red  under  spec i f i c  purpose fo r  
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wh ich  the  funds were  appropr ia ted  fo r ” .  

 Bas i ca l l y  th i s  i s  what  I  confe r,  and th is  i s  what  I  

was t ry ing  to  exp la in ,  tha t  my duty,  when the  submiss ion  is  

there ,  has go t  f inanc ia l  imp l ica t ions i t ’s  to  ensure  there  is  

a  budget  –  i t ’s  to  ensure  tha t  you –  by  approv ing  th is  

expend i tu re  you  are  no t  go ing  to  cause unau thor ised  

expend i tu re ,  i t ’s  no t  go ing  to  exceed the  budget  and i t ’s  

a l loca te  proper ly  in  the  sys tem.   Mean ing  you are  no t  

pay ing  aga ins t  –  say you budgeted a  lap top  but  you are  

pay ing  fo r  the  pen,  you a re  no t  pay ing  a  pen aga ins t  a  10 

lap top ,  tha t  i s  what  we ca l l ,  a l loca ted  proper l y  in  the  

sys tem.   So those are  the  th ings tha t  we need in  f inance  

but  we dea l  w i th  t hese issues a f te r  the  payment  adv ice  has  

gone th rough and  author i sed as  such and tha t  p rocess w i l l  

a lways and a lways s ta r ts  w i th  the  budget  owner,  thank you  

Cha i r.   Fur thermore ,  Cha i r  i f  you  go to…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m sor ry  the  budget  owner  wou ld ,  in  

e f fec t ,  in  te rms o f  the  programme be the  same as the  

Programme Manager,  in  the  case o f  a  p rog ramme,  a  

par t i cu la r  p rogramme? 20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes,  by  programme I  mean the  

…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The pro jec t .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Not  the  pro jec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  un i t .  
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MS DHLAMINI :    I ’ ve  made example  to  say the  budget  i s  

d iv ided in to  prog rammes and then we have a  programme 

ca l led ,  Fa rmer  Suppor t  and Deve lopment .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    And the  budget  Manager  o r  the 

Programme Manager,  the  cor rec t  word ing  to  use is  

Prog ramme Manager.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh.  

MS DHLAMINI :    The Programme Manager  fo r  tha t  

par t i cu la r  budget  i s  Dr  Mas i teng,  wh ich  means tha t  budget  10 

fa l l s  under  D is t r i c t  Serv i ces  bu t  be low Dr  Mas i teng,  a lso ,  

there ’s  a  fu r the r  …[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    O f f i c ia l .  

MS DHLAMINI :    O f f i c ia ls ,  you r  Sen io r  Management ,  so  in  

D is t r i c t  Serv i ces  you ’ l l  –  when you get  in to  the  sys tem,  

you ’ l l  f ind  tha t  there ’s  a  budget  fo r  Thabo Mofu tsanyane,  

the  respons ib le  o f f i c ia l  fo r  tha t  budget  i s  the  D is t r i c t  

D i rec tor  bu t  Dr  Mas i teng p lays  and overa l l  –  p lays  and  

overa l l  ro le  on  tha t  budget .   I f  you  come to  my un i t ,  wh ich  

is  F inanc ia l  Management ,  you ’ re  go ing  to  see the  budget  20 

fo r  Supp ly  Cha in  Management .  The respons ib le  o f f i c ia l  fo r  

tha t  budget  i s  the  Sen ior  Manager  Supp ly  Cha in ,  tha t ’s  how 

the  budget  i s  con f igured but  I  p lay  an  ove ra l l  respons ib i l i t y  

fo r  tha t  par t i cu la r  budget .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And the  budget  owner  wou ld  be  who? 
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MS DHLAMINI :  The budget  –  tha t ’s  why I ’m say ing  the  

budget  owner  becomes…[ in te rvenes] .    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    You re fer  to  budget  owner  as  we l l .  

MS DHLAMINI :    The budget  owner  w i l l  be  the  D i rec tor  

Supp ly  Cha in  Management  because my o f f i ce ,  a lso ,  as  the  

CFO has i t s  own budget .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Dr  Mas i teng ’s  o f f i ce  a lso  has  i t s  own 

budget .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t ,  thank you.  10 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   So  ma’am what  you ’ve  been 

exp la in ing  to  us  i s  the  l ine  o f  respons ib i l i t y  fo r  compi l ing ,  

submi t t ing  approva ls  fo r  payments  and where  you  f i t ted  in  

to  tha t  par t i cu la r  payment ,  i t  d id  no t  f i t  a t  a l l ,  i t  had 

noth ing  to  do  w i th  you,  you r  s ignature  i s  nowhere  there ,  

am I  cor rec t?   

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  tha t ’s  what  I  was exp la in ing .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    In  re la t ion  to  tha t  par t i cu la r  

payment?  

MS DHLAMINI :    In  re la t ion  to  th is  par t i cu la r  payment .  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And you know tha t  we ’ re  go ing  to  

come back to  i t  when we dea l  w i t h  the  Anna Four ie  i ssue,  

we won ’ t  dea l  w i t h  i t  now because  what  we were  t ry ing  to  

ge t  to ,  s tep  by  s tep ,  i s  –  I  have i t  here  as  –  those month l y  

and quar te r ly  repor ts  tha t  you have Annexed,  because the  
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quest ion  rea l l y,  was,  when these  payments  were  made to  

Est ina ,  what  invo ices were  submi t ted  to  you,  o r  wha t  p roo f  

tha t  serv i ces  had been rendered  were  submi t ted  to  you  

pr io r  to  your  s ing ing  o f f  on  any payment  to  them,  tha t ’s  

rea l l y  where  we a re .   So,  I  th ink  we shou ld  go  to  –  back to  

13  where  we were ,  f lag  13  page 313 is  where  the  

documenta t ion  s ta r ts  and you sa id  we can ignore  tha t  fo r  

now and we w i l l  and I ’m  ac tua l l y  go ing  to  ask  you  then to 

look  a t  spec i f i ca l l y  the  account  I  want  you to  look  a t  w i l l  

under  f lag  14  o f  the  repor ts ,  under  f lag  14  wh ich  s ta r ts  a t  10 

335 and i f  you go ove r  the  documenta t ion  the re ,  what  I  

rea l l y  am in te res ted  in  a re  the  f igures  tha t  a re  par t  o f  the  

August  2012 to  September  2013 cash f low repor t  and 

pro jec t ions page  341 is  the  f ron t  page o f  tha t  repor t  and  

they a re  te l l ing  us  here  tha t  these p ro jec t ions cover  the  

per iod  2012 –  August  2012 to  March 2013 in  re la t ion  to  the  

app l i ca t ion  o f  funds and then pro jec t ion  –  cash f low fo r  the  

per iod…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m  sor ry  Ms Gcabashe,  I  th ink  

somehow,  I  have los t  the  page  numbers ,  I  am a t  341 20 

because I  though t  you sa id  …[ in tervenes] .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Es t ina  01 ,  page 341 Mohuma 

Mobung Vrede Da i ry  Pro jec t ,  Es t ina  01 ,  341.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    i t s  repor t  number  1 ,  i f  you  look  
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be low the  p i c tu re ,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    You ’ve  go t  cash f low repor t  and  

pro jec t ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    August  2012 to  September  2013,  I  

was s imp ly  read ing  tha t  in t roducto ry  l i t t le  parag raph.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    You are  w i th  me Ms Dh lamin i?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I ’m  w i th  you Cha i rpe rson.  10 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Now the  reason you have Annexed 

these documents  i s  to  say to  the  Commiss ion ,  you had  

regard  to  these documents?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you Cha i rperson.   Cha i rpe rson  

before  we dea l  w i th  th is  mat te r  i f  i t ’s  acceptab le  then I  f i rs t  

re fe r  the  Cha i rperson to  the  t ransfe r  payment  po l i cy  so  

tha t  when I  say  cer ta in  th ings,  Cha i rperson,  unders tands 

where  I ’m  coming  f rom.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  i s  tha t  f ine  Ms Gcabashe?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That ’s  f ine ,  no  prob lem.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  le t ’s  do  tha t .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Okay,  le t  me check where  is  tha t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I t  w i l l  be  f lag  11 .  

MS DHLAMINI :    F lag  11?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    F lag  11  and I  found th is  document  
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qu i te  in te res t ing  Ms Dh lamin i  i t s  no t  one tha t  we had been  

favoured w i th  as  the  Commiss ion  so  I  d id  have a  look a t  i t ,  

a  very  qu ick  look a t  i t .   I  found tha t  i t  seeks  to  be  

cons is ten t ,  o f  course ,  w i th  the  Treasury  regu la t ions,  I ’m 

cor rec t ,  I ’m  a t  page 299,  you ’ l l  te l l  me i f  you want  to  s ta r t  

i t  a t  the  beg inn ing  bu t  I  thought  page 299 se ts  ou t  what  

we ’ve  ac tua l l y  ta lked about  a l ready.   Treasury  regu la t ion  

8 .4  and i t ’s  –  pa r t i cu la r  8 .4 .1 ,  8 .4 .2 ,  8 .4 .3  and 8 .4 .4  I  don ’ t  

th ink  you want  to  s ta r t  he re ,  o r  you want  to  go  somewhere  

e lse?  Th is  par t i cu la r  sec t ion  g i ves  us  a  background to  10 

what  your  ob l iga t ions are .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you Cha i rperson.   Cha i rperson I ’m 

go ing  to  move s t ra igh t  to  where  Advocate  i s  lead ing  me to 

bu t  be fo re  I  move to  tha t ,  I  need  to  read pa ragraph 1  o f  

th is  po l i cy  wh ich  is  page –  Est ina  01 ,  298.  

CHAIRPERSON:    298,  yes .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Paragraph 1 ,  in t roduct ion :  

“ In part icu lar the off ic ia l  must  take effect ive 

and appropriate steps to prevent  wi thin that  

off ic ia l ’s area of  responsibi l i ty any 20 

unauthor ised i r regular,  f ru i t less and wastefu l  

expendi ture and any under col lect ion of  

having to. ”  

 That  is the opening paragraph.   We go to – yes where 

Advocate Leah was leading me to which is page Est ina 
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01 300.   Paragraph 6.  – Paragraph 8.6.1.  

“Any provincial  account ing off icer  

t ransferr ing a grant  f rom the Provincial  

Revenue Fund to a Munic ipal i ty in  

accordance with  assignment in  terms of  

Sect ion 156.4 of  the Const i tut ion 1996 Act  

number 108 of  1996 or a delegat ion – a 

delegat ion in terms of  Sect ion 238 of  the 

Const i tut ion 1996 other than an agency 

payment in terms of  Sect ion 238 of  the 10 

Const i tut ion must  comply wi th the relevant  

provision of  the annual  d iv is ion of  revenue.  

Local  Government,  Municipal ,  Finance 

Management Act  and Sect ion 9 and 10 of  the 

Municipal  systems and other relevant . ”  

 That  is the – the – i t  is where you leading me.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   No,  I  was not .  

MS DHLAMINI:   Or I  got  lost .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   I  was on the page before that .   But  let  

us just  quickly interrogate this.  20 

MS DHLAMINI:   Oh you are on page… 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Is th is  where you want to be 

because I  th ink you – you… 

MS DHLAMINI:   No I  was going to  move straight  to – I  was 

going to move straight  to the responsibi l i t ies of  the object ive 
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of  the pol icy and st raight  to the – the – I  was going to move 

st raight  to Paragraph 4.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Paragraph 4 on page? 

MS DHLAMINI:   That  is page – same page Est ina 01 300.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Let  us do that ;  let  us go to where you 

want to be.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Let  us start  f i rst  wi th the object ive of  the 

pol icy.    

“The purpose of  th is document is  to  provide a 

pol icy f ramework for  al l  responsible off ic ia ls  10 

who have a formal administ rat ive duty to 

manage t ransfer payments that  are made to 

external  ent i t ies. ”  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Now the def in i t ion of  external  ent i t ies 

includes a party such as Est ina.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Am I  correct?  Thank you.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Thank you.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Cont inue.  

MS DHLAMINI:    20 

“This pol icy is  appl icable to  al l  g i f ts,  donat ion and 

sponsorship as def ined in 2 above and as such is appl icable 

to al l  departmental  off ic ia ls.   The scope the provision of  th is 

pol icy shal l  apply to a l l  departmental  off ic ia ls and duly 

appointed programs/sub-program and responsibi l i ty  
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management.”  

 So that  program and sub-program is program 

managers and sub- program managers.   In th is case 

Chairperson program manager would be Dr Masi teng a 

dist r ict  d i rector wi l l  be a sub-program manager.    

“And responsibi l i ty management  who are 

responsible for  the management of  t ransfer 

payment to external  ent i ty. ”  

 I  wi l l  skip that  account ing pol ic ies there at  5.1.   I  wi l l  

move to 5.2.  10 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Those are the responsibi l i t ies … 

MS DHLAMINI:   No let  us … 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Transfer payments.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Let  us skip the 5.2.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Because those are al igned real ly to 

8.4.1.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   What is wri t ten here.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Under 5.2 is exact ly what 8.4 20 

Treasury Regulat ion 8.4.1.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes that  is what i t  says.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   That  is correct .  

MS DHLAMINI:   So I  wi l l  skip.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   And we deal t  wi th that  th is morning.  
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MS DHLAMINI:   I  wi l l  skip that  now.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   So you want  real ly to look at  5.3 over  

the page.   Page 301.   I  certa inly  have an interest  in that  

because the CFO is ment ioned there.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Oh where the CFO is ment ioned.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Yes 5.3.  

MS DHLAMINI:    

“Annual  al locat ion of  t ransfer payments.   The 

program manager or dist r ict  d i rector shal l  

provide the CFO with a detai led l is t ing of  the 10 

proposed receipts of  t ransfer payments for 

the fol lowing f inancial  year dur ing the budget  

planning.   This l ist  shal l  be supported by 

re levant  business plan.”  

 By this receipt  of  t ransfer basical ly i t  is  the pro ject .   

The projects Chai rperson.  

“ In  cases where the t ransfers are not  

budgeted for in terms of  the budget process 

but  rather to be implemented in the current  

f inancial  year Treasury approval  is  requi red 20 

to increase t ransfers and subsidies and the 

program manager and the relevant  d ist r ict  

d i rector wi l l  be responsible for the monitor ing 

of  the use of  the funds in terms of  Paragraph 

5.1.1 of  th is pol icy.”  
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ADV GCABASHE SC:   Then 5.5.2 is also part icular ly 

re levant  to your tasks.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   At  the bot tom of  that  page.  

MS DHLAMINI:    

“ In terms of  Treasury Regulat ion 5.1.3 the 

CFO shal l  ensure that  the budget submission 

includes appropr iate support ing in format ion 

in respect  of  inst i tut ion and publ ic ent i t ies 

receiving this  – ja  i t  is supposed to say 10 

receiving t ransfer payments on that  vote.”  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Yes.   CFO and then you – i f  I  – when 

I  looked at  i t  I  thought over the page 5.6 was relevant .   I  do 

not  know i f  you f ind i t  equal ly re levant  to your task? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Sorry Chairperson,  where are you? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   I  am on page 302 and real ly the one 

that  I  thought was part icular ly relevant  is the one that  reads:  

“The department  must  comply wi th the 

fol lowing requi rements pr ior  to  effect ing 

payment to a qual i fy ing inst i tut ion.”   20 

And at  B wel l  f i rs t  th is says Treasury Regulat ion 8.4.1 and 

8.4.2 should have been compl ied wi th and then i t  goes on to 

say at  B.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    



02 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 259 
 

Page 157 of 270 
 

“The relevant  approval  has been obtained 

f rom Provincial  Treasury in cases where a 

new transfer has been int roduced.”  

So you are qui te  r ight .   Th is is a  comprehensive t ransfer 

pol icy document.   Is th is the point  you are making? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   This is the document that  guides the 

work you do as you effect  t ransfers? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   And you are saying that  you acted in  10 

terms of  th is part icular document? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   P lease show us now how you did that  

i f  we go back to I tem 13 i f  that  is  – i f  you are ready to go 

back to 13? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes let  us go back to … 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   I tem 13.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Okay before I  go to that  Chai rperson let  us 

read under 5.6.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Yes Ma’am.  20 

MS DHLAMINI:   Let  us read Paragraph D.  

“The responsible manager author is ing the 

payment shal l  ensure that  appropriate 

support ing informat ion has been obtained to 

sat isfy himsel f /hersel f  that  t ransfer  payment 
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is val id,  the amount is correct ,  a l l  condi t ions 

and object ives have been met.  The cont ract  

agreement duly signed by al l  re levant  part ies 

and at tached to the payment documents.   

The qual i f icat ion inst i tut ion aware of  the 

statutory department inst i tut ion as respect  of  

the previous f inancial  year subsistence.”  

Here they are talk ing why – i f  i t  is  in case of  Munic ipal i t ies 

or of  – or schools.   Maybe before I  go there.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:   You want to look at… 10 

MS DHLAMINI:   You go to Rules and Responsibi l i t ies.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI:   I t  says there:  

“Rules and Responsibi l i t ies that  the pol ic ies 

adhered to.   Responsibi l i ty account ing 

off icer,  program manager,  sub-program 

manager,  d ist r ict  d i rectors and chief  f inancial  

off icer ensure compl iance to the contract  or  

agreement.   Program manager and relevant  

dist r ict  d i rector. ”  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Do not  go away.   You want to read the 

very last  paragraph on that  page which is relevant  again to  

you di rect ly.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Okay.  

“ In preparing the annual  report  of  the 
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department a Chief  Financial  Off icer shal l  

include informat ion on t ransfer payment per  

organisat ion for the ent i re f inancia l  year as 

wel l  as a report  on compl iance wi th Sect ion 

38 day of  the PFMA.”  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Thank you Ma’am.   

MS DHLAMINI:   Then we can go back Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   To black number 13 which we wi l l  f ind 

on page 313.  

MS DHLAMINI:   We were on b lack – we are on black number 10 

13.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   B lack 13 yes.   Because you are now – 

in fact  we are going to 14 my apologies because the page I  

real ly want to take you to concert ina our discussion.   We had 

started at  page 341 so that  is Est ina 01 page 341.  

MS DHLAMINI:   341.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   And – and my quest ion to you at  the 

t ime was,  did you have regard to th is report  at  any point  in  

t ime? 

CHAIRPERSON:   This is report  1  of  the Mohuma Mobung 20 

Vrede Dairy Project? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Th is is label led as Report  1 but  

Chairman i t  deals wi th cash f low report  and project ions and 

i t  deals wi th the per iod August  2012 to September 2013.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Which would be a twelve month per iod? 
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ADV GCABASHE SC:   Which would be a twelve month 

per iod but  yes there are some others that  we… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh no actual ly I  th ink my – my ar i thmet ic 

is wrong.   I t  would be thi r teen months or twelve months 

would end in July I  th ink.   Am I  wrong? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   I  th ink we are going to agree wi th you 

Chairman whether  you are r ight  or  wrong.   We are agreeing 

wi th you whether you are r ight  or wrong.   No Chai rman but  i t  

is … 

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  says August  2012 to September 2013 10 

that  cannot be twelve months.   I  was wrong.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   No,  ja but  I  was just  saying that  for 

purposes of  where I  am going to Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   I t  is not  part icular ly mater ia l  because 

she is very… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   For the record i t  is Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   But  for her purposes Ms Dhlamini  she 20 

knows what we are looking at .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No that  is f ine.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Ja.   You okay Ms Dhlamini?  And so 

the quest ion again thi rd t ime did you have regard to th is 

report? 
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MS DHLAMINI:   What is the quest ion Chai rperson? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Did you have regard to th is  report?  

You have annexed i t  so there must  be a good reason that  

you put  i t  in here.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes I  – I  have looked at  th is report .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   At  what point? 

MS DHLAMINI:   A t  the point  when I  was signing – you would 

real ise that  on page 01 339.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI:   There is a sundry payment.  10 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Advise of  R34 – to R34mil l ion.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Of  the R34mil l ion.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Which the sundry payment was compi led by 

Doctor Masi teng.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI:   R ight ly so as the Program Manager.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Yes.  Correct .  

MS DHLAMINI:   And because i t  was – i t  was compi led by 

Doctor Masi teng as a Program Manager hence i t  came to me 20 

as the CFO to ver i fy i t .   Because now i t  is be ing compi led at  

a higher level .   I f  i t  was compi led by Al ta Meyer Doctor 

Masi teng would have – would have checked i t  and ver i fy i t .   

So i t  came to me to check and ver i fy and that  checking and 

ver i fy ing includes the things that  I  have indicated Chair  when 
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I  was reading – when I  was – when I  was indicat ing the 

cert i f icate.   I t  is in l ine wi th that  cert i f icate that  I  sent  to  

Treasury.   But  also i t  is to make sure that  there is th is  

budget,  the budget is there.   How the budget  works 

Chairperson.   This pro – in th is instances we want  to pay 

R34mi l l ion.   Vrede Dairy was budgeted that  is – i t  has 114 in 

th is part icular – in  th is part icular year.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   No,  no,  th is is  the payment that  you 

had requested in  June – oh sorry i t  says here the 5 July 

2012.   I  am reading up here.   2012.   I t  was requested in  10 

2012.   I t  was paid in 2013 but  i t  was requested in 2012 and 

the reason i t  was requested in 2012 is because i t  is –  i t  was 

for the per iod 2012/2013.  That  was the f i rst  R114mil l ion that  

Est ina was expect ing to get  f rom the department.   So this  

R34.9 mi l l ion – R34 950 000.00 was part  of  that  R84 000,00 

that  was broken up into three t ranches.   Tel l  me i f  I  am 

losing you but  I  th ink you and I  are on the same page on this 

payment.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Okay I  hear you Chairperson what  you are 

explain ing you are explaining in terms of  Est ina’s report .  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Yes.   Wel l  two things.   I  wanted to 

understand whether you had read the Est ina Report  and 

interrogated i t?  You brought us to  th is payment to say wel l  

number 1 they were asking me to make this  payment.   That  

is why you brought us here.   And I  was then saying to you,  
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yes this is  a payment that  was part  of  the R84mil l ion that  

had not  been budgeted for for the per iod 2012/2013.  This 

R84 mi l l ion p lus the R30mil l ion that  you paid on the 9 July 

2012 would have made up the total .   The 84 plus the 30 

would have made up the tota l  114.  

MS DHLAMINI:   That  is correct  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   So you are being asked and just  the 

last  l i t t le l ink is th is R34 950,00 was only paid in  Apri l  of  

2013 af ter the 2012/2013 f inancial  year had ended.  

MS DHLAMINI:   That  is correct  Chairperson.  10 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Okay but  you were start ing to  provide 

for i t  here by way of  th is part icu lar sundry payment advice? 

MS DHLAMINI:   That  is correct  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Last ly  can you explain to the 

Chairman why th is becomes a sundry payment advice and 

why i t  is not  a more detai led payment advice so that  we 

know exact ly where this  money is going to and what i t  is 

going to do? Whether i t  is going to serve at  i ts intended 

purpose to quote 38.2 of  the PFMA? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Chairperson i t  is  a  di ff icul t  quest ion I  am not  20 

sure how I  am going to explain i t  because this  sundry 

payment advice is the form that  – that  is  used in  the 

department when you make a payment.    Maybe i f  Advocate 

can rephrase the quest ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  i t  may be that  she is put t ing that  
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quest ion because what is in her mind about the meaning of  

sundry is the same as what is in  my mind namely i t  is l ike 

there are funds that  are for speci f ic purposes or  i tems and 

what is lef t  when you have al located funds for certain i tems 

whatever is lef t  is  for sundry.   That  is what is in my mind.   I t  

might  not  be correct .   I t  is l ike the residue i f  you know what I  

mean.  I t  is l ike when you have a l located funds to  al l  the 

important  i tems and there is st i l l  money lef t  that  is for 

sundry.   I  must  be very wrong.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Thank you – thank you Chai rperson.   I  hear  10 

what the Chai rperson say so I  am going to clar i fy.   I  am 

going to t ry to get  c lar i ty f rom Advocate Leah here to say… 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  – but  maybe to be fai r  because i t  was 

Ms Gcabashe’s quest ion she might  be able to say no actual ly 

that  is not  what is in her mind.   So I  might  be leading you 

astray wi th that  c lar i f icat ion.   Ms Gcabashe.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Chairman I  fu l ly – you and I  were on 

the same page in  re lat ion to  that .   But  I  th ink to explain i t  in 

a l i t t le more detai l  to Ms Dhlamini .   I f  you look – so you have 

got  to the top i t  is  wri t ten Sundry Payment Advice.   And then 20 

immediately below that  you have got  Transfer Payment for 

Vrede Dai ry Pro ject .   What we are interested in  as a 

commission is in  f ind ing out  whether you as the CFO who 

informed yoursel f  about  th is payment knew where this money 

was going to so that  you could t ick and say good this money 
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is going to where i t  was intended to go to do the work i t  was 

intended to do.   That  is why – what you do in government.  

MS DHLAMINI:   No Chairperson in terms of  how Advocate 

Leah is put t ing i t  I  would say yes because when you go to  

the budget,  when you go to the – yes when you go to our 

budget schedule B5 of  our  budget you would f ind that  i t  says 

Vrede Dairy and i f  you go into the system i tsel f  where i t  is  

captured i t  is captured as – as Vrede Dai ry.   So money is – 

was being paid for the purpose of  the Vrede Dai ry Project .   

That  is how i t  is in the system.  That  is how i t  is budgeted 10 

for.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   So this is one of  those areas where i f  

the Chairman would l ike to make a recommendat ion on how 

these payments are label led one of  th ings we are going to be 

doing as the commission is making recommendat ions ar is ing 

f rom the evidence we have col lected f rom var ious wi tnesses.   

So maybe this  is too general .  Maybe one of  the 

recommendat ions we should be making is that  there should 

be a clearer note on what th is payment is for;  where i t  is  

going to  so that  there is  a l ink between the payment  and the 20 

intent ion of  the funder.   I  do not  know what your view would 

be on that?  Whether we should not  make a recommendat ion 

that  th is is too unclear – opaque is the word I  want to  use.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Speci f ical ly Chair  what you want to say is  

you want to see this payment saying you paying R34 mi l l ion;  
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R2 mi l l ion is for the t ractor;  R3 mi l l ion is for the cat t le.   Is i t?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Not  necessari ly but  i f  you are saying 

that  th is is to purchase agr icul tural  machinery.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Implements yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Implements but  at  least  we know that  

th is is intended to do just  that .  I t  is not  supposed to go and 

buy wheat or maize i t  is going for  implements.   But  i f  you 

then go further Ma’am and you go to page 344 and say to 

me,  I  can show you where this  money was going to because 

there are a lot  of  numbers on this page and this is the 10 

support ing document I  re l ied on.   Maybe that  is the complete 

answer to  my quest ion.   So i f  you then look at  – you see 

what you have on page 342,  343 is  a summary.   A narrat ive 

what happened to the monies.  I  am interested in 344 which 

sets out  the actual  f igures.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Thank you Chai rperson.   Basical ly that  is  

what i t  means to say this money that  we are paying i t  wi l l  be 

– because i f  you look at  th is report  i t  shows the source of  

funding,  the funding that  came, the money that  was paid and 

how the money was used.   So basical ly,  i t  answers the 20 

quest ion that  Advocate Leah was asking to say she wishes 

that  the payment  advice would be speci f ic l ike in th is case 

so that  we can be able to t ick the box to say you paid this  

much, th is much is used.   I  understand.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   We t raversed this document  wi th  Mr 
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Thabethe and this is where he was saying he rel ied on you 

and your expert ise.   In that  sense and the sense of  your  

expert ise.   The d i ff icul ty wi th th is document and the others 

ref lect  the same f law r ight  through.   So I  am not  going to go 

to them we have deal t  wi th th is wi th Mr Thabethe.   But  I  

s imply want to point  out  to you that  i f  you say you 

interrogated this document f i rst  we said to Mr Thabethe the 

opening balance zero.   Is there any signi f icance at  al l  i f  you 

look at  August  2012 to March 2013 where you opening 

balance is there any signi f icance at  al l  to  the fact  that  there 10 

was zero – there is  nothing entered there under opening 

balance.   Can you assist  us in understanding that? 

MS DHLAMINI:   The signi f icance – okay this cash f low is a 

cash f low and cash f low project ions.   I t  shows the budget  of  

the – i t  shows the budget  of  the – what do you cal l  th is?  The 

budget of  the project .    At  the beginning the project  does not  

have any money. 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   But  that  is  not  correct .   That  is not  

correct  because i f  you then go down to that  R30 mi l l ion 

which is grant  due f rom DARD for  2012 you see that  20 

number? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes.   Yes Chai rperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   That  is  the same R20 mi l l ion that  has 

a history that  you went to ask for  on the 15 June 2012 and 

did not  get .   That  was eventual ly pa id on the 9 July 2012 and 
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that  was g iven therefore to Est ina.   So that  grant  due f rom 

DARD for 2012 R30 mi l l ion was paid to them by the 

department.   So that  R30 mi l l ion should be si t t ing up at  the 

top i f  there had not  used i t  at  a l l .   Are you wi th me? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Hundred percent  Chairperson.   I t  would 

have been – I  th ink the way the report  is wr i t ten that  is what  

is misleading in the explaining the opening balance.   This 

opening balance the way I  have interpreted i t  – i t  at  the 

beginning of  the project  but  you are r ight  Chai rperson.   

However – however i f  we saying i t  is the f i rst  – or let  us take 10 

i t  because this report  starts August .   The 1 August  we had 

al ready paid the R30 mi l l ion r ight .   So what was supposed to 

have been shown is to say the R30 mi l l ion came on – came 

in July.   You would have opened in July wi th zero.   You have 

received R30 mi l l ion and then you spent  the R30 mi l l ion.  

Af ter spending the R30 mi l l ion in July in August  how much 

was lef t?  That  much that  was le f t  was the one that  was 

supposed to have appeared there as an opening balance.   

You are r ight  Chai rperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   But  you real ised that  at  the t ime you 20 

were interrogat ing the document not  just  today? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Can you say i t  louder Chai rperson? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   What you are explaining to me where 

we agreed i t  is something that  you yoursel f  real ised when 

you looked at  th is document in  2012/2013.  I t  is not  
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something you are only real is ing now that  we are discussing 

i t  today.  

MS DHLAMINI:   No I  real ised that  but  the other – but  the 

other th ing that  I  considered is to say this report  star ts 2012.   

There are f igures that  was supposed to have shown 20 – for 

July 2012 which does not  appear here.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   In fact ,  i f  I  can take you to – to my 

bundle which real ly speaks to some of  the numbers you have 

here and break down some of  the numbers for you.   I t  might  

be of  some assis tance to the Chairman.  Before I  do that  10 

though I  just  want to – to f ind out  when you look at  

appl icat ion of  funds – so again sundry credi tors you have 

R499 000.00 conf i rmed purchase orders.   Did you interrogate 

what that  R89 mi l l ion was buying?  Was i t  your duty to do 

so? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I t  was not  my duty Chairperson to ask those 

quest ions.   Those quest ions were supposed to be asked by 

the Project  Manager.   As I  have al ready indicated or the 

pol icy has clear ly  stated that  they are the ones who monitor  

th is t ransfers.   They are the ones who were supposed to get  20 

those detai ls.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   When we then look at  the t ractors 

that  were bought I  had real ly just  look at  them at  the 

cumulat ive amount for 2012/2013 R12 mi l l ion.   Mr Basson 

told th is commission that  there were t ractors that  had been 
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purchased by the department and he could not  understand 

why R12 mi l l ion i f  th is is what was spent  was being spent  on 

t ractors when there were t ractors in Vrede that  had been 

bought by the department.   The quest ion is,  would you 

interrogate that?  Would you check on what the department 

had provided just  before the implement ing agent arr ived and 

then say to the implement ing agent,  now do not  forget  we 

have a lready provided 50 t ractors.   We have al ready 

provided etcetera,  etcetera.   So when you start  preparing 

your  accounts take into account  the fact  that  we have 10 

al ready given you certain things.    

MS DHLAMINI:   That  would have been what the Program 

Managers or  the Dist r ict  Di rectors were supposed to have 

done not  the CFO. 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Not  the CFO’s responsibi l i ty? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I t  is not  the CFO’s responsibi l i ty.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Can we very br ief ly because I  – I  

bel ieve that  we have suff ic ient  informat ion on some of  that .   

But  I  just  want to very br ief ly take you to our Reference 

Bundle D.  Reference Bundle D.  20 

MS DHLAMINI:   Is th is one that  is put  here? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Ah-ha.   Which – i t  has the same 

reports and i f  you just  go to page 1 – page 1403 Reference 

Bundle D.  Here we have a breakdown.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Chair  what page Chai rperson? 
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ADV GCABASHE SC:   1403.    

MS DHLAMINI:   Oh okay.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:   So here we have a break.  

CHAIRPERSON:   We looking at  the red numbers now they 

are no black numbers here? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Ja they are the only ones that  are 

there.   These are old Reference Bundles Chai rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Page 1403.  I f  we look at  the top 

again you know that  opening balance where they – they did 10 

not  make an entry.   Can I  just  say that  th is is a quarter ly  

progress report  just  to be c lear so that  I  am not  confusing 

you.   I f  you look at  page 1397 you see the t i t le “Quarter ly 

Progress Report  September 2012”.   But  you wi l l  f ind that  

some of  the f igures are simi lar and I  am real ly just  focusing 

on that  R30m mi l l ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Huh-uh.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   So that  R30 mi l l ion is  there again 

grant  received f rom DARD R30 mi l l ion.   Total  R30 mi l l ion in  

July is that  what that  is.   And that  is correct  because they 20 

got  that  money f rom you in July.  

MS DHLAMINI:   That  is correct  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Then they reserve that  for  par lour 

equipment R29mil l ion of  that .   You see that? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  see that ,  Chairperson.  
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ADV GCABASHE SC:    The reason I  want to know whether  

you would have in terrogated any of  these f igures is  because 

Mr Thabethe to ld us that  the f i rst  R 30 mi l l ion – and I  th ink 

you agreed with him in your evidence before lunch – your  

understanding was that  i t  was supposed to pay for the 

feasib i l i ty study and al l  those prel iminary studies and 

documents and business p lans that  had to be prepared.  

 Here you f ind that  the R 29 mi l l ion of  the R 30 mi l l ion,  

R 29 mi l l ion is put  aside for  pale  equipment.   You would not  

have known about  that?  You think i t  is Distr ict  Services who 10 

should have interrogated that? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  would not  known about that ,  Chai rperson.   

Dist r ict  Services was supposed to know about i t .   However,  

the reports that  are at tached in my aff idavi ts are the reports 

that  I  got  v ia Dist r ict  Services.  So what I  am not  sure of  is 

whether they have seen this part icular report  because I  am 

also seeing i t  for the f i rst  t ime.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  have no di ff icul ty wi th  you seeing i t  

for the f i rst  t ime now Ma’am because we are talk ing about 

the same R 30 mi l l ion that  you say you are fami l iar wi th f rom 20 

your document.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  is why I  actual ly focused on that  

because I  know at  least  you are fami l iar wi th that  f i rst  

R 30 mi l l ion.  
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MS DHLAMINI :    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Not  only wi th the request  but  wi th the 

payment of  that  f i rst  R 30 mi l l ion.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So you. . .  and I  am sure you what  

then is said to have happened to that  f i rst  R 30 mi l l ion that  

you thought was going to  be for those prel iminary exerc ises.   

What I  understand f rom you evidence in any event ,  is  that  

you are saying the bulk of  the interrogat ion of  these 

accounts rested on the shoulders of  Dist r ict  Services.   Am I  10 

correct? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct ,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And the only t ime that  you would be 

involved in interrogat ing any of  these is i f  D ist r ict  Services 

brought that  issue to your at tent ion?  I  am summarising what 

I  understand you to say.  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct ,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Now, I  th ink we wi l l  then leave i t  at  

that  Chairman, un less there are quest ions you want to raise.  

We have deal t  wi th a lot  of  th is mater ia l  wi th some of  the 20 

other wi tnesses.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  just  want to,  again for the sake of  

completeness,  the same reference bundle actual ly wi th. . .  Ms 

Dhlamini ,  I  had promised you that  I  would show Est ina’s  
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bank account and the R 16,98 that  was ref lected in that  bank 

account.   So i f  you go to page.. .  same bundle,  Bundle D, 

page 1453.   

MS DHLAMINI :    1453. . .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And this is real ly just  so that  I  can 

close on this matter,  1453.   And i t  is just  to say to you that  

when we looked at  th is,  the t ransfer of  that  R 30 mi l l ion on 

the 9 t h of  July was a s igni f icant  amount that  went into this  

account because on the 4t h of  July,  just  above that ,  the 

amount there in the account was R 16.98.    10 

 And the only reason we raise the issue is to say,  would 

this have been a signi f icant  issue for you to interrogate,  

consider ing that  you were thinking of  g iv ing Est ina 

R 340 mi l l ion of  government ’s money to use?  One.   

 Two, you knew that  you were t ransferr ing th is money 

di rect ly into Est ina’s account.   Would you have been 

something that  would have worr ied you had you seen this? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Chairperson,  these are some of  the things 

that  I  have said.   Because this is a project  and i t  was 

implemented. . .  i t  was not  money by mysel f .   So. . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  please face this side.   This is qui te 

important .   I  want  to hear.    

MS DHLAMINI :    Oh.   Okay,  Chairperson.   What I  am saying 

is,  because I  was not  the manager of  th is project ,  I  would not  

have known the d istance.   And as I  said,  the pol ic ies were 
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very clear,  we are supposed to manage th is project .   Thank 

you,  Chai r.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And then i t  is just  again to t idy up to  

the loop.   I  had promised you that  I  would show.. . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    But  before you do that  i t  would be part  of  

the responsibi l i ty of  a CFO of  a government department in a 

si tuat ion such as this to ask the quest ion:   This ent i ty that  

you people want  us to. . .  want  the department  to  have a 

partnership wi th,  have you done homework about i t?   

 What. . .  who are the type of  people?  Who are the people 10 

who own i t?  What is thei r  background?  What is th is ent i ty 

involved in?   

 I f  we put  in. . .  i f  we give i t  X mi l l ion rand today,  are we 

not  going to wake up tomorrow and f ind that  i t  is l iqu idated?  

I  would have thought that  that  is part  of  interrogat ion that  a 

CFO must d i rect  h is or her mind to.   Is that  not  correct? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you.   Thank you,  Chai rperson.   

Chairperson,  when this project  was done, we.. .  in hindsight  

you must  st i l l  remember that ,  yes there was a top of  Paras 

here,  a huge company.    20 

 And obviously you would -  because HOD went and meet  

wi th th is people – you would take i t  that  that  due di l igence 

has been done al ready.   So hence I  could not  prove those 

quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay is  your answer therefore that :   Yes, 
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that  is the kind of  interrogat ion one would expect  f rom a CFO 

of  a department? 

MS DHLAMINI :    But  not . . .  yes,  but  not  to an extent  that  you 

would also ask to say . . . [ intervenes]  ‘  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  let  me say this.   Let  me say this.   At  

th is stage,  I  am just  ta lk ing general ,  okay?  Then we can talk 

speci f ic.   I f  you say:   Yes,  that  is  the kind of  interrogat ion 

that  one would normal ly expect  f rom the CFO of  a 

department.    

 And then we can say:   In th is case,  did you do i t?  You 10 

say:   No,  I  d id not  do i t .   Or yes,  I  d id i t .   I f  you did not  do i t ,  

you say:   These are the reasons why I  d id not  do i t .    

 So I  th ink at  a general  level  is the kind of  interrogat ion 

that  would be expected f rom the CFO.  Is that  r ight? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Ja.   Thank you,  Chairperson.   Indeed, that  

is what. . .  because you also have to understand the ent i ty 

that  you are deal ing wi th.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    So you would ask those quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   In th is case,  you did not  ask those 20 

quest ions.  

MS DHLAMINI :    In th is case I  d id not .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And what are the reasons why you did not  

ask the quest ions? 

MS DHLAMINI :    The reasons why I  d id not  ask Chai rperson,  
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because f rom where I  was si t t ing,  we. . .  my focus was more 

on Paras because i t  was a company that  was said to  be the 

one that  is going to provide the technical .    

 Even this project ,  they are the ones who are going to 

invest .   So where I  was si t t ing,  we are deal ing wi th Paras 

and Est ina.    

 So hence I  could not  real ly ask those quest ions.   Let  

alone that  HOD had al ready met wi th those people.   So I  

took i t  that  that  due di l igence has been done.  

CHAIRPERSON:    But  is i t  not  correct  that  the HOD did not  10 

have anything concrete about the. . .  about  Paras other than 

maybe this maybe reputat ion into that  i t  is a very b ig dai ry 

company in India?   

 There was nothing concrete that  he had that  he showed 

you about th is Paras.   I t  was just  general  ta lk.   I t  is a very 

big dai ry company in the world,  in India and nothing more.    

MS DHLAMINI :    Chairperson,  I  f ind i t  d i ff icul t  to answer that  

quest ion because he went there physical ly.   So probably. . .  

hence I  took his words to say this is what happened.  

Because he went there.   He saw this Paras.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  but  remember,  i f  i t  is your 

responsibi l i ty as the CFO to make sure that  i f  you are going 

to use taxpayer ’s money as a department to. . .  when you are 

going to give i t  to  a certain ent i ty,  certain homework must  be 

done.  You must  sat isfy yoursel f  that  that  homework has 
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been done, is i t  not?   

 Otherwise,  you must  say:   I  am sorry.   As CFO I  cannot  

approve this unt i l  th is  homework has been done.  I f  you are 

sat isf ied,  you wi l l  have to do i t  wi thout  my signature.   I  am 

not  sat isf ied.   And I  am the CFO.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Chai rperson,  what I  was sat isf ied wi th  is 

basical ly the coming in of  Paras.   That  made me comfortable 

in th is whole project .    

CHAIRPERSON:    But  my quest ion is,  what was there that  

was concrete about Paras that  was placed before you?  Or is 10 

the posi t ion not  that  you just  had this general  ta lk that  i t  is a 

big company.   I t  is  a dai ry company in India.    

 I t  is  number one or  number two or  number 3 in the wor ld  

in terms of  dai ry  product ion.   But  in terms of  exact ly who 

they were,  who runs them, what their  s i tuat ion is.   You did 

not  have anything,  did you?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  d id not ,  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So you did not  have anything about them. 

You d id not  have anything about Est ina.   And yet ,  you are 

happy to approve a project  that  would involve the department 20 

in such a lot  of  money.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Maybe the other th ing that  we need to 

correct  Chairperson is that  I  d id not  approve the project .    

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  maybe le t  us not . . .  maybe saying 

approve the project  might  be inaccurate.   But  is the posi t ion 
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not  that  no money would have been used - maybe a above a 

certain amount,  I  am not  sure – would have been used for 

th is project  wi thout  the CFO of  the department say ing yes 

this can be done?  

MS DHLAMINI :    No,  th is project  would st i l l  have been done 

Chairperson wi thout  me saying yes i t  can be done.   L ike I  

said,  my. . .  in the main,  my role is  to deal  wi th issues of  the 

budget.   I t  would st i l l  have been done.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  but  in that  case,  i f  you d id not . . .  i f  

you did not  go along.   I f  you thought that  th is was a reckless 10 

way of  spending taxpayers money and you did not  want to  

at tach your signature to i t ,  i f  i t  could be done, i t  would be 

done without  you being involved.   The HOD would have to 

take ful l  responsibi l i ty.   He would not  be able to say:   I  d id 

th is wi th fu l l  guidance f rom the CFO.   

MS DHLAMINI :    Chai rperson,  HOD st i l l  has the power to 

overrule me.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Hence I  have indicated even to say there is  

in instances where he has done that .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   But  in th is case,  he did not  overrule 

you.   You had no problem with being . . . [ intervenes]   

MS DHLAMINI :    The only . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    . . .a party to i t .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Sorry,  Chai rperson.   The only th ing that  I  
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am saying that  I  d id not  do is  maybe asking those pert inent  

quest ions that  the Chai rperson is put t ing to me to say you 

ought to have say:   Give me someth ing concrete.   That  is the 

only th ing I  d id not  do.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   Ms Gcabashe.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Chairman.  Ma’am, I  then 

just  want to. . .  I  made the comment before lunch that  one of  

your responsibi l i t ies is to make sure that  our BEE pol ic ies 10 

and our PPFA,  Preferent ia l  Pol icy Framework Act ,  a l l  of  

those pieces of  legislat ion are compl ied wi th.   I f  you wi l l  go 

on the same Bundle D go to page 1375.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Page?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    1375.   And as you keep your f inger  

there,  i f  you also then go to 1379.2.   Just  keep both pages.   

The simple point  I  have made to you before lunch 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Sorry,  Ms Gcabashe.  Did you say you 

must  start  at  1375? 20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    1375,  si r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Right .   And then also what page? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And then we also look at  1379.   That  

is 1379.2.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay al r ight .    
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ADV GCABASHE SC:    And the simple point  I  made to you is  

that  a lot  of  the money that  you gave to Est ina actual ly went 

to companies that  were not  South Afr ican companies.   So at  

1375,  you have a $5 mi l l ion invoice that  is for:  

-  drawing up and present ing a comprehensive 

feasib i l i ty study,   

-  developing the project  report  and templates and 

systems to ensure compl iance by the cont ractors,   

-  developing and implement systems to manage the 

ent i re project  cycle,   10 

-  d isbursement for professional  fees.    

 $5 mi l l ion dol lars.   In anybody’s world i t  is a lo t  of  

money to pay to  consul tants when we have our own local  

people who could have done this work.   VKB happens to be 

the example I  gave you ear l ier on.    

 So that  is the f i rst  one I  want to point  you to.   Same 

point ,  i f  you look at  1379.2.   You have the t imesheet  of  some 

very learned sounding people.   A few doctors here,  et  cetera.   

“Pro ject  del iverable.   Project  feasibi l i ty study. ”  

 So what I  have assume is that  that  $5 mi l l ion Dol lars US 20 

paid these people.   Now I  am very sure that  none of  them 

were South Afr ican.    

MS DHLAMINI :    [supressed laughing]  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So again a lot  of  money going out  of  

the country where the expert ise that  they had,  I  am very 
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sure,  we could have found in the country.    

 So as the Chairman put  i t  ear l ier,  had off ic ia ls being 

doing this work,  we would not  be paying $5 mi l l ion US 

Dol lars for a feasibi l i ty study.   I  do not  know i f  you have any 

comment at  al l  on this part icular aspect? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  do not  have a comment,  Chai rperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  had also said to you ear l ier on that  

there was that  memo to the premier  that  had the R 17 mi l l ion 

budget i tem on i t .   And you wanted to bel ieve i t  was budget.   

You just  wanted c lar i ty on what the R 17 mi l l ion represented.   10 

You wi l l  f ind that  at  page,  same bundle,  1323.   And that  wi l l  

be at  paragraph 2.3 which reads. . .   Are you at  1323? 

MS DHLAMINI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I t  is a memo, a copy of ,  to the 

premier,  the Honourable E S Magashule,  Free State 

Provincial  Government.   Are you there? 

MS DHLAMINI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Have you got  the document? 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sorry,  Ms Gcabashe.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes,  s i r?  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay the page number was not  c lear.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Legible? 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink I  am there.   Ja.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Are you there,  Ms Dhlamini? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am here,  Chai rperson. .  
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ADV GCABASHE SC:    At  paragraph 2.3.   This is  what I  

wanted to clar i fy because you asked the quest ion.   I t  reads 

that :  

“The al located budget of  R 17 mi l l ion for  the 

complet ion of  three dai ry plants would only be 

suff ic ient  to cover the in i t iat ion phases of  the 

project .   Hence there is  a  need for a st rategic 

partner  to partner  wi th the department for the 

complet ion of  the project  wi thin the speci f ied per iod 

comprehensively cover the value chain in  terms of  10 

markets,  further  inputs and other unintended 

occurrences. . . ”  

 So I  was just  point ing out  that  i t  says here the al located 

budget of  R 17 mi l l ion.   I  hope that  sat isf ies your quest ion.   

You wanted to know what the R 17 mi l l ion mean.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sorry.   Just  repeat  your quest ion.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Look,  she. . .  Ms Dhlamini  had asked 

for me to explain what the R 17 mi l l ion represented.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So I  am point ing out  that  i t  is  an 20 

al located budget.    

MS DHLAMINI :    Chai rperson,  I  was not  aware of  th is 

budget.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes,  and in nowhere in th is 

documentat ion is  th is budget ref lected e i ther.   As you 
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correct ly say,  i t  was R 9 mi l l ion and then another R 3 mi l l ion 

for Vrede.   At  most ,  there was about R 12.5 to R 13 mi l l ion 

for the Vrede,  the l i t t le bi t  of  Vrede Dairy Projects,  the 

di fferent  parts in the f inancial  year 2011/2012.  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  wi l l  be ‘12/ ’13.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    ‘12/ ’13?   

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    My apologies.   You are correct .   I t  

was 2011/2012 there was nothing.   ‘12/ ’13.   Next  there were 

would have been R 13 mi l l ion.   So you know nothing about  10 

the R 17 mi l l ion having been budgeted for? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thanks.   That  helps to clear that  one 

up.   Then I  th ink we should very br ief ly deal  wi th that  

deviat ion.   That  deviat ion that  has created so many 

quest ions f rom everybody.    

 You had. . .  annexed to your documents,  the approval  

which we have deal t  wi th.   By the deviat ion memo that  we 

are interested in now is on page 1349 and i t  runs up to 1352 

of  the same reference Bundle D.   20 

MS DHLAMINI :    Can you repeat  the pages Chair?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    1349 and the second page, the 

signature page is 1352.    

MS DHLAMINI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Now this  is the deviat ion memo and I  
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wi l l  just  quickly  summarise.   That  doctor Masi teng said he 

was asked by the HOD, Mr Thabethe to prepare.   The 

approval  that  you had referred the Chai rman to ear l ier on 

that  you signed off  on the 26t h of  May,  had not  included a 

deviat ion.    

 So this is the f i rst  document that  includes a proposal  

that  you deviate f rom your supply chain management 

processes.    

 The quest ion for you Ma’am is.   What did you 

understand that  you were recommending when you s igned 10 

this document and the signature?  Your signature,  you wi l l  

f ind on page 1352.   

MS DHLAMINI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So this is the recommendat ion.    

“ I t  is recommended that  approval  is granted by the 

Head of  the Department to:  

1.  Accept  the proposal  f rom Est ina Paras wi th 

regards to the establ ishment of  integrated dairy in  

Vrede.  

 That  is s imi lar to  the approval  document that  you had 20 

signed upon. 

2.  Enter into a memorandum of  agreement wi th 

Est ina Paras to  implement the dairy project  in  

Vrede.  

 That  is a new one. 



02 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 259 
 

Page 186 of 270 
 

3.  To deviate f rom the normal supply chain 

management processes and procedure and appoint  

Est ina Paras to implement establ ish the integrated 

dairy in Vrede.  

 I  just  want you to help us understand your role.   Was i t  a 

broad or narrow role?  Take us through that  please,  Ma’am.   

MS DHLAMINI :    Chairperson,  as I  have indicated that  every 

submission that  has got  a f inancial  impl icat ion wi l l  come to 

the CFO.  I  had al ready deal t  wi th the f inancial  impl icat ion of  

th is project .   I  wish not  to repeat  i t  i f  the Chai rperson 10 

agrees.    

 I  wi l l  only deal  wi th the deviat ion part  of  th is project  

especial ly,  i t  is  also my role to ensure compl iance in  terms of  

the supply chain management pol ic ing through supply chain 

management.    

 So in looking this deviat ion where i t  wi l l  be saying or  

where the purpose is to deviate f rom the normal supply chain 

management processes and procedure to appoint  Est ina 

Paras to implement.    

 One of  the things when you deal  wi th the deviat ion,  you 20 

deal  wi th deviat ion in terms of  Treasury Regulat ion 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    16A.  

MS DHLAMINI :    16(4) . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Capi tal  A.  
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MS DHLAMINI :    I  th ink 16(4)(a) r ight  in conjunct ion wi th 

supply chain management pol icy.   I  am aware Chai rperson 

there was Ci rcular 6 of  2006. . .  7 and 8 or 6 and 7.   I  cannot  

remember.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  th ink i t  is 2008 i f  my memory 

serves me wel l .  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  th ink i t  is 7 and 8.   6 or 7 and 8.   Yes,  

Chairperson.   Both three,  they talk to how you handle the 

deviat ion.   I t  says when the. . .  I  w ish to . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  you want  to  have a look at  the relevant  10 

document,  you. . .  feel  f ree.  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  wish to read,  Chairperson i f  I  can be 

provided,  i f  I  can be assisted?  There is a Treasury 

Regulat ion . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja,  okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    . . . in one of  these documents.   I  do not  have 

i t  wi th me.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  I  th ink. . .  counsel  wi l l  assist  you.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So you are looking for the pract ice 

note? 20 

MS DHLAMINI :    No,  the pract ice note Chai r  wi l l  st i l l  ta lk the 

same language as the Treasury regulat ion as the pol icy.   

What I  wanted to  read into record is that  paragraph of  the 

Treasury Regulat ion.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Are you saying that  i f  Ms Gcabashe has 
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got  the Treasury Note,  the wording would be the same? 

MS DHLAMINI :    The word ing would be the same.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So you do not  mind reading the Treasury 

Note? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  i f  the Treasury Note. . .  that  Treasury 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Note wi th the informat ion.  

MS DHLAMINI :    . . .which refers to in the note.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja.  

MS DHLAMINI :    The wording would be the same.  I  can st i l l  10 

read f rom i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you,  Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I f  I  may just  ask for a two minutes’ 

indulgence Chair  to f ind i t?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja,  okay.   Okay.   I  th ink counsel  for. . .  is  

giv ing assistance.   Or not  real ly? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Whi le Advocate Molefe f inds i t  for us,  

maybe I  can ask you one or two quest ions and we wi l l  come 

back to that .   A l l  I  want  to know real ly is,  d id you read the 20 

submission closely before you signed i t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  d id read i t  Chai rperson.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    You did? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  d id,  Chai rperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And did you t ry and f ind out  – I  am 
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using one example r ight  now – for instance about the land in 

Vrede?  Now the Phumelela Municipal i ty only signed off  on 

the land lease in  December of  2012.   We are here in the 

per iod May/June 2012.   

 So i t  is one thing for the department to have ident i f ied 

land.   There was no certa inty that  you were going to get  that  

land.    

 Are those the kind of  quest ions you would be asking of  

the Chief  Di rector  or anybody else?  Are you gent lemen sure 

that  th is th ings is going to work because we wi l l  get  th is 10 

land? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  would not  have asked those quest ions,  

Chairperson.   As I  sa id,  I  would have look at  the f inancial  

impl icat ion of  th is submission.   I  would also look at  the 

reasons why they want to deviate.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And then the other one would,  of  

course,  be Paras.   Because of  you look at  the memorandum 

of  understanding between Est ina and Paras.   Paras was very 

clear  that  there was not  going to be partnership,  i t  was not  

going to be a JB.  They were coming in as a sub-cont ractor.    20 

 They were happy to work on the Vrede Dai ry Farm 

Project  but  as a sub-contractor.   Is that  what you understood 

Paras’s ro le to be when you were signing off  on this,  that  

they wi l l  be brought in as sub-cont ractors? 

MS DHLAMINI :    To be honest  Chairperson,  I  asked for the 
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memorandum.  I  looked at  i t  but  I  d id not  go into al l  the 

detai ls of  that  memorandum but  I  have seen that  there was 

that  memorandum.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  when you are supposed to 

recommend or approve such issues wi th such f inancia l  

impl icat ions,  why do you not  go into detai ls in reading such a 

memorandum? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson,  i t  i s  because what  I  am 

look ing  a t  i s  the  f inanc ia l  imp l ica t ion  fo r  the  depar tment ,  

what  the  depar tment  wou ld  spend on th is  p ro jec t .   But  I  10 

must  say  maybe  on h inds igh t  I  was supposed to  go  in to  

deeper  de ta i l s  o f  tha t  memoranda wh ich  I  d id  no t  do .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:     So  you were  look ing  fo r  Treasury  

Regu la t ion  8  or  were  you look ing  fo r  Treasury  Regu la t ion  

16?  

MS DHLAMINI :    16 ,  Cha i rperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    16 .   I t  i s  in  the  leg is la t ion  bund le ,  

Cha i rman,  bu t  because i t  i s  a  leg is la t ion  bund le  i t  i s  no t  

numbered,  i t  has  no t  go t  page numbers .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  th ink  you  do not  have to  g ive  i t  to  20 

me,  i f  somebody w i l l  read a loud tha t  w i l l  be  enough.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  can .   Can I  g ive  i t  to  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    To  the  w i tness,  ja .    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    To  the  w i tness.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  f ine .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I s  tha t  the  document  you are  

look ing  fo r?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So  16 reads:  

“Pub l ic ,  p r i va te  par tne rsh ips . ”  

I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    No,  i t  i s  16A 6 .4 ,  i t  dea ls  w i th  supp ly  

cha in  management .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Th is  one,  I  have got  i t  here ,  I  w i l l  10 

f ind  i t .   You are  look ing  a t  16A?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Ja ,  we are  look ing  a t  16A wh ich  dea ls  

w i th  supp ly  cha in  management .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  have i t ,  yes .  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am go ing  to  read 16A 6 .4 :  

“ I f  in  a  spec i f i c  case i t  i s  impract ica l  to  inv i te  

compet i t i ve  b ids  the  account ing  o f f i cer  o r  

account ing  au thor i t y  may procure  the  requ i red  

goods or  se rves by  o ther  means prov ided tha t  the  

reasons fo r  dev ia t ing  f rom inv i t ing  compet i t i ve  b ids  20 

must  be  recorded and approved by  the  account ing  

o f f i cer  o r  account ing  au thor i t y. ”  

I  have appended  my s ignature  on  the  s ignature  – on  th is  

submiss ion  on  the  bas is  o f  th is  par t i cu la r  c lause in  the  

Treasury  Regu la t ion .  
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ADV GCABASHE SC:    Bu t  can I  ask  you to  pause jus t  

there?  The HOD had not  approved i t  ye t ,  the  account ing  

o f f i cer  had not  approved i t  ye t .   The account ing  o f f i cer  was  

wa i t ing  fo r  recommendat ion  f rom you.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Can you repeat  your  quest ion ,  I  d id  no t  

ge t  i t?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The account ing  o f f i cer  had not  

approved i t  ye t .   The account ing  o f f i cer  was wa i t ing  fo r  a  

recommendat ion  f rom yourse l f .  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am say ing ,  Cha i rperson,  I  have  s igned 10 

the  recommendat ion  on  the  bas is  o f  th is  par t i cu la r  sec t ion  

o f  the  Treasury  Regu la t ion .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And what  I  am say ing  to  you,  

Ma ’am,  i s  th is  says where  i t  i s  approved by  the  account ing  

o f f i ce r.   A t  your  leve l ,  a t  the  po in t  a t  wh ich  you a re  

recommending,  he  has no t  o r  she has no t  as  ye t  approved  

i t  bu t  you are  app ly ing  your  m ind as  the  CFO to  whether  o r  

no t  the  HOD shou ld  approve i t .   So  the  fac t  i s  you look a t ,  

a re  very  d i f fe ren t  because  you are  mak ing  a  

recommendat ion  and i f  the  HOD then approves i t  then the  20 

HOD can re ly  on  th is  p rov is ion ,  maybe.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Oh,  I  –  thank you,  Cha i rperson,  I  th ink  I  

unders tand tha t  my –  s imp ly  the  advocate  i s  say ing  my 

s ignature  came before  the  HOD’s  s ignatu re .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  
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MS DHLAMINI :    True .   That  i s  t rue ,  Cha i rpe rson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And w i th  tha t  your  cons ide ra t ion  o f  

re levant  and mater ia l  fac ts  re la t ing  to  th is  dev ia t ion  came 

before  the  HOD made up h is  m ind f ina l l y.   Techn ica l l y,  

anyway,  tha t  i s  how I  see i t .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Which  br ings us  back to  –  I  w i l l  use  

the  Cha i rperson ’s  word ,  jus t i f i ca t ion .   What  was then your  

jus t i f i ca t ion  because you cannot  re ly  on  16A 6 .4 .  

MS DHLAMINI :    As  I  have a l ready  even a l luded in  my f i rs t  10 

a f f idav i t ,  when I  looked a t  th is  approva l  and th is  dev ia t ion .   

Honest ly,  I  was look ing  f rom the  po in t  o f  v iew o f  Est ina  

Paras ar rangement .   I  am mindfu l  o f  what  the  Cha i rpe rson  

has quest ioned me to  say bu t  you d id  no t  have concre te  

in fo rmat ion .   Wi th  tha t  in  m ind,  bu t  I  am say ing  my main  

in te res t  was w i th  the  investment  tha t  Paras was go ing  to  

b r ing  in  the  Vrede Da i ry  i n  the  Free S ta te  and a lso  –  yes,  

in  the  main  i t  was because o f  the  investment  tha t  was sa id  

to  say they are  go ing  to  invest  in to  tha t  p ro jec t  and i f  tha t  

p ro jec t  cou ld  have mater ia l i sed  the  way i t  was in tended,  I  20 

was a lso  look ing  a t  the  oppor tun i t ies  tha t  i f  tha t  p ro jec t  ge t  

o f f ,  ge t  imp lemented,  there  w i l l  be  issues o f  job  crea t ion  

fo r  the  communi t y  o f  Vrede and Vrede,  i t  i s  a  very  ru ra l  

a rea  and the re  is  no  issues o f  –  o r  job  oppor tun i t ies ,  there  

is  no t  a  lo t  o f  job  oppor tun i t ies  in  tha t  a rea ,  in  tha t  town.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  …[ in te rvenes]  

MS DHLAMINI :    So I  look  a t  those th ings and 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  do  no t  unders tand your  answer,  

Ms Dh lamin i .  o r  your  exp lanat ion  o f  your  dec is ion  because,  

as  I  unders tand i t ,  we are  look ing  a t  whether  th i s  was a  

case where  dev ia t ion  shou ld  have been recommended,  i s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  r igh t ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Now whe ther  a  company is  go ing  10 

to  b r ing  investment  and whatever,  i s  i t  o f  any re levance to  

the  quest ion  whether  what  you have befo re  jus t i f ies  

dev ia t ion?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Okay,  Cha i rperson,  maybe le t  me answer  

i t  d i rec t l y  because what  I  was t ry ing  to  exp la in  i s ,  i t  says  i f  

i t  i s  no t  p rac t ica l  to  inv i te  b ids ,  the  reasons shou ld  be  

recorded why you are  dev ia t ing .   So I  am say ing  w i th  

regard  to  the  reasons tha t  were  recorded here ,  I  looked a t  

the  exp lanat ion  o f  the  job  oppor tun i t ies  tha t  the  Vrede  

Da i ry  Pro jec t  i s  go ing  to  b r ing  in  t ha t  a rea ,  I  looked a t  the 20 

issue o f  the  investment  tha t  Paras was go ing  to  b r ing  and 

because Paras was coming w i th  an  investment ,  fo r  me i t  

makes i t  no t  p rac t ica l  to  sub jec t  somebody who is  go ing  to  

invest  in to  a  b idd ing  process.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ms Dh lamin i ,  a re  you sure  tha t  i s  the 
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answer  you a re  g i v ing  me? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  tha t  i s  the  answer  tha t  I  am g iv ing  

you,  Cha i rperson ,  to  say I  was spec i f i ca l l y  concerned w i th  

the  investment  tha t  Paras was go ing  to  b r ing  and  look ing  

a t  tha t  to  say the  submiss ion  says  Paras is  go ing  to  invest  

and fo r  me i t  i s  no t  p rac t i ca l  to  sub jec t  tha t  to  b idd ing  

process.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Hang on,  Ms Dh lamin i ,  I  am not  look ing  

a t  tha t  p rov is ion  in  f ron t  o f  me,  so  I  am re ly ing  on  what  you 

read.   As  I  unders tand i t ,  i t  says  i f  i t  i s  no t  p rac t ica l ,  I  10 

assume to  do  an  open tender,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?   In  e f fec t  

tha t  i s  what  i t  means.   Then you may dev ia te .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  i f  i t  i s  no t  p rac t ica l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Can I  have a  look a t  tha t  p rov i s ion  

p lease so  tha t  I  do  no t  m is lead you .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Cha i rman,  the  qu ickest  way  s imp ly  

to  g ive  you my PFMA.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    A re  we ta l k ing  about  16A,  6 .4?  

CHAIRPERSON:    The one tha t  she red .  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The one tha t  you a re  re l y ing  on .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  16A,  6 .4 .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thanks fo r  the  indu lgence,  

Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.   16A.6  dea ls  w i th  
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p rocu rement  o f  goods and serv ice  and 16A.6 .  6  says:  

“ I f  in  a  spec i f i c  case i t  i s  impract ica l  to  inv i te  

compet i t i ve  b ids ,  the  accoun t ing  o f f i cer  o r  

account ing  au thor i t y  may procure  the  requ i red  

goods or  serv ices  by  o ther  means  prov ided tha t  the  

reasons fo r  dev ia t ing  f rom inv i t ing  compet i t i ve  b ids  

must  be  recorded and approved by  the  account ing  

o f f i cer  o r  account ing  au thor i t y. ”  

Do you agree w i th  me tha t  what  th is  p rov is ion  says is  tha t  

you may,  as  an  account ing  au thor i t y,  account ing  o f f i cer,  10 

dev ia te  f rom inv i t ing  compet i t i ve  b ids  i f  i t  i s  imprac t ica l  to  

inv i te  compet i t i ve  b ids?  Do you accept  tha t  tha t  i s  what  i t  

means?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Now what  i s  your  unders tand ing  o f  

what  i t  means to  say i t  i s  impract ica l  to  inv i te  compet i t i ve  

b ids?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am say ing  f rom my unders tand ing  o f  

what  made th is  to  be  prac t ica l  i s  the  fac t  tha t  

…[ in tervenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    What  made i t  to  be…? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Impract ica l ,  no t  p rac t ica l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Not  p rac t ica l ,  i s  the  fac t  tha t  Paras was 

go ing  to  –  i t  i s  sa id  tha t  Paras was go ing  to  invest  200  
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Ma ’am in  th is  p ro jec t .   So what  I  am say ing ,  Cha i rperson,  I  

found i t  no t  p rac t ica l  f rom the  po in t  where  I  was s i t t ing  to  

say how do I  sub jec t  and investment  to  a  b idd ing  process,  

maybe there  is  a  way I  wou ld  learn  bu t  a t  tha t  po in t  in  t ime 

I  found i t  no t  p rac t ica l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ms Dh lamin i ,  impract ica l  i t  cannot  

phys i ca l l y  be  done o r  i t  cannot  –  i t  i s  d i f f i cu l t  to  do  and  

what  th is  i s  ta l k ing  about  i s  inv i t ing  –  i t  i s  imprac t ica l  to  

inv i te  o ther  peop le  to  pu t  in  b ids .   Now you cou ld  have sa id  

we are  go ing  to  inv i te  o the r  peop le ,  o ther  en t i t ies  to  pu t  in  10 

the i r  b ids  and Para /Est ina  w i l l  pu t  in  the i r  b ids .   I f  i t  tu rns  

ou t  tha t  i t  i s  –  the i r  b id  i s  the  best  b id  then tha t  i s  f ine ,  

there  was noth ing  impract ica l  about  inv i t ing  o ther  b ids  

here .    

 You cou ld  send out  a  no t ice  and say th is  i s  what  we  

want  to  do ,  a l l  those ent i t ies  who th ink  they come in  and 

do th is ,  they must  pu t  in  the i r  b ids  and Paras and Est ina  

cou ld  fee l  f ree  to  a lso  pu t  in  the i r  b id .   There  was noth ing  

impract ica l ,  I  do  no t  unders tand your  answer.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson,  maybe I  am coming f rom the  20 

background tha t  says a l ready th rough the  consu l ta t ions  on  

Mohuma Mobung ,  HOD had ind i ca ted  tha t  a t  some po in t  

th is  concept  was bounced w i th  o ther  en t i t ies  in  the  count ry  

o f  p resent ing  Mohuma Mobung as  a  s t ra tegy.   So in  ge t t ing  

the  fund ing  fo r  d i f fe ren t  p ro jec ts ,  Vrede Da i ry  be ing  one o f  
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those.   Sure ly  the  en t i t ies  w i l l  be  those who a re  in  da i ry  

bus iness l i ke  your  Parmala t ,  you r  Nest le  and the  ind ica t ion  

f rom the  HOD was he has a l ready  made tha t  p resenta t ion  

and nobody shown in te res t  hence he went  ou ts ide  the  

count ry  to  go  and  look fo r  the  investment .   Rea l ly,  I  looked  

a t  th is  d iv is ion  f rom tha t  po in t  o f  v iew tha t  HOD went  a l l  

over,  a l l  ou t ,  to  go  to  ou ts ide  the  count ry  to  ge t  investment  

because he cou ld  no t  ge t  tha t  investment  in  th is  count ry.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  coming back to  whethe r  i t  was 

impract ica l  to  inv i te  o ther  en t i t ies  to  pu t  in  the i r  b ids ,  do  10 

you not  accept  tha t  there  was noth ing  impract ica l  about  

tha t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  why I  am say ing ,  Cha i rperson,  I  

was look ing  a t  t he  po in t  o f  jus t  an  investment ,  somebody 

has a l ready –  i s  a l ready say ing  I  am go ing  to  invest ,  so  

f rom the  po in t  o f  v iew where  I  am s i t t ing ,  i s  i f  I  –  le t  us  say  

you inv i te  those,  th is  person might  say  bu t  I  have  a l ready  

vo lun tee red to  do  tha t ,  he  m ight  no t  even have in te res t  any  

longer.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  you …[ in tervenes]  20 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  how I  look  –  tha t  i s  f rom the  ang le  

tha t  I  looked a t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t ,  Ms Dh lamin i ,  you te l l  them here  we  

do th ings accord ing  to  the  l aw and the  law says we must  

inv i te  compet i t i ve  b ids  un less  i t  i s  impract ica l  to  inv i te  
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them.   I  f ind  no th ing  impract ica l  in  th is  case to  inv i te  

compet i t i ve  b ids  and you,  Paras and Est ina ,  a re  f ree  to  pu t  

in  you r  b id  as  we l l .  

MS DHLAMINI :    You inv i te ,  Cha i rperson,  compet i t i ve  

b idd ing ,  b ids ,  when you acqu i re  a  serv i ce .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now you are  go ing  to  someth ing  e lse  

and we w i l l  go  to  tha t ,  I  am ta lk ing  about  whethe r  i t  was  

impract ica l  to  inv i te  compet i t i ve  b ids ,  tha t  i s  what  we a re  

dea l ing  w i th  now.   A re  you s t i l l  i ns is t ing  tha t  i t  was  

impract ica l  to  inv i te  compet i t i ve  b ids  in  th is  case?  10 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  looked a t  i t  as  be ing  impract ica l ,  

Cha i rperson,  as  I  sa id  tha t  because I  was look ing  a t  the  

investment  par t  o f  i t ,  no th ing  e lse .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   Do you accept  my unders tand ing  

o f  what  impract ica l  means?  

MS DHLAMINI :    No,  I  unders tand,  I  unders tand,  the  

Cha i rperson ’s… 

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  i t  you r  unders tand ing  as  we l l  o r  do  

you have a  d i f fe ren t  unders tand ing  o f  the  word  impract ica l?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I t  i s  a lso  my unders tand ing  tha t  when you 20 

say someth ing  is  impract ica l  i t  means i t  i s  no t  p rac t ica l  to  

can inv i te  the  b ids .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .   Now le t  us  take  i t  s tep -by-

s tep ,  i s  there  anyth ing  tha t  cou ld  have prevented the  

depar tment  f rom issu ing  whatever  documents  i t  had to  
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i ssue to  inv i te  compet i t i ve  b ids .   P rac t ica l l y,  i s  there  

anyth ing  tha t  wou ld  have prevented them f rom do ing  tha t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    No,  there  is  no th ing  tha t  cou ld  have 

prevented the  depar tment  to  do  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes and i f  the  depar tment  had done tha t  

then i f  nobody showed in te res t  except  Paras and  Est ina  

then you wou ld  have compl ied  w i th  the  law because you 

wou ld  have inv i ted  b ids  and on ly  Paras and Est ina  showed 

in te res t ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  r igh t ,  Cha i rperson.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  i f  o ther  en t i t ies  pu t  in  the i r  b ids  

w i th in  the  t ime tha t  you wou ld  have s t ipu la ted ,  inc lud ing  

Paras,  then those b ids  wou ld  be  ad jud ica ted  and i f  Paras  

and Est ina  won,  so  be  i t ,  i s  i t  no t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  so ,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  g iven tha t  you accept  tha t  the  th ings  

tha t  the  depar tment  wou ld  have to  do  in  o rder  to  inv i te  

compet i t i ve  b ids  cou ld  have been  done and whoever  was  

in te res ted  cou ld  have put  in  b ids .   Do you s t i l l  say  i t  was  

impract ica l  fo r  the  depar tment  to  inv i te  compet i t i ve  b ids .  20 

MS DHLAMINI :    Okay,  i t  was  not  impract ica l  fo r  the  

depar tment  to  can do tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Bu t  I  am say ing  in  these par t i cu la r  

ins tances the  company Paras has a l ready shown in te res t  
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and tha t  i s  company tha t  HOD wanted to  dea l  w i th  tha t  he  

has a l ready sourced the  investment  fo rm.   So I  am say ing  

when I  was look ing  a t  the  submiss ion  w i th  the  background 

tha t  they g ive  to  say because the re  is  a l ready an in te res t  

shown in  th is  regard .   That  i s  wha t  made me to  accept  th is  

dev ia t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  you are  no t  say ing  to  me,  a re  you,  

tha t  i f  a  par t i cu la r  en t i t y  has a l ready shown in te res t  then i t  

i s  permiss ib le  to  dev ia te  f rom inv i t ing  compet i t i ve  b ids .   

That  i s  no t  wha t  you are  say ing  or  i s  i t  what  you are  10 

say ing?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Ja ,  tha t  i s  no t  what  I  was say ing .   I  am 

not  say ing  i t  i s  permiss ib le  bu t  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  what  i s  the  re levance o f  tha t  par t  o f  

your  ev idence,  why a re  you te l l ing  me tha t  in  the  contex t  o f  

me want ing  to  f ind  ou t  whether  there  was  proper  

jus t i f i ca t ion  fo r  dev ia t ion  in  te rms o f  th is  p rov i s ion  because 

tha t  i s  the  p rov is ion  you re fe r red  us  to ,  to  say you ac ted  in  

te rms o f  th is  p robab ly.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson,  as  I  sa id  to  say yes,  I  hear  20 

your  exp lanat ion  o f  the  impract ica l i t y,  the  dev ia t ion  –  tha t  

how you exp la in  i t ,  bu t  I  am say ing  tha t  i s  how I  v iewed i t ,  

to  say  the re  was a l ready a  company tha t  i s  here  tha t  want  

to  invest  and I  looked a t  the  p rospects  o f  the  investments ,  

what  i s  i t  tha t  i t  i s  go ing  to  b r ing  and I  then rea l i sed tha t  
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on  th is  bas is  the re  is  reasons tha t  a re  reco rded why HOD 

is  dev ia t ing  f rom the  SCM processes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  te l l  me i f  I  m isunders tand your  

ev idence,  bu t  what  you are  say ing  is ,  your  approach or  

your  unders tand ing  was tha t  you a l lowed or  the  depar tment  

was a l lowed to  dev ia te  f rom inv i t ing  compet i t i ve  b ids  where  

there  was an ent i t y  tha t  had a l ready shown in te res t .   That  

i s  what  I  unders tand you to  be  say ing .   I s  my 

unders tand ing  co r rec t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i rperson,  shown in te res t  to  10 

invest .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  to  invest .   You accept  tha t  tha t  i s  

no t  in  the  c lause tha t  you sa id  you  re ly  on?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  was your  own th ing .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you ,  Cha i rperson,  I  w i l l  j us t  

p ick  up  on one las t  i ssue but  I  th ink  i t  i s  a  po in t  tha t  you  

have conceded in  your  conc lud ing  parag raphs o f  your  f i rs t  20 

a f f idav i t  where  you agree,  Ms Dh lamin i ,  tha t  you ought  to  

have in fo rmed the  Prov inc ia l  Treasury  and the  Aud i to r -

Genera l  w i th in  10  days o f  the  dev ia t ion ,  tha t  you  had in  

fac t  dev ia ted .   You concede tha t  you –  I  th ink  the  word  you 

used he re  is  you er red  in  no t  do ing  tha t .   You conf i rm tha t  
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tha t  i s  your  v iew,  tha t  you shou ld  have in fo rmed those  

par t i cu la r  par t ies .  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  I  conceded,  Cha i rperson.   No,  we d id 

no t  do  i t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And you ought  to  have done so .  

MS DHLAMINI :    We ought  to  have  done i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And why d id  you  not  do  i t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson,  i t  i s  one o f  th ings tha t  

becomes an overs igh t  in  the  processes.   As  I  have a l ready 

a l luded to ,  tha t  i n  f inance,  in  the  un i t  tha t  I  had,  you had 10 

supp ly  cha in  management  and you have another  un i t .   So 

th is  wou ld  have been repor ted  by  tha t  un i t  and most  o f  

those repor ts  where  you repor t ,  they  necessar i l y  no t  come 

to  me because there  is  fo rmat  in  wh ich  they a re  repor ted .   

So not  a lways tha t  –  maybe I  have taken i t  fo r  g ran ted tha t  

i t  has  been repor ted ,  l i ke  any o the r  dev ia t ion .   Hence,  I  am 

say ing  i t  i s  one o f  those overs igh t  th ings  tha t  wou ld  be  par t  

o f  one s top  when  you are  ensur ing  tha t  someth ing  shou ld  

happen.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  you –  I  take  i t  tha t  you wou ld  accept  20 

a  respons ib i l i t y  fo r  the  fac t  tha t  there  was no compl iance  

w i th  tha t  pa r t  because i t  was pa r t  o f  you r  respons ib i l i t i es ,  

as  I  unders tand  the  pos i t ion ,  to  ensure  tha t  the re  was  

proper  imp lementa t ion  o f  supp ly  cha in  management  

po l i c ies .  
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MS DHLAMINI :    Can you  repeat  you r  quest ion ,  

Cha i rperson?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you accept  the  respons ib i l i t y  fo r  no t  

check ing  tha t  tha t  approva l  f rom Treasury  was obta ined  

because i t  was your  respons ib i l i t y  as  CFO to  make su re  

tha t  the  SCM po l icy  o f  the  depar tment  was proper ly  

imp lemented.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    In  th is  case,  Cha i rperson,  i t  i s  no t  

a  mat te r  o f  ge t t ing  an  approva l  to  Treasury,  i t  i s  a  mat te r  o f  

repor t ing  tha t  there  is  th is  inc ident  in  the  depar tment  10 

where  we have dev ia ted ,  so  you p lace on records and you  

even g ive  the  record  –  i t  i s  no t  necessar i l y  tha t  you are  

seek ing  the  approva l  o f  the  Treasury,  i t  i s  par t  o f  the  th ings 

tha t  you must  repor t  tha t  has happened.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  but  you take  respons ib i l i t y  fo r  the 

fac t  tha t  tha t  was  not  done?  

MS DHLAMINI :    No,  I  am tak ing  the  fu l l  respons ib i l i t y  tha t  

i t  was not  done,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And you rea l i se  tha t  i t  i s  –  one  20 

cou ld  in te rp re t  tha t  as  the  pro jec t  then,  the  money spent  

on  the  pro jec t ,  be ing  i r regu lar,  f ru i t less  and was te fu l  o r  

i r regu lar  expend i tu re  because you d id  no t  fo l low  a l l  the 

s teps you were  asked to  fo l low in  te rms o f  the  presc r ip ts .   

Would  tha t  be  i r regu lar  expend i tu re?  
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MS DHLAMINI :    No,  th is  e lement  wou ld  no t  cause  

i r regu lar  expend i tu re ,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Why not ,  Ma ’am? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Because i t  i s  no t  –  what  causes i r regu lar  

expend i tu re  i s  i t  you  cont rac t  in  a  par t i cu la r  law,  tha t  

repor t ing  w i th in  10  days,  i t  i s  no t  in  any law.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I t  i s  in  the  prac t ice  no tes .    You 

wou ld  agree w i th  me? 

MS DHLAMINI :    [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imu l taneous ly ]  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    In  fac t  i t  i s  p rac t ice  -  Nat iona l  10 

Treasury  prac t ice  no te  6  o f  2007 and 2008.  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rperson,  bu t  i t  has  to  

be  repor ted  under  noncompl iance not  a  cont ravent ion  –  

cont raven ing  any  par t i cu la r  law because the  law we mean  

the  Act  tha t  wou ld  have been gone th rough the  par l iament .   

That  i s  what  g i ves  r i se  to  i r regu lar  expend i tu re  bu t  the  

repor t ing  issues,  they are  jus t  to  be  repor ted  under  

noncompl iance,  they do  not  cause i r regu lar  expend i tu re .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  i s  f ine ,  we w i l l  be  tak ing  a  

v iew when we make our  submiss ions bu t  i t  i s  good to  hear  20 

your  v iew on whether  i t  wou ld  o r  no t  const i tu te  i r regu lar  

expend i tu re .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  …[ in tervenes]  

MS DHLAMINI :    Maybe I  need to  –  maybe I  need… 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  cont inue?  
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MS DHLAMINI :    Maybe I  need to  ind ica te ,  Cha i rperson,  

tha t  th is  mat te r  o f  i r regu la r  expend i tu re ,  noncompl iance,  i t  

was d iscussed a t  length  in  one o f  our  CFO forum,  to  tha t  

ex ten t ,  i t  i s  jus t  tha t  I  do  no t  have  tha t  document  w i th  me.   

To  tha t  ex ten t  we were  g iven gu ide l ines  f rom Nat iona l  

Treasury  espec ia l l y  when  you are  dea l ing  w i th  f inanc ia l  

s ta tements  to  say what  do  you regard  as  noncompl iance,  

what  do  you regard  as  cont ravent ion  o f  the  Act ,  o f  the  law,  

wh ich  wou ld  g ive  r i se  to  i r regu la r  expend i tu re .  

 So I  am conf ident ly  ta l k ing  about  th is  mat te r  10 

because there  was gu ide l ines in  tha t  regard .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  wou ld  imag ine  tha t  the re  is  a  

reason why the re  is  a  p rov i s ion  or  requ i rement  tha t  you 

shou ld  no t i f y  Treasury  and i f  you  do not  no t i f y  Treasury  

you are  in  b reach  o f  tha t  p rov is ion  o f  the  no te  bu t  i t  seems 

tha t  what  you are  say ing  is ,  i f  you  are  in  b reach  o f  tha t  

p rov is ion  o f  the  no te ,  tha t  does not  in f luence the  

expend i tu re  to  be  i r regu lar,  what  in f luences the  

expend i tu re  to  be  i r regu lar  i s  i f  you  a re  in  b reach o f  

someth ing  o f  a  h igher  lega l  s ta tus ,  then the  Treasury  no te ,  20 

namely  maybe a  regu la t ion  or  an  Act  o f  Par l iament  o r  

maybe you are  even say ing  as  long as  what  you have  

breached is  no t  an  Act  o f  Par l iament ,  i f  i t  i s  a  regu la t ion ,  i f  

i t  i s  a  Treasury  no te ,  tha t  does not  a f fec t  –  tha t  w i l l  no t  

make the  expend i tu re  to  be  i r regu lar.   I s  tha t  what  you are  
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say ing?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,   Wel l ,  I  guess the  lega l  a t to rney,  we  

w i l l  look  a t  tha t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    We wi l l  make submiss ions on  tha t ,  

Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ja .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Cha i rman,  un less  you have any 

o ther  quest ions,  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  move on to  the  next  sec t ion  

wh ich  is  my penu l t imate  sect ion .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   There  is  one wh ich  I  

th ink  we shou ld  dea l  w i th  bu t  maybe tha t  you p lan  to  dea l  

w i th  i t  la te r.   Ms Dh lamin i  ear l ie r  on  seemed to  want  to  

dea l  w i th  i t ,  namely  the  quest ion  whethe r  what  they were  

do ing  in  te rms o f  –  was i t  the  imp lement ing  agent  i ssue? 

Whether  tha t  was get t ing  serv i ces ,  ob ta in ing  serv i ces?  

Maybe I  shou ld  ask .   You remember  you have made the  

po in t  in  you r  a f f idav i t  tha t  when Mr  Thabethe came to  you 

w i th  the  f i rs t  cont rac t  wh ich  ta lked  about  serv ices  you sa id  

no ,  you d id  no t  go  a long and when he came back w i th  20 

another  one wh ich  I  th ink  sa id  par tnersh ip  or  someth ing  

l i ke  tha t ,  you had  no prob lem,  you remember  tha t?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ms Gcabashe is  tha t  someth ing  you want  

to  dea l  w i th  la te r,  tha t  jus t i f i ca t ion  or  whatever  tha t  she  
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wants  to…[ in tervenes] .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes,  i t  a r i ses  in  a  ve ry  nar row 

sense,  Cha i rman,  when we dea l  w i th  the  ag reements  tha t  

were  s igned.   Ms Dh lamin i  has ta lked about  th ree  

agreements  and as  you po in t  ou t ,  we know o f  two but  tha t  

a rea  is  par t  o f  what  I  was go ing  to  exp lore  under  the  Anna  

Four ie  in te rac t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   And the  bas i s  on  wh ich  they 

thought ,  they  had  a  va l id  ag reement  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m  qu i te  happy tha t  we dea l  w i th  i t  la te r  

bu t  I  was jus t  concerned whether  –  un less  I ’ ve  

m isunders tood someth ing  in  her  a f f idav i t ,  Ms Dh lamin i ,  why 

you were  go ing  to  th is  p rov is ion  tha t  we have jus t  dea l t  

w i th ,  i f  you  thought  tha t  th is  t ransact ion  d id  no t  invo lve  the  

procu rement  o f  goods and se rv i ces  or  i s  there  someth ing  I  

m isunders tood about  what  you were  say ing?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That ’s  exact ly  what  I  sa id ,  Cha i rperson,  

to  say,  bas ica l l y  the  ar rangement  be tween Est ina  and –  

Est ina  Paras and  the  Depar tment  was rea l l y  a  par tnersh ip  20 

agreement  where  we are  pu t t ing  up  a  da i ry  and the  

Depar tment  p rov ides the  da i ry  par lour  and Est ina  p rov ides  

the  process ing  p lan t .   That ’s  how I  v iewed i t ,  tha t ’s  why I  

was say ing  to  the  Cha i rperson,  I  app roved th is  d iv is ion  on  

tha t  bas is  tha t  i t  dea ls  w i th  inves tment  and oppor tun i t ies  
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tha t  the  investment  wou ld  come wi th  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  my quest ion  is ,  why go  to  tha t  

p rov is ion  tha t ,  as  I  unders tand i t ,  dea ls  w i th  goods and  

serv i ces ,  ob ta in ing  goods and serv ices  i f  i t ’s  go t  no th ing  to  

do  w i th  ob ta in ing  goods…[ in tervenes] .  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  rea l i se  tha t  I  caused confus ion  by  go ing  

to  tha t  par t i cu la r  p rac t ice  no te  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m  sor ry?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Not  p rac t ice  no te ,  Treasury  regu la t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m  sor ry  jus t  s ta r t  tha t  sentence f resh ,  10 

there ’s  someth ing  I  m issed.  

MS DHLAMINI :    I ’m  say ing ,  Cha i rperson,  I  rea l i sed  tha t  by  

ta lk ing  to  tha t  Treasury  regu la t ion ,  yes ,  I  caused a  

confus ion ,  when  my v iew on the  submiss ion  was  on the  

issues around the  investment  and  the  par tnersh ip  be tween 

the  Depar tment  and Est ina  Paras.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  you had  ra ised th is  v iew much  

ear l ie r  tha t  when  th is  p roposa l  was brought  to  you,  i sn ’ t  i t ,  

o r  do  I  m isunders tand you?  Th is  was in ,  what  i s  the  da te  

fo r  th is ,  i t  looks  l i ke  there ’s  no  da te  fo r  th is  p roposa l  o f  20 

dev ia t ion .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The f i rs t  one was the  26 t h  o f  May,  

Cha i rman,  2012.   That ’s  the  f i rs t  one tha t  d id  no t  have the  

dev ia t ion  then the  next  one,  I  th ink ,  i s  the  5 t h  o f  June  

2012.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    The one we ’ re  look ing  a t  i s  a t  1349,  

tha t ’s  the  one we were  look ing  a t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The one tha t  has the  dev ia t ion  in  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That ’s  the  one o f  June 2012 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  d id  i t  come befo re  those cont rac ts  

tha t  Mr  Thabethe gave you?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I t  came…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  i t  came a f te r?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    In  fac t ,  the  f i rs t  cont rac t ,  accord ing  10 

to  Ms Dh lamin i ’s  a f f idav i t  was s igned on the  5 t h  o f  June.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Then the  second cont rac t  was  

s igned on the  5 t h  o f  June and the  7 t h  o f  June,  acco rd ing  to  

her  and you co r rec t  me i f  I ’m wrong.   Then the  th i rd  one,  

Cha i rman,  i s  the  5 t h  o f  Ju ly,  the  one we had a lways thought  

was there  and tha t ’s  the  one tha t ’s  opera t i ve  r i gh t  now,  

was the  second cont rac t ,  so  tha t ’s  rea l l y  the  th i rd  one,  

acco rd ing  to  her  records  wh ich  is  the  5 t h  o f  Ju ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  in  te rms o f  sequence where  wou ld  20 

th is  p roposa l  f i t  in  te rms o f  those dates ,  in  te rms o f  those 

cont rac ts  Ms Dh lamin i  a re  you ab le  to  say,  d id  i t  come 

before  the  cont rac ts  o r  i t  came a f te r,  th is  p roposa l  fo r  

dev ia t ion?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Th is  par t i cu la r  p roposa l  fo r  dev ia t ion  
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came a f te r  two cont rac ts .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    There  was –  and the  las t  cont rac t ,  wh ich  

is  the  cont rac t  tha t  was imp lemented,  tha t  came a f te r  th is  

par t i cu la r  dev ia t i on  was –  or  th i s  par t i cu la r  submiss ion  was 

approved.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  i t  came a t  a  t ime when you had  

a l ready fo rmed a  v iew tha t  we are  no t  here  dea l ing  w i th  

ob ta in ing  goods and serv ices?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  was my unders tand ing ,  Cha i rperson,  10 

o f  –  f rom the  p resenta t ion ,  f rom the  proposa l  tha t  was 

presented to  me,  tha t  was my unders tand ing  tha t  we are  

no t  dea l ing  w i th  acqu i r ing  goods and serv i ces ,  hence when  

the  f i rs t  submiss ion  –  the  f i rs t  cont rac t  came,  where  he  

asked me to  w i tness i t ,  I  looked a t  the  head ing ,  even 

before  I  cou ld  ge t  in to  the  de ta i l s ,  I  looked a t  i t  and i t  sa id ,  

p rov is ion  fo r  serv ices .   I  then sa id  to  h im,  i f  you ’ re  dea l ing  

w i th  p rov i s ion ,  we must  be  c lea r,  what  i s  i t  tha t  needs to  

happen.   I f  we are  dea l ing  w i th  p rov i s ion  o f  serv ices  here ,  

then you must  adver t i se  a  tender.   Then –  in  any case,  20 

ac tua l l y  tha t  con t rac t  was a l ready s igned,  so  HOD was 

present ing  i t  to  me as par t  o f ,  I  th ink ,  management ,  so  tha t  

I  know tha t  there ’s  tha t  cont rac t  a lso  bu t  I  cou ldn ’ t  accept  

tha t  because wha t  –  le t  me not  say  I  cou ldn ’ t  accept ,  what  

I  sa id  to  h im,  I  sa id ,  HOD i f  you  are  acqu i r ing  serv i ces  
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here  as  the  head ing  says,  then you must  adver t i se  a  

tender.   Then he went  back and he  came back two days or  

a  day o r  so  l a te r  w i th  the  one tha t  ta lks  to  par tnersh ip ,  

wh ich  tha t  one,  tha t  ta lks  to  par tnersh ip  then was ta lk ing ,  

rea l l y,  to  the  f i rs t  submiss ion  tha t  was approved.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  what  I  don ’ t  unders tand is ,  hav ing  

taken the  v iew tha t  we a re  no t ,  in  regard  to  th i s  p ro jec t ,  

acqu i r ing  goods  or  serv i ces ,  there fore ,  Supp ly  Cha in  

Management  po l i cy  doesn ’ t  app ly.   How i t  comes  about ,  

tha t ,  when th is  p roposa l  i s  b rought  to  you,  you don ’ t  adopt  10 

tha t  a t t i tude,  you  go to  a  prov is ion  tha t  dea ls  w i th  Supp ly  

Cha in  Management ,  acqu i r ing  goods and serv i ces  and you  

look a t  tha t  p rov is ion  tha t  we ’ve  dea l t  w i th  and you say,  

th is  i s  the  c lause I ’m us ing .  

MS DHLAMINI :    That ’s  why I ’m say ing ,  Cha i rperson,   

maybe I  shou ldn ’ t  have re fe r red  to  tha t  submiss ion  – to  

tha t  par t i cu la r  pa rag raph tha t  dea ls  w i th  dev ia t ion  because  

tha t  has a lways been my a t t i tude towards th i s  p ro jec t  tha t ,  

i t ’s  no t  the  acqu is i t ion  o f  goods and serv ices ,  th is  mat te r  o f  

dev ia t ion  came wi th  –  came as an  adv ice  f rom the  S ta te  20 

Law Adv iso rs  a f te r  read ing  a l l  those cont rac ts  tha t  we are  

hav ing .   Hence,  I  th ink  in  Dr  Mas i teng ’s  a f f idav i t  o r  e i ther  

t ranscr ip ts ,  he  a l so  exp la ined th is  th ing .   There  was the  

f i rs t  submiss ion  tha t  was wr i t ten  by  h im wh ich  d id  no t  have  

the  dev ia t ion  paragraph by  then,  because the re  was tha t  
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adv ice  f rom the  S ta te  Law Adv isors ,  th rough the  HOD and I  

was in  tha t  meet ing  a l so ,  where  they sa id  there  shou ld  be  

tha t  dev ia t ion  submiss ion  tha t  HOD must  approve tha t ’s  

why HOD then sa id  to  Dr  Mas i teng,  Dr  Mas i teng must  

inc lude tha t  dev ia t ion  paragraph in  the  proposa l  and the  

recommendat ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  my unders tand ing  cor rec t ,  tha t  you 

can ’ t  exp la in  how you app l ied  a  prov is ion  re la t ing  to  

ob ta in ing  goods  and serv ices  in  regard  to  a  pro jec t  in  

respect  o f  wh ich  you had taken a  c lea r  pos i t ion  tha t  i t  d id  10 

no t  invo lve  acqu i r ing  goods and serv i ces ,  you are  no t  ab le  

to  exp la in ,  how i t  came about  tha t  you app l ied  tha t  

p rov is ion ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    To  an  ex ten t ,  yes ,  Cha i rpe rson but  I  th ink  

aga in ,  where  th is  p rov is ion  app l ies  and i f  you look  a t  the 

Supp ly  Cha in  Management  po l i cy  and even tha t  c i rcu la r  

tha t  I  re fe r red  to ,  the  impract ica l i t y  par t  o f  i t ,  i t  wou ld  then  

say e .g .  I  th ink  tha t  i s  where  I  was coming to ,  to  say,  fo r  

example  i f  you  say i t ’s  impract ica l  fo r  example  i t  shou ld  be  

l i ke ,  i t s  emergency or  i t ’s  a  so le  prov id ing  and a l l  those but  20 

my a rgument  has  been,  i t  say,  fo r  example ,  wh ich  means  

the  l i s t  i s  no t  c losed,  the  l i s t  i s  open there  m ight  be  o ther  

th ings tha t  necess i ta te  tha t  you dev ia te  and in  th i s  case,  

fo r  me,  what  necess i ta ted  us  to  dev ia te  i s  the  e lement  o f  

the  investment  tha t  Paras was br ing ing  in  th is  p ro jec t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  i t  may be we l l  tha t  the  two most  

sen ior  –  we l l ,  maybe I ’m wrong,  CFO – is  CFO at  DGG 

leve l?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i rperson,  i t  depends.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Bu t  I ’m  a t  a  DG –  I  was a t  a  DGG leve l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You were  a t  a  DGG leve l ,  I  mean,  the  

two most  sen io r  –  two o f  the  most  sen io r  o f f i c ia ls  o f  the 

Depar tment  don ’ t  appear  to  have been app ly ing  the i r  m inds  

proper ly  in  th is  case,  Mr  Thabethe  and yourse l f  in  te rms o f  10 

some o f  the  issues tha t  one wou ld  expect  you to  be  ab le  to  

exp la in  very  c lear ly.   The exp lanat ion  you g i ve  here ,  seems 

to  have some d i f f i cu l t ies .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson,  obv ious ly  I  have  app l ied  

your  m ind in  th is  submiss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You app l ied  your  m ind?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  maybe we shou ld  take  a  shor t  

b reak,  I  see we are  a t  four  m inutes  past  f i ve .   Le t ’s  ta lk  

about  how fa r  we  are  s t i l l  go ing  to  go ,  I ’m  s t i l l  ab le  to  s i t  20 

fu r the r,  what ’s  your  es t imate  o f  how much t ime we need?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Cha i rman we have jus t  two 

pr inc ip le  i ssues to  cover  f rom the  a f f idav i t  o f  Ms Dh lamin i ,  

the  one is  –  MEC Zwane ask ing  her  to  go  and ask fo r  the 

R34mi l l ion  and the  o ther  i s  rea l l y  he r  in te rac t ion  w i th  Ms  
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Four ie  and t ied  to  tha t  o f  cou rse  was the  S ta te  Law 

Adv isor ’s  c r i t i c i sm o f  the  ag reement  tha t  she ca l l s  the  

par tnersh ip  agreement  tha t  they were  then g iven.   Those 

are  the  p r inc ip le  i ssues,  the  o ther  mat te rs ,  Cha i rman,  a re  

mat te rs  tha t  we have t raversed w i th  o ther  w i tnesses.   I  

wou ld  take  th i r t y  to  fo r ty - f i ve  m inutes…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Shou ld  be  enough a t  leas t  a t  the  la tes t  6  

o ’ c lock  we shou ld  be  done? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    I  be l ieve  so  Cha i rman,  then  I  th ink  

my co l league wou ld  jus t  l i ke  to  c ross-examine,  beg your  10 

pardon,  to  re -examine.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  no ,  no…[ in tervenes] .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    On one or  two  mat te rs  

bu t…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  tha t ’s  f ine  we can s t i l l  go  on  unt i l ,  

le t ’s  say  about  quar te r  to  s ix ,  6  o ’c lock ,  i s  tha t  r igh t ,  okay,  

Ms Dh lamin i  i s  tha t  f ine? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That ’s  f ine  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t ,  we ’ re  a t  f i ve  past  f i ve ,  I ’m  

sor ry  l e t ’s  take  about  15  m inutes ,  le t ’s  come back a t  twenty  20 

past  f i ve ,  we ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  us  proceed.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Cha i rman  i f  I  m igh t  jus t  dea l  w i th  
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the  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    May I  re tu rn  your. . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Yes p lease  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Be fore  you send  me an invo ice  fo r  i t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you very  much.   Ms Dh lamin i  

I  th ink  we shou ld  jus t  t idy  up  your  paragraph 9  onwards in  

the  or ig ina l  a f f idav i t  o f  December  2019.   You w i l l  f ind  tha t  

a t  Est ina  01 ,  page 18 and there  you re la te  the  events  o f  

the  15 t h  o f  June.   Cou ld  you p lease jus t  ve ry  b r ie f l y  wa lk  

us  th rough what  happened then and you…[ in tervene]   10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Sor ry.      

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Cha i rman.   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  my reg i s t ra r  was not  l i s ten ing  to  

you Est ina  Bund le  01 .    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Bund le  01  and i t  i s  page 18,  Est ina  

01  page 18 i t  is  parag raph 9  o f  Ms Dh lamin i ’s  o r ig ina l  

a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Counse l  fo r  Ms Dh lamin i  do  you have an  

es t imate  o f  how much t ime you might  need  fo r  re -

examinat ion?  Jus t  sw i tch  on  the  m ic .   20 

ADV H KOOVERJIE:    Cha i r  I  do  no t  th ink  I  w i l l  be  longer  

than ten  m inutes .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t  thank you.     

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you Cha i r  can we proceed?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   



02 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 259 
 

Page 217 of 270 
 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Ms Dh lamin i  you were  go ing  to  

exp la in  what  happened on the  15 t h  o f  June and you know o f  

course  because you got  the  Ru le  33  not ice  in  re la t ion  to  

Ms Anna Four ie ’s  tes t imony tha t  she says tha t  you are  the  

person who came to  ask  fo r  the  R30mi l l ion  to  be  pa id  to  

Est ina  on  tha t  par t i cu la r  day.   P lease jus t  exp la in  your  

vers ion  o f  tha t  day to  the  Cha i rman?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you Cha i rperson.   Cha i rpe rson on  

the  15 t h  o f  June 2012 in  the  a f te rnoon I  th ink  i t  was a f te r  2  

o ’c lock  I  rece ived a  ca l l  f rom MEC Zwane who was the  10 

MEC for  Agr icu l tu re  and Rura l  Deve lopments  in  the 

depar tment  and he asked me or  he  ins t ruc ted  me to  go  to  a  

meet ing  to  meet  MEC Mohae who was the  MEC for  the  

Prov inc ia l  Treasury.     

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Can I  ask  you jus t  to  pause there  

p lease Ms Dh lamin i .   Was i t  usua l  fo r  MEC Zwane to  phone 

you and g ive  you  an ins t ruc t ion  to  go  and speak to  another  

MEC?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I t  was fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime tha t  happened.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    P lease con t inue.   20 

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson we –  my o f f i ce  was 30 

k i lomet res  ou ts ide  the  town B loemfonte in  and where  MEC 

Mohae was he was in  town and  I  was s t i l l  i n  the  o f f i ce  

because i t  was on a  Fr iday,  i t  was  s t i l l  a  work ing  day.   So I  

le f t  my o f f i ce  and I  th ink  I  a r r i ved a t  the  ho te l  Anta  Boga  
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because MEC d id  ind ica te  tha t  MEC Mohae is  a t  An ta  Boga 

Hote l .   

          So I  a r r i ved a t  the  ho te l  and on my ar r i va l  a t  the 

ho te l  I  cannot  remember  who I  asked but  I  asked –  I  

ind ica ted  tha t  I  was look ing  fo r  MEC Mohae and  I  was 

taken to  a  room in  the  same hote l .    

          Upon my a r r i va l  in  tha t  room I  found a  MEC Mohae,  

I  found the  then HOD for  –  we use  to  ca l l  h im CEO for  

Treasury  Mr  Gomongwe.   There  was Ms Four ie  in  the  room,  

there  was a lso  Mr  Mab isha in  the  room.          10 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Be fore  you  proceed jus t  c la r i f y  th is  

d id  MEC Zwane te l l  you  what  you were  go ing  to  d iscuss  

w i th  MEC Mohae?   

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  he  jus t  sa id  i t  i s  regard ing  the  

payment  fo r  Vrede Da i ry.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Was tha t  i t ,  no  fu r ther  exp lanat ion?  

MS DHLAMINI :    There  was no fu r ther  exp lanat ion .   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    You had  no idea tha t  you were  

go ing  there  to  t ry  and secure  the  payment  o f  R30mi l l ion  on  

tha t  day?  20 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  have no idea tha t  I  was go ing  to  secure  

bu t  maybe le t  me  exp la in  f i rs t  to  say when he sa id  i t  i s  w i th  

regard  to  the  payment  to  Vrede Da i ry  who I  knew we had 

a l ready made a  payment  to  Vrede Da i ry.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    No,  no  you had not  made a  
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payment  –  un less  I  have misunders tood your  a f f idav i t .   You 

had made a  payment  request  no t  a  payment  bu t  i f  I  have 

got  i t  wrong p lease cor rec t  me Ms Dh lamin i .    

MS DHLAMINI :    Le t  me cor rec t  you Cha i r  le t  me cor rec t  

advocate  here .   Advocate  when I  say  we had a l ready made  

a  payment  when we say payment  i t  i s  when i t  has  a l ready  

been processed in  the  depar tmen t  approved,  captured in  

the  sys tem.    

          You have  a l l  those documents  tha t  I  ind ica ted  

ear l ie r  on  because remember  when we were  dea l ing  w i th  10 

the  payment ,  the  cer t i f i ca te ,  ABCT.    

          Then tha t  means payments  i s  done in  the 

depar tment  bu t  there  is  s t i l l  another  leg  wh ich  is  the  leg  

tha t  I  d id  exp la in  to  say i f  i t  i s  m i l l i on  and ove r  i t  w i l l  have  

to  go  to  Treasury  to  f ina l i se  tha t  payment .    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Bu t  sure l y  tha t  i s  p rocess ing  the  

payment  i t  cannot  be  ca l led  the  mak ing  o f  a  payment .   

MS DHLAMINI :    Okay le t  me argue…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    A l l  you  had done is  you had done your  

par t  o f  the  process ing  o f  the  payment .    20 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   

MS DHLAMINI :    I  agree w i th  you.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And le t  us  jus t  f in ish  tha t  las t  b i t  

o f ,  had you been d i rec t l y  invo lved in  p repar ing  the  
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documenta t ion  tha t  was necessary  to  p rocess tha t  payment  

th rough Prov inc ia l  Treasury?  

MS DHLAMINI :    The on ly  paper  tha t  I  have s igned is  the  

cer t i f i ca te  bu t  tha t  cer t i f i ca te  when  i t  comes to  me because  

I  need to  conf i rm cer ta in  ac t i v i t ies ,  ce r ta in  th ings.   I t  

comes as  a  package o f  the  who le  payment .    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And do you read tha t  en t i re  

package?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  you w i l l  have to  go  th rough tha t  

en t i re  package to  check tha t  the  th ings tha t  you are  10 

conf i rm ing l i ke  the  suppor t ing  documents  i s  p roper ly  

au thor ised.   You have to  read the  en t i re  package before  

you s ign  tha t  cer t i f i ca te .   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Do you keep a  copy fo r  your  

records?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  was not  keep ing  copy fo r  my records 

Cha i r  because I  had a  f inance un i t  so  a f te r  I  have s igned i t  

I  wou ld  then take  i t  to  the  f inance un i t  wh ich  w i l l  then take  

i t  back to  Treasury.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So  even  in  the  f inance un i t  you  20 

wou ld  no t  keep a  copy o f  what  you were  send ing  th rough to  

Treasury?  

MS DHLAMINI :    No they wou ld  keep tha t  copy.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    They wou ld  in  you r  f inance un i t  

make a  copy and keep i t  and then send the  or ig ina l  th rough  
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to  Prov inc ia l  Treasury?   

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i rperson or  o therw ise  I  

s tand to  be  cor rec ted  in  th is  fac t  whether  we keep the  

or ig ina ls  and we  send the  cop ies  to  Treasury  bu t  e i ther  

way i t  i s  e i ther  we le f t  w i th  the  copy but  the  who le  package  

wou ld  have been sent  to  Treasury.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And a l l  o f  th is  wou ld  be  done  

w i thout  the  HOD Mr  Thabethe be ing  invo l ved a t  a l l?  

MS DHLAMINI :    A f te r  he  has approved the  payment  yes a l l  

those th ings o f  course  tha t  you see in  the  sys tem wou ld 10 

have been done outs ide  the  HOD.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    P lease cont inue so  you then found  

MEC Mohae and o ther  o f f i c ia l s  a t  the  ho te l .   

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  I  then found MEC Mohae and o the r  

o f f i c ia ls  a t  the  ho te l  and MEC Mohae then ind ica ted  to  a l l  

the  o f f i c ia ls  tha t  they are  the re  inc lud ing  myse l f  tha t  he 

had a  d iscuss ion  w i th  MEC Zwane.     

          I  may not  say  the  exact  words o f  how he pu t  i t  bu t  

he  ind i ca ted  tha t  there  was a  d i scuss ion  be tween h im and  

MEC Zwane where  a  payment  tha t  was supposed to  have  20 

been made fo r  Vrede Da i ry  has no t  been made.    

          So  the  reason why I  was –  then he asked me do I  

know anyth ing  o f  tha t  I  sa id  yes I  am aware  and the  reason  

why i t  has  no t  been pa id  i t  i s  because a t  the  t ime when we  

processed tha t  payment  in  the  depar tment  we have not  
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made a  requ is i t ion ,  we d id  no t  have enough cash.   We had  

a  budget  bu t  we d id  no t  have enough cash in  the  bank and  

normal ly  the  process wou ld  be  a t  the  po in t  when you are  

conf ron ted w i th  tha t  s i tua t ion  you  wr i te  a  submiss ion  to  

Treasury  when you send i t  together  w i th  those documents  

tha t  you requested tha t  they increase your  cash in  your  

bank account .   Which  means the  bank account  o f  the 

depar tment .    

          That  we had done I  th ink  by  Wednesday  I  had  

a l ready rece ived the  response f rom Treasury  tha t  they do  10 

not  have su f f i c ien t  cash they cannot  ass i s t  the  depar tment  

to  f ina l i se  tha t  payment .   

          Then I  le f t  i t  there  I  in fo rmed the  HOD tha t  tha t  

payment  cou ld  no t  be  f ina l i sed because there  is  no  cash  

we w i l l  have to  wa i t  un t i l  the  depar tment  have – when they 

submi t  the  next  Treasury  requ is i t ion  fo r  the  fo l low ing week,  

then we wou ld  wa i t  fo r  tha t .   Then we w i l l  make p rov i s ion 

in  tha t ,  we l l  in  t ha t  –  I  th ink  i t  i s  even the  next  month  

because we were  submi t t ing  on  a  month l y  bas is .          

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Can you jus t  he lp  me unders tand  20 

th is  p lease.   Had  you budgeted fo r  tha t  R30mi l l ion  tha t  you 

were  request ing  and i f  so  where  were  you get t ing  i t  f rom or  

were  you p lann ing  on f ind ing  some o the r  means o f  

co l lec t ing  tha t  money?  Jus t  c la r i f y  tha t  one po in t .    

MS DHLAMINI :    I  cannot  remember  –  I  am not  sure  i f  
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Cha i rperson wou ld  remember  when we were  dea l i ng  w i th  

the  R30mi l l ion  I  have ind ica ted  tha t  repr io r i t i sa t ion  was  

made.   When we had on ly  R9mi l l ion  repr io r i t i sa t i on  was  

made and then R21mi l l ion  was found and the  budget  was 

then a l loca ted  proper ly,  i t  was taken f rom o ther  p ro jec ts  

in to  tha t  par t i cu la r  p ro jec t .    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So  the  R21mi l l ion  came f rom o ther  

p ro jec ts?   

MS DHLAMINI :    O ther  p ro jec ts .   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Under  Mohuma Mobung.   10 

MS DHLAMINI :    Under  -  you know Cha i rpe rson i t  i s  

d i f f i cu l t  to  say  under  Mohuma Mobung because there  were  

o ther  p ro jec ts ,  le t  me say yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    There  were  o ther  p ro jec ts  under  the  

depar tment…[ in te rvene]   

MS DHLAMINI :    Because ac tua l l y  what  I  want  to  say is  we  

had a  l i s t  o f  p ro jec ts…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Hang on,  hang on Ms Dh lamin i  we 

cannot  a l l  ta lk  a t  the  same t ime.    

MS DHLAMINI :    Oh we had a  l i s t  o f  p ro jec t s  in  te rms o f  20 

Tab le  B5 o f  the  budget  wh ich  was par t  o f  the  pro jec ts .   So 

most ly  the  pro jec ts  tha t  fe l l  under  Mohuma Mobung were  

h igh  impact  p ro jec ts  bu t  you had o the r  p ro jec ts  smal l  

p ro jec ts .   So moneys were  taken f rom those pro jec ts  and 

we take them to  Vrede Da i ry  tha t  i s  what  we ca l l  
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rep r io r i t i sa t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  had not  unders tood you ear l ie r  to  say  

rep r io r i t i sa t ion  happened befo re  the  R30mi l l ion  was pa id .   I  

have not  unders tood you to  be  say ing  tha t  bu t  i s  tha t  what  

you are  say ing  now?        

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  what  I  am say ing  because i f  tha t  

rep r io r i t i sa t ion  d id  no t  happen before  the  sys tem wou ld  no t  

have processed tha t  budget .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   

MS DHLAMINI :    And even where  myse l f  as  the  CFO I  10 

wou ld  have caused unauthor ised expend i tu re .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  no  tha t  i s  a l r igh t .   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Bu t  aga in ,  can you exp la in  to  the  

Cha i rman how the  R30mi l l ion  tha t  you had budge ted fo r  

cou ld  be  conver ted  in to  cash because you are  now ask ing  

fo r  a  cash cheque on the  vers ion  o f  Ms Anna Four ie?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I t  wou ld  be  conver ted  i n to  cash not  a  

cheque cash bu t  a  t ransfe r  f rom a  bank account ,  the  

depar tment ’s  bank account  in to  Est ina ’s  bank account ,  

wh ich  is  the  in tended payment .   The payment  was fo r  20 

Est ina .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  I  th ink  Ms  Gcabashe ’s  quest ion  is  

be fore  you  can t ransfer  money f rom your  accounts  as  the  

depar tment  in to  Est ina ’s  accounts  there  must  be  cash in  

the  account .    
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MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  there  must  be  cash tha t  i s  the  cash  

tha t  I  sa id  we have made a  submiss ion  to  Treasury  when  

we were  send ing ,  those payments  –  those documents  tha t  

we have p rocessed tha t  accompan ied tha t  payment .   We 

have made a  request ;  we ca l l  i t  cash requ is i t ion .   In  th is  

case we were  request ing  them to  i ncrease our  cash  so  tha t  

the  cash in  our  bank can be ab le  to  accommodate  tha t  

par t i cu la r  t ransac t ion .     

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Now when had you ind ica ted  to  

them tha t  you wou ld  requ i re  th is  cash to  be  in  your  bank 10 

and when you say your  bank you mean in  the  depar tments  

bank so  tha t  the  depar tment  cou ld  then do the  t rans fer.   

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  I  mean the  bank account  o f  the  

depar tment .   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    When d id  you ask  them to  make 

sure  i t  wou ld  be  ava i lab le  in  the  depar tmen t ’s  bank 

account?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Hence I  sa id  Cha i rperson we made the  

request .  The request  was not  approved and when the  

request  was not  approved Treasury  cou ld  no t  p rocess tha t  20 

payment  because  there  was no cash in  the  bank.   

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The ques t ion  though is  what  d id  

you say to  them when you requ is i t ioned the  cash?  D id  you  

say to  them we wou ld  l i ke  tha t  cash to  be  in  our  bank  

account  on  or  be fore  the  15 t h  o f  June 2012?  I  do  no t  know 
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I  am ask ing  the  quest ion .   

MS DHLAMINI :    No you wou ld  no t  say  tha t  Cha i rperson 

because the  payment  was done on a  Monday.   We got  the  

o ther  documents  tha t  accompan ied tha t  payments  on  a  

Tuesday then we  sent  them to  Treasury  tha t  i s  when we  

ask fo r  cash requ is i t ion .   That  cash i f  i t  i s  approved i t  

wou ld  have been made ava i lab le  on  a  Thursday because on  

a  Thursday tha t  i s  the  day tha t  Treasury  process a l l  those  

payments  tha t  a re  above a  m i l l ion .    

CHAIRPERSON:    So  what  you are  say ing  is  when you  10 

send to  Treasury  var ious documents  wh ich  I  take  to  have  

inc luded the  ce r t i f i ca te  o f  conf i rma t ion  tha t  you s igned.    

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    When you  send those documents  

inc luded in  those documents  was a  request  f rom your  

depar tment  to  Treasury  to  say in  o rder  fo r  th i s  payment  to  

go  th rough,  we request  you to  g ive  us  more  cash in to  our  

account .   I s  tha t  r igh t?     

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i rperson.   

CHAIRPERSON:    And you apprec ia ted  tha t  i f  Treasury  d id  20 

no t  approve then there  wou ld  be  no payment .    

MS DHLAMINI :    I  apprec ia ted  tha t  Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And in  ask ing  fo r  tha t  cash d id  you  

exp la in  to  Treasury  tha t  they shou ld  take  tha t  money f rom 
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budget  i tem X wh ich  is  where  you say you had hoped to  

f ind  th is  money.   D id  they know where  i t  wou ld  come f rom? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson i t  i s  a  d i f fe ren t  p rocess a l l  

together  i t  does not  dea l  w i th  the  budget  what  advocate  i s  

ta lk ing  about  i s  the  budget .   The cash must  come f rom – 

maybe I  must ,  I  shou ld  have exp la ined tha t  how the  

conf igura t ion  o f  the  bank account  o f  p rov inces.   There  is  

what  we ca l l  the  revenue fund,  tha t  i s  where  a l l  the  mon ies  

tha t  came f rom Nat iona l  Treasury  even f rom nat iona l  

depar tments  your  cond i t iona l  g ran ts ,  they a l l  ge t  in to  the  10 

revenue fund o f  the  depar tment  o f  the…[ in tervene]      

ADV GCABASHE SC:    O f  the  prov ince.   

MS DHLAMINI :    O f  the  prov ince wh ich  is  admin is te red 

by…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Treasury.    

MS DHLAMINI :    The Treasury.   For  you to  spend your  

budget  you need  cash.   You wou ld  have your  own bank 

account  wh ich  we ca l l  PMG account .   The depar tment  w i l l  

have tha t  bu t  i t  does not  necessar i l y  mean when you have 

R500mi l l ion  budget  i t  i s  a l ready a  cash in  your  bank.   For  20 

you to  access your  cash you w i l l  need to  g ive  Treasury  

your  cash pro jec t ions.    

          How are  you go ing  to  need  tha t  on  a  month ly  bas is  

bu t  you wou ld  ind ica te  i t  on  a  week ly  bas is .   Say week 1 ,  I  

need R5mi l l ion ,  week 2 ,  I  need -  o f  a  par t i cu la r  month .   For  
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the  who le  month  maybe,  I  need R30mi l l ion  tha t  i s  what  

happens.    

          So  i t  has  go t  no th ing  to  do  w i th  the  budget  and 

where  the  budget  wou ld  come tha t  p rocess is  the  process  

tha t  happens in  a  depar tment  and by  the  t ime the  

documents  goes  to  Treasury  tha t  p rocess is  conc luded  

hence the  payment  cou ld  be  processed w i th in  the  

depar tment .        

ADV GCABASHE SC:    We wi l l  con t inue because we know 

tha t  when Ms Four ie  was he re ,  she exp la ined tha t  there  is  10 

a  process even in  requ is i t ion ing  fo r  cash and your  cor rec t  

cash then wou ld  normal ly  be  pa id  ou t  on  Thursdays.   She 

went  th rough tha t  in  her  ev idence.    

          Bu t  she a l so  went  on  to  say tha t  when you ar r i ved 

there  was o f  course  a  d iscuss ion ,  you had to  go  to  the  

Treasury  o f f i ces  and when she checked you requ i red  the  

payment  o f  R30mi l l ion ,  cash o f  R30mi l l ion  in  the  prov inc ia l  

revenue account  there  was on ly  5  or  R6mi l l ion  and she  

then to ld  you tha t  they d id  no t  have any cash in  tha t  

revenue account .   I s  th is  cor rec t?    20 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  no t  cor rec t  Cha i rperson because i t  

was not  in  Ms Four ie ’s  respons ib i l i t y.   A l l  th is  documents  

and the  cash requ is i t ion  went  to  another  un i t  in  Treasury  

tha t  we ca l l  assets  and l iab i l i t y.   Which  i s  the  un i t  tha t  was,  

the  head –  Mr  Mab isha was the  head because the  o f f i c ia l  
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there  has res igned.    

          So  i t  was not  in  Ms Four ie ’s  respons ib i l i t y  so  she  

wou ld  no t  have to ld  me un less  she wou ld  have asked the  

o f f i c ia ls  in  assets  and l iab i l i t i es  spec i f i ca l l y  cash 

management  i f  there  i s  money in  the  bank account .   I f  the 

revenue fund has  money but  as  I  have ind ica ted  they had  

a l ready ind i ca ted  to  me tha t  there  is  no t  su f f i c ien t  cash 

tha t  they can t ransfe r  in to  the  account  o f  the  depar tment  

wh ich  I  accepted and apprec ia ted .    

          A l though I  d id  no t  ask  how much because i t  was not  10 

o f  my in te res t  to  know how much they s t i l l  have tha t  wou ld  

be  unca l led  fo r,  fo r  me to  ask  them how much do you have.   

No,  I  accepted the  fac t  tha t  they exp la ined to  me tha t  the 

cash is  no t  there  and maybe Cha i rperson I  need  a lso  to  

ind ica te  tha t  in  my career  I  d id  work  in  tha t  un i t  in  the 

Prov inc ia l  Treasury  o f  L impopo.    

          So  I  knew exact ly  when they say the  cash  is  no t  

there ,  I  knew exact ly  what  i t  wou ld  take  fo r  them to  have 

tha t  cash in  the  revenue fund so  tha t  they can t ransfer  in to  

the  PMG accoun t  o f  the  depar tment .   Hence,  I  accepted  20 

when they to ld  me tha t  they do  not  have cash.           

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So  who exact ly  to ld  you tha t  there  

was no cash?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rpe rson I  may not  be  ab le  to  answer  

tha t  quest ion  now because i t  i s  someth ing  tha t  i s  wr i t ten .   
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You made tha t  submiss ion  in  wr i t ing  and i t  goes th rough 

the  channe ls  bu t  when i t  comes back somet imes i t  does not  

even come d i rec t l y  to  the  CFO i t  wou ld  come to  the  un i t  in  

f inance and they wou ld  in fo rm me as the  CFO those  

o f f i c ia ls  who works  w i th  me,  who works  under  me,  who 

process the  payments .   They wou ld  have to ld  me tha t  

Treasury  has rep l ied  and ind i ca ted  tha t  there  is  no  cash.      

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So  Ms Dh lamin i  why were  you  

meet ing  Mr  Mohae,  why were  you ta lk ing  a t  a l l  to  Ms Anna  

Four ie  and the  o ther  o f f i c ia l s?  10 

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson as  I  have ind i ca ted  I  was 

sent  by  MEC Zwane to  go  to  the  meet ing .   So and  he jus t  

sa id  i t  i s  connec t ion  w i th  the  Vrede Da i ry  payment .   So I  

went  to  the  meet ing  to  l i s ten  wha t  i s  i t  tha t  –  what  MEC 

has d iscussed w i th  MEC Mohae.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh you had a l ready been to ld ,  you were  

a l ready aware  tha t  Treasury  sa id  tha t  there  was no cash a t  

the  t ime when MEC Zwane asked you to  go  to  tha t  

meet ing?   

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i rperson.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh okay.    

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And so  you  then d id  what?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Then I  a r r i ved a t  the  meet ing ,  then MEC 

Mohae exp la ined  why I  am there  i t  i s  as  a  resu l t  o f  h is  

d iscuss ion  and MEC Zwane ’s  d iscuss ion .   Then MEC 
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Mohae asked me around the  issues o f  the  budget  and do 

we have a  budget  fo r  th is .    

          There  was  a  coup le  o f  th ings I  may not  remember  

them f rom the  top  o f  my head and I  exp la ined every th ing .   

Whatever  tha t  he  asked me I  answered and he then  sa id  to  

the  o f f i c ia ls  i s  there  any o ther  th ing  tha t  you want  to  ask  

the  CFO,  nobody  asked me anyth ing .   And then he  fu r ther  

says CEO is  there  any reason why you cannot  ass is t  the 

depar tment ,  r igh t .    

          I  have a l ready exp la ined even to  h im why Treasury  10 

cou ld  no t  p rocess tha t  payment  tha t  they have ind i ca ted  to  

us  as  a  depar tment  tha t  they do  not  have the  cash in  the 

bank.   But  he  then asked the  CEO i f  there  i s  anyth ing  – i f  

they  cannot  s t i l l  no t  ass is t  the  depar tment .    

          That  i s  where  Ms Four ie  came in .   I  do  no t  know 

what  was in  her  m ind.   She then sa id  to  CEO,  CEO we can 

look a t  th is  mat te r  p rov ided we go to  the  o f f i ce ,  the  CFO 

s igns a  cer t i f i ca te  tha t  conf i rms tha t  there  is  a  budget  and  

a l l  those th ings.    

          Bu t  I  have  a l ready s igned tha t  cer t i f i ca te  tha t  says  20 

th is  payment  wou ld  no t  post  unauthor i sed expend i tu re .   By 

say ing  i t  w i l l  no t  post  unautho r ised expend i tu re  i t  means 

the  budget  i s  the re  bu t  she ins is ted ,  she ind ica ted  le t  me 

not  say  she ins i s ted ,  she ind i ca ted  tha t  she wou ld  want  to  

deve lop  the  cer t i f i ca te  tha t  I  must  s ign .    
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          On tha t  bas i s  then the  CEO sa id  CFO,  Ms  Four ie ,  

Mr  Mab isha go back to  the  o f f i ce  and dea l  w i th  th i s  mat te r.   

By  the  t ime we le f t  Anta  Boga Cha i rperson i t  was a l ready I  

am sure  l i ke  4  o ’ c lock  a f te r  four  o r  jus t  be fore  four  a round 

tha t  t ime because by  the  t ime we  get  to  the  o f f i ces  there  

was nobody.   Peop le  have knocked o f f  because  in  the  

prov inc ia l  government  we knock a t  4  o ’c lock .   Myse l f  and 

Anna Four ie ,  Ms Four ie  may he r  sou l  res t  in  peace.   Myse l f  

and he r  we went  to  her  o f f i ce  and Mr  Mab isha]  went  to  h is  

o f f i ce  where  Ms Four ie  sa id  go  to  the  o f f i ce  and  get  a l l  10 

those documents  tha t  CFO has a l ready brought  here .    

          We sa t  in  Ms Four ie ’s  o f f i ce  wa i t ing  fo r  Mr  Mab isha 

to  come wi th  the  documents .   Mr  Mab isha d id  no t  p i t ch  up  

Cha i rperson.   A f te r  a  long t ime,  I  sa id  and Ms Four ie  i s  

a lso  no t  deve lop ing  the  ce r t i f i ca te  tha t  I  wou ld  no t  even 

know what  was rea l l y  was –  what  was go ing  to  be  the  

content  because i t  was her  who was go ing  to  deve lop  tha t  

cer t i f i ca te .  

          So  we sa t  in  her  o f f i ce  she is  no t  deve lop ing  the  

cer t i f i ca te ,  we wa i t ing  fo r  Mr  Mab isha,  Mr  Mab isha is  no t  20 

coming.  A f te r  some t ime and  i t  i s  substant ia l  t ime 

Cha i rperson,  I  then sa id  to  Ms  Four ie  I  th ink  tha t  Mr  

Mab isha is  no t  coming but  honest ly  i t  i s  Fr iday and I  have  

o ther  th ings,  I  am leav ing  because indeed I  had  a l ready  

packed my bag I  was go ing  to  go  home.   
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          I  was on the  N1;  my o f f i ce  was on the  N1 so  f rom 

there  4  o ’c lock  I  was go ing  to  go  home so  I  had to  come 

back to  town.   So when Mr  Mab isha is  no t  coming four th ,  I  

dec ided to  say I  am leav ing  because I  s t i l l  have my o ther  

th ings and then I  le f t .   I  d id  no t  even have a  handbag 

Cha i rperson when I  went  there  i f  my memory  serves me 

we l l  I  jus t  went  as  I  was.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Now I  must  say  Ms Dh lam in i  tha t  

the  vers ion  tha t  Ms Four ie  gave to  the  commiss ion  i s  

cons i s ten t  w i th  the  ve rs ion  tha t  she gave to  the  po l i ce  10 

invest iga to rs  when th is  pa r t i cu la r  mat te r  came up fo r  

hear ing  in  re la t ion  I  th ink  to  the  NDPP case.    

          A l l  I  am say ing  to  you essent ia l l y  i s  she has g i ven 

two cons is ten t  ve rs ions o f  what  happened on tha t  day and I  

suppose my quest ion  to  you is  a re  you say ing  tha t  we 

shou ld  accept  your  ve rs ion  because both  vers ions tha t  she 

gave one much ear l ie r  than the  one she gave here  las t  

year  a re  incor rec t .                           

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson I  wou ld  say Ms Four ie  d id  no t  

g ive  –  Ms Four ie  d id  no t  g ive  constant  ve rs ions because i f  20 

she had g iven constant  ve rs ions i n  the  ENS repor t ,  I  went  

th rough the  ENS repor t  w i th  my lega l  team,  she s ta r ted  

where  I  have s ta r ted ,  where  she ind ica ted  tha t  MEC Zwane 

sa id  I  went  to  the  meet ing  and then we met  w i th  MEC 

Mohae,  bu t  a t  the  commiss ion  she d id  no t  say  tha t .   
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 I  a lso  went  through the t ranscr ipts  because that  was 

not  in her  – in her  aff idavi t .   He sa id i t  in  h is interact ion wi th 

the commission.   She did not  star t  that  – that  – she is not  

that  pro – she did not  start  that  process at  the point  where 

we met wi th the MEC.  Which is one of  the things that  made 

me a l i t t le bi t  angry wi th her to say,  why was she not  te l l ing 

the ent i re t ruth of  what has happened? Because she – she 

displayed me as this bul ly or th is powerful  person who came 

to the meet ing and take them out  of  the meet ing.  That  is how 

she displayed this whole matter a t  th is commission.   And 10 

certain th ings that  she ta lked about that  I  requested the R5 

mi l l ion;  I  sa id – or they offered me to give me R5 mi l l ion 

cheque and I  sa id I  do not  want i t  i t  is R30 mi l l ion or nothing.   

There is no such a thing Chai rperson.   I t  is even not  

possible.   You can cal l  any CFO we wi l l  te l l  you i t  is not  

possible  to even get  – i t  is not  even easy to get  a cheque of  

R10.00.   So honest ly,  I  do not  know where she got  al l  those 

things.   And l ike I  am saying I  went there knowing exact ly 

that  the uni t  that  th is we have cashed has already indicated 

that  there is no cash.   So i f  you know and we are sent  back 20 

to the off ice I  was st i l l  surpr ised what they are going to do.   

So – but  l ike I  am saying I  would not  know how much they 

have in their  bank account.   So I  –  I  do not  agree wi th what  

she said at  th is commission.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   I f  I  might  just  say that  I  – I  have here 
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statement that  she made in 2017 which is the statement she 

made to the pol ice which she then spoke to when she came 

to the commission.   And in that  statement,  she does say 

something you dispute in your aff idavi t  that  at  the off ice you 

produced the cont ract  between the Free State Department of  

Agricul ture and Est ina as wel l  as a payment document 

request  f rom Free State Department of  Agricul ture for an 

amount of  R30 mi l l ion.   The documents were assessed and 

certain quest ions were asked to the CFO which some of  

those quest ions were related to the contract  produced by the 10 

CFO.  She was unable to answer sat isfactor i ly.   You are 

saying this is incorrect? 

MS DHLAMINI:   This is so much incorrect  Chairperson 

because by the t ime I  went to the meet ing the documents I  

d id not  come carrying documents.   The documents were 

al ready in Treasury.   I  had al ready known that  there is  no 

money.   So i t  is not  correct .   I f  she had got  hold of  those 

documents she might  have requested i t  f rom the uni t  that  

was deal ing wi th  cash.   She did not  get  those documents 

f rom me.  And hence we could not  me and her could not  do 20 

anything on that  part icular Fr iday because we are wai t ing for 

Mr Mabi ja to br ing the documents.   Thank you Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Anyway that  – that  deals wi th your  

vers ion of  what happened on that  day and I  have put  the 

vers ion of  Ms Anna Fourie to you.   Can I  just  wrap th is up by 
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asking?  You then say that  you br iefed Mr Zwane on the 

outcome of  that  meet ing,  is that  correct? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes I  d id Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Why did you br ief  Mr Zwane and not  

the HOD? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I  was not  br ief ing Mr Zwane I  was giving 

feedback because he has sent  me.   Common cause said i f  

you send somebody somewhere to do something he must  

give feedback.   I t  was on those basis that  – that  was on 

those basis that  I  have given him the feedback because I  10 

was sent  by him not  the HOD.  The HOD was al ready aware.   

At  the t ime when Treasury indicated to us Chai rperson,  I  am 

sorry Chai rperson by addressing Advocate.   At  the t ime when 

Treasury responded to us to say there wi l l  not  be cash,  I  

immediately informed the HOD that  th is payment would not  

go through.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   You see your report  g ives one the 

impression that  Mr Zwane was get t ing involved in  the 

implementat ion of  the Vrede Dai ry Project .   And yet  in h is 

aff idavi t  he d isavows or he says he had nothing to do wi th  20 

the implementat ion of  the Vrede Dai ry Project .   Would you 

agree however that  where he instructs you to go and make 

sure that  money is paid or to go and t ry and secure funds to 

be paid to Est ina he is now stepping out  of  h is pol i t ical  MEC 

arena and stepping into the administ rat ion – into operat ional  
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matters that  deal  wi th implement ing the project? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Chairperson I  – I  do not  know whether I  

should answer that  quest ion to say he was – he was get t ing 

into implementat ion.   But  does the facts that  happened.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.   Wel l  maybe you want to ask this 

quest ion?  You would be aware would you not  be of  whether 

the pol i t ical  head of  the department  namely the MEC can get  

involved in operat ional  matters as opposed to being involved 

in pol icy formulat ion and such matters?  Would you know 

whether he can come in – in the department and say,  and 10 

start  get t ing involved in basical ly operat ional  matters? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Chairperson i t  – i t  wi l l  depend at  what level .   

But  l ike in th is case he is saying go to the meet ing.   That  he 

can do.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Hm.  I  am sorry what did you say? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I  am saying in th is case he sent  me to a 

meet ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Huh-uh.  

MS DHLAMINI:   And I  am not  sure i f  that  is regarded as part  

of  operat ional  because the meet ing was between him and the 20 

other pol i t ical  – pol i t ical  head.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja no but  the quest ion is at  a general  level  

at  th is stage according to your  knowledge is an MEC 

supposed to be involved in the operat ional  matters of  the 

department? 
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MS DHLAMINI:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Or is that  something you do not  know? 

MS DHLAMINI:   No he is  not  supposed to except  giv ing 

st rategic direct ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI:   And a pol i t ical  d i rect ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay al r ight .  

MS DHLAMINI:   Thank you Chai r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Then there are just  one or two smal l  

l i t t le issues I  want to raise wi th you.   You know Mr Cele 10 

when he was here gave evidence and I  know i t  is in the ENS 

invest igat ion report  as wel l  that  when he came to see you at  

your off ices as part  of  that  invest igat ion team you warned 

him and said he should be careful  in the Free State.   He wi l l  

be ki l led.   And in Sotho something along the l ines that  

[Afr ican language] or something along those l ines.   Do you 

recal l  saying that  to him?  Warning him real ly.   I t  sounded 

l ike a f r iendly warning.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Chairperson I  do not  remember saying that  

to Mr Cele and I  would say I  am – I  would not  even have said 20 

that .   I f  I  said that  I  would have said i t  in Engl ish because 

since I  have been engaging wi th Mr Cele I  was of  the 

impression that  he does not  even understand the Sotho so i t  

was impossible that  I  would give him a warning in the 

language that  he would not  understand.   Thank you.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   So are you saying you do not  remember 

giving h im that  warning i f  i t  was a warning or are you saying 

you do remember that  you never  gave him such a warning 

and therefore you deny his evidence that  you gave h im that  

warning? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I  deny his  evidence.   No I  cannot deny his 

evidence because i t  is his evidence.  But  my version of  the 

story is I  d id not  warn Mr Cele of  any Basotho [Afr ican 

language].   I  have not  said that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Did you say i t  in Engl ish? 10 

MS DHLAMINI:   I  d id not  say i t  in Engl ish.   I  d id not  say i t  in 

Sesotho.   I  d id not  warn – I  d id not  even give any warning to 

Mr Cele.   The only th ing that  I  know I  have said to Mr Cele – 

Mr Cele came to me with a let ter f rom Nat ional  Treasury that  

was informing the department wr i t ten to  the Account ing 

Off icer  informing the department  of  the invest igat ion just  

going to – that  Nat ional  Treasury is intending to do.   Al l  what  

I  said to him I  said – he gave me – I  said okay I  can accept  

the copy but  you must  know the protocol .   You must  go to the 

HOD.  That  is a l l  – the only th ing I  said to h im is to say,  take 20 

this th ing to the HOD. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  So you saying Mr Cele just  made this 

evidence up that  th is is what you told him? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I  do not  know where he got  i t  Chairperson.   I  

d id not  say i t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  Ms Gcabashe.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Thank you Chai rman.  I  a lso then 

want you to conf i rm that  when – you have referred to the 

f i rst  agreement wi th Est ina – service agreement or provision 

of  serv ices.   You have referred to the second agreement 

which you yoursel f  cal l  a partnership agreement.   I  –  I  wi l l  –  

the Chairman has deal t  wi th the f i rst  one can I  just  say in  

respect  of  the second one – you accept  that  the state law 

advisors were given a copy of  the second agreement?  Anna 

Fourie’s evidence was that  they got  i t  f rom Provincial 10 

Treasury and that  that  agreement was found to be inval id.   

You accept  that?  There are two proposi t ions so make sure 

you want to accept  both.  

MS DHLAMINI:   I  accept  that  Chairperson that  af ter the state 

law advisors engaged with the second aff idavi t  they then 

advised the department that  i t  is  not  – or they – I  cannot 

remember whether they said i t  is  not  val id but  they then 

proposed to assis t  draf t ing a bet ter aff idavi t  because… 

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Agreement.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Agreement yes agreement – agreement 20 

Chairperson because their  even – their  main – main concern 

was the f i rst  one was not  even real ly looking af ter the 

interest  of  the department.  Which I  accepted because there 

are bet ter posi t ions the legal  people who can do that .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   You had not  come to that  conclusion 
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pr ior to the state law advisors tel l ing you that? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Honest ly speaking I  have not  come to that  

conclusion at  that  point  in t ime.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   And just  for the record Mr  Venter 

gave evidence here and he sa id they had not  seen the f i rst  

agreement or the second agreement before the 18 June 

2012.  You would accept  that? 

MS DHLAMINI:   That  is correct .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Then the last  i tem I  th ink I  want to 

ask you about is the fol lowing.   You know when – when Ms 10 

Mchiza was here she told us that  when this – the bad press 

around the Vrede Dai ry Farm came through the media one of  

th ings they d id was go to the Dai ry Farm go and vis i t .   Did 

you ever go represent ing the department to go and f ind out 

what i t  was that  people were complaining about?  Whether  

there was someth ing the department needs to do about th is  

contract ,  th is agreement you had with Est ina? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Chairperson on my own I  had not  gone to 

the Vrede Dai ry and the reason being I  th ink i t  is because of 

the kind of  – the volume of  the work that  I  was deal ing wi th.   20 

Because i f  my memory serves me wel l  when these things 

came, we were busy wi th the adjustment budget.   We were 

busy wi th the [00:44:55]  hearings.   There were a couple of  

th ings that  CFO had to deal  – had to deal  wi th so on my own 

I  d id not  have t ime at  that  point  to go to Vrede Dairy.  
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ADV GCABASHE SC:   The – in the evidence of  Ms Rockman 

as wel l  she expla ined that  Provinc ial  Treasury also got  very 

worr ied when al l  th is bad press about the Vrede Dairy 

operat ions became topical .   They too took more than one 

visi t  to go and establ ish what monies were in fact  being used 

for  the r ight  reasons.   Again i t  is another uni t  that  took the 

t rouble of  going to the Dai ry Farm to t ry and f ind out  i f  

government ’s money was being spent  for the intended 

purpose.   You conf i rm that  you did not  do – do that? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Chairperson I  conf i rm that  I  d id not  do that  10 

due to the volume of  my work.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   Ms Dhlamini  those are the pr inciple 

issues that  we as evidence leaders had wanted to  ra ise wi th 

you.   There may be other matters you want to br ing to the 

at tent ion of  the Chairman because in your paragraph 13 on 

page – Est ina 01 page 56 you say that  you are aware that  

there may be other  aspects which you have not  deal t  wi th in  

your aff idavi t  of  course and you wi l l  address the commission 

on those aspects to the extent  that  you have knowledge of  

those aspects.   This is just  an opportuni ty to – we are giving 20 

to you in case there are important  matters that  you would 

have preferred to ra ise here that  you do in fact  want to raise.  

MS DHLAMINI:   Thank you Chai rperson.   The only aspect  

that  I  may not  have deal t  wi th  is even i f  I  d id not  go to Vrede 

Dai ry at  that  point  in  t ime when there was al l  those ar t ic les – 
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media art ic les and al l  that  but  subsequent to that  I  d id go to  

Vrede Dairy wi th  the delegat ion f rom Nat ional  Treasury.   I  

d id go to Vrede Dai ry accompanying our MEC – MEC Mamiki  

Qabathe then when he has just  jo ined the department when 

she was taking a t r ip through al l  the projects.   So al l  what  I  

am saying is  even i f  I  d id not  go at  that  point  in t ime but  at  a  

part icular point  in t ime,  I  d id went to  the Vrede Dai ry and see 

the project .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   The – the issue is  you are aware that  

the benef ic iar ies who were supposed to benef i t  f rom this  10 

project  have not  had any value at  al l  f rom even that  indi rect 

associat ion wi th the Dairy Project  you are aware of  that? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I  am aware of  that  Chai rperson that  they 

have not  benef i ted yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   And you are aware of  the fact  that  

when you started working on this part icular project  and you 

brought in an implement ing agent  the idea was that  there 

would be benef ic iar ies who would benef i t?  

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes Chairperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:   But  not  one cent  of  the monies that  20 

government has spent  on this pro ject  has benef i ted any of  

those people who are on those benef ic iary l ists? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Chairperson the reason that  I  am saying I  

am aware they have not  benef i ted because at  that  point  

when I  leave the department the project  has not  come to i ts 
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logical  conclusion.   And I  can only suspect  that  af ter the 

project  would have been precluded – completed properly 

they would then have started to reap the benef i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   When did you leave the department? 

MS DHLAMINI:   I  lef t  the department in 2015.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Would you not  have cont inued to be 

aware even i f  not  in detai l  about  what was happening in your 

previous department about  a pro ject  that  you were so 

involved in? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Chairperson I  real ly did not  fo l low up to say 10 

how – af ter Est ina pul led out  of  the project  I  d id not  – or  

real ly  –  I  am not  aware how would the department is  

intending to br ing back the benef ic iary.   But  I  st i l l  bel ieve 

that  at  the ul t imate end when they have got  i t  r ight  i t  is going 

to be handed over  to the benef ic iar ies.   Because i t  cannot be 

owned by – i t  cannot be owned by the – by the department.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Let  us go back to that  issue that  you had 

ra ised about Est ina or  about  implement ing agents when you 

said that  –  when you involve an implement ing agent  that  is  

not  obtaining serv ices or obtaining good.  You remember that  20 

issue?  Do you remember that  issue? 

MS DHLAMINI:   Yes Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Just  so that  we are on the same 

page.  As I  understood you you were saying where the 

department would involve an implement ing agent there is no 
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need to involve the Supply Chain Management  Pol icy 

because the department is  not  offer ing goods or services,  is 

that  r ight?  Was my understanding of  what you – of  the point  

you were making correct? 

MS DHLAMINI:   No Chairperson there is implement ing 

agents that  we appointed through a proper process of  Supply 

Chain where we advert ised the tenders.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    But  in th is part icu lar project  wi th regards to 

Est ina,  hence I  have been emphasis ing the fact  that  f rom the 10 

point  of  v iew and my understanding of  th is project ,  th is  

project  was not  supposed to be a relat ionship of  an 

implement ing agent but  was supposed to be a partnership 

between the department and Paras Est ina in put t ing up the 

dairy,  the Vrede Dai ry.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay let  me make sure I  understand.   You 

are saying that  where the department br ings in an 

implement ing agent,  that  does not  exempt the department 

f rom complying f rom i ts supply chain management pol icy.   Is  

that  r ight? 20 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is what I  am saying,  Chai rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   In th is case,  I  thought that  is what  

you were saying.   So what are you saying as to why supply 

chain management pol icy was not  appl icable as far  as you 

are concerned? 
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MS DHLAMINI :    In th is case i t  is  because Chai rperson,  th is  

partner,  th is arrangement was supposed to be a par tnership 

arrangement because they were going to invest  money and 

we are going to  put  up. . .  they are going to put  up the 

processing plant  and we are going up to put  the dai ry  

par lour.  

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m? 

MS DHLAMINI :    So i t  real ly was a partnership agreement 

than an implement ing agent.    

CHAIRPERSON:    But  i f  I  recal l  correct ly f rom what Ms 10 

Gcabashe was saying ear l ier on,  was Est ina not  appointed 

as an implement ing agent? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is what  the cont ract  say but 

Chairperson you wi l l  remember that  I  had referred to  the f i rst  

contract  that  HOD brought  to  me which the cont ract  then 

said they requi re. . .  i t  was saying provision of  service which I  

advised him to say i f  i t  is a provis ion of  service i t  becomes.. .  

i t  must  be a tender process.    

 And I  am st i l l  saying,  even now that  I  d id not  look at  the 

arrangement as Est ina providing service to the department  I  20 

saw i t  as a partnership.   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  but  the ul t imate contract  that  was 

signed . . . [ intervenes]   

MS DHLAMINI :    The ul t imate cont ract  that  was signed said 

implement ing agent and HOD, sign i t  as is.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   And . . . [ intervenes]   

MS DHLAMINI :    And that  is despi te that  I  have al ready 

warned him or advised h im of  the . . .  wi th the f i rst  contract .  

CHAIRPERSON:    But  before i t  was signed,  you said i t  is. . .  

you went along wi th the cont ract ,  is not  i t ,  when the last  

contract  was brought?  You had no problems with i t .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Unfortunately,  he brought i t  to me al ready 

signed.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  but  that  would not  have prevented 

you f rom saying:   But  I  see this is a. . .  you are appoint ing th is 10 

ent i ty as an implement ing agent that  st i l l  br ings in the supply 

chain management pol icy.   Even i f  he had signed,  you could 

st i l l  state that  posi t ion to say i t  is wrong.   I f  you are 

appoint ing them as implement ing agents,  then the supply 

chain management pol icy appl ies.    

MS DHLAMINI :    Chairperson,  you wi l l  remember I  referred 

to two submissions that  Dr Masi teng did which the f i rst  one 

did not  have a clause of  deviat ion which that  c lause real ly  

seeks to. . .  that  c lause real ly seeks to address that  

implement ing agent part  of  i t .    20 

 And HOD refused to take that  and then they insisted on 

the second one that  has got  the deviat ion.   But  I  have been 

very clear  in  mysel f  that  I  do not  see this th ing as an 

implement ing agent th ing.   I  see i t  as a par tnership 

agreement.    
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  but  my quest ions is.   When the last  

contract  was brought  to  you by the HOD and you real ised 

that  i t  referred to Est ina being appointed as an implement ing 

agent,  one would have expected you to say but  HOD, I  have 

al ready told you that  as far as I  am concerned,  you cannot 

appoint  Est ina as an implement ing agent wi thout  fo l lowing 

the supply chain management pol icy.    

 As far as I  am concerned,  i t  is a partnership.   Therefore,  

i f  you are going to do this,  you must  know you are doing i t  

on your  own part .   As far  as I  am concerned,  the contract  10 

should not  be appoint ing Est ina as an implement ing agent.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Chairperson,  I  d id  not  fo l low that  matter.   I  

d id not  have that  matter further  because I  had already 

spoken to HOD about that  matter and made mysel f  very clear 

f rom the onset .    

CHAIRPERSON:    H’m. Anything fur ther? 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    No,  Chairman.  Thank you very 

much.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Noth ing.   Yes.   Counsel  for Ms Dhlamini ,  

do you want to re-examine?  They wi l l  sani t ise the podium 20 

before you do so.    

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Good af ternoon, Chair.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Good af ternoon.   

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Chai r,  I  just  want to place 

my name on record.    



02 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 259 
 

Page 249 of 270 
 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  please.   Actual ly,  I  remember.   I  th ink 

long af terwards started that  we should have al lowed you to 

place yourselves on record in the morning.  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    No.   Thank you,  Chai r.   I t  is  

Harshi la  Kooverj ie and I  am here together wi th my two junior,  

Mr Makhlashe.   Sorry,  Chair   I  just  have a problem with 

pronunciat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay al r ight .  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Chai r,  f i rst ly before we start ,  

we would l ike to  on behal f  of  Ms Dhlamini ,  thank you for   10 

your indulgence so that  we could be here today and that  she 

could assist  the Commission properly prepared.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    She also,  in order to 

expedi te my quest ions to her which are very l imi ted,  they 

concern only the supplementary aff idavi t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    I  would l ike to ask the 

evidence team just  to help me wi th the paginated pages 

. . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh.  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    . . .because I  do not  have 

your paginated pages.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    So when I  refer  to an 
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annexure for a sect ion of  the aff idavi t ,  they can. . .  i t  wi l l  be 

for ease of  reference to immediately go there.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay al r ight .   I  th ink somebody in the 

legal  team, when you indicate what paragraph or whatever,  

then they wi l l  indicate what page of  the paginated bundle 

that  would be.    

RE-EXAMINATION BY ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Thank 

you,  Chai r.   Ms Dhlamini ,  I  am just  going to touch a l i t t le bi t  

on your role in the context  of  th is project .   And in that  

regard,  I  would l ike to touch a l i t t le bi t  on the budget and 10 

then on the payments.    

 I  th ink you have covered a l l  the other aspects.   And i f  

there is anything else you would l ike raise in addi t ion to that ,  

I  th ink you may do that .    

 But  th is purpose of  th is exercise is just  to clar i fy some 

of  the issues that  you have expla ined to  the Chai r  or that  

some of  the quest ions that  have been asked by the evidence 

leader.    

 I  th ink the f i rst  document I  want  to refer you to  is 

Annexure S13 which is  the submission.   The submission to 20 

accept  the proposal  f rom Est ina wi th regard to the Vrede 

Integrated Dai ry Pro ject .   Page 313.    

 No.   Sorry,  Chair.   Actual ly,  the submission that  is 

at tached to S13, i t  is I  th ink six pages towards. . .  f rom the 

end.   Sorry,  I  do apologise.   I t  is not  the f i rst  page.    
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CHAIRPERSON:    Is that  the one at  page 318? 

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  is wri t ten Chief  Di rector  Dist r ict  

Services? 

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Dated 26 May 2012.   

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Yes.   And Chai r,  I  th ink i t  

is. . .  is i t  Exhibi t  HH16?  I t  is in the bundle.   The aff idavi t  is  

H.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  you tel l  me the date of  the submission.   10 

I t  is 26. . .  the one I  am looking at  is 26 May 2012 and i t  starts  

wi th subject  to accept  the proposal  f rom Est ina.    

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Yes,  Chai r.   That  is  the one.   

And I  see your pledges. . .  can I  g ive you the last  three digi ts?  

I t  is page 280 in red or do you want  the one in black? 

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  the black one.   318.  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    318.   Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Ms Dhlamini ,  yes I  just  want  

to ask you general  quest ions around this speci f ical ly.   You 20 

had al ready in your test imony. . .  I  just  want her to f ind the 

document,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   I t  is page 318 of  Est ina Bundle 01.  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  have got  i t  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   
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ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    This concerns the issue of  

the budget which you have a lready raised and i t  is the 

2012/2013 aspect  for the repr ior i t isat ion.   This was a 

submission in that  regard.   Is that  correct? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct .  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Ms Dhlamini ,  you have also 

ment ioned that  th is was a budget that  was managed by the 

Chief  Director Distr ict  Services.   Is that  correct? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct ,  Chairperson.  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    You can look at  the Chair  10 

when you answer.  

MS DHLAMINI :    [ laughs]  

CHAIRPERSON:    [ laughs]  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Ms Dhlamini ,  the quest ion 

that  I  actual ly wanted to get  around you is.   Did you prepare 

the submission or were you part  of  preparing the 

submission? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  d id not  prepare the submission.   I  was not  

part  of  the preparat ion of  the submission.  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    You,  however,  recommended 20 

i t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I ,  however,  recommended i t ,  Chai rperson.  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Yes.   Now when i t  came to 

the actual  shi f t ing of  the grant  funds,  were you part  of . . .  or  

were you. . .  or d id you compi le the shi f t ing of  the grant  
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funds?  Because i f  we look at  page 321 Chai r.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes? 

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Can you explain this  

document,  Ms Dhlamini .  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  have the document,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  was not  part  of  th is repr ior i t isat ion.   This 

document was not  prepared by me.  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    What is th is  document,  Ms 

Dhlamini? 10 

MS DHLAMINI :    I t  is a request  for  the shi f t  of  grant  funds.  

I t  was prepared by the Chief  Director  i tsel f .   I t  was prepared 

in the Chief  Di rector i tsel f .  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    So i t  is the responsibi l i ty of  

the Chief  Di rector  to prepare the sh i f t ing of  the budget? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Chairperson because i t  is thei r  budget.   

That  is what. . .  they manage i t .  

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    And there was also a 

repr ior i t isat ion of  the funds which is not  at tached to this 

document.   You said in your ear l ier test imony that  the HOD 20 

said that  he wi l l  repr ior i t ise the budget.    

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct ,  Chairperson.   There was 

another document that  was sent  to Treasury where the 

projects were repr ior i t ised.   I  was also not  part  of  that  

repr ior i t isat ion.   
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ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    So what was your ro le Ms 

Dhlamini  then in respect  of  th is submission in recommending 

i t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    My role real ly is to look at ,  as I  said,  the 

f inancial  impl icat ions and my recommendat ion would 

basical ly ta lk to issues of  whether  the budget would be there 

or the budget would not  be there.    

 And as HOD said,  I  wi l l  repr ior i t ise,  as I  have explained 

Chai r,  whether indeed the department would be able wi th the 

repr ior i t isat ion,  would be able to carry th is project .  10 

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Now Ms Dhlamini ,  just  in 

order to understand the context  wi thin which you had 

prepared. . .  wi th which you had a hand in the budget.   I  would 

l ike to just  refer  you to the t ransfer  pol icy which is  on. . .  I  wi l l  

get  the relevant  document and then I  wi l l  refer back to the 

Chair  and yoursel f  to the document.    

MS DHLAMINI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Yes,  i t  starts at  page 296.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes? 

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Ms Dhlamini ,  in  your  20 

aff idavi t  as wel l . . .  that  is on page 296.   In  your aff idavi t  you 

said your role is secondary insofar  as the monitor ing of  the 

project  was concerned.   Now i f  we have regard to. . .  Chai r,  I  

just  want to get  my passage.  

CHAIRPERSON:    [No audible reply]   
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ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    I f  we regard to page 302.   

Ms Dhlamini ,  can you perhaps read Clause 5.5.5 and explain 

what you understand by that?  And your explanat ion should 

explain a lso to the Chair  why you say your role was 

secondary.    

MS DHLAMINI :    Clause 5.5.5 of  the t ransfer payment. . .  

pol icy for t ransfer  payment.    

“The responsib i l i ty for the monitor ing of  the contract  

or agreement is the programme manager and the 

re levant  Dist r ict  Director. . . ”  10 

 What I  understand by this Chai rperson is,  for instance 

this contract  that  we had with Est ina,  i t  would be monitored 

and managed by the programme manager and the relevant  

Dist r ict  Di rector which is the Dist r ict  Director in  Thabo 

Mofutsanyana Distr ict  because that  is where the project  was.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Moni tor ing in i ts context  would mean af ter 

the contract  has been concluded the monitor ing would relate 

to the implementat ion of  the cont ract .   Is that  r ight? 

MS DHLAMINI :    That  is correct ,  Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  20 

ADV HARSHILA KOOVERJIE:    Now Ms Dhlamini ,  we are 

going to touch on the payment aspect  and I  th ink that  is set  

out  below on the same page under paragraph C and D.  I  

would l ike you to maybe just  read that ,  not  into the record or 

explain to the Chair  what you understand by C and D and the 
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ro le of  you and the role of  the programme manager.    

MS DHLAMINI :    The department. . .  okay,  i t  says here.    

“The department  must  comply wi th the fol lowing 

requi rements pr ior to effect ing payments to a 

qual i fy ing inst i tut ions.    

 C says that :  

“The relevant  programme manager has author ised 

the payment thereof  in terms of  the appropriate 

al locat ion and according to f inancial  delegat ion.    

 D says that :  10 

“The responsible manager author is ing the payment:  

-  Shal l  ensure that  appropriate support ing 

informat ion has been conta ined to sat isfy himsel f  or  

hersel f ,  

-   That  the t ransfer  payment is  val id,  the 

amount is correct ,   

-  The condi t ion and object ive have been met,  

-  The contract  or agreement duly signed by al l  

re levant  part ies and at tached to the payment  

documents.    20 

-  The qual i f icat ion inst i tut ion is aware of  the 

statutory and departmental  cr i ter ia.    

-  The inst i tut ion has respect  of  the previous 

f inancial  years assistance,  compl ied wi th the 

statutory and departmental  requirements. ”    
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 These two paragraphs Chairperson,  they seek to say the 

programme manager ought to have talked to the ent i ty where 

the money has been t ransferred and make them aware of  

certain th ings,  certain of  the responsibi l i t ies that  they need 

to meet.    

 And fu r thermore ,  l i ke  fo r  ins tance when the  

payment  comes,  I  may have checked,  as  I  checked some 

payment .   As  I  ind ica ted ,  some payment  I  have ve r i f ied  and  

checked but  the  pr imary  respons ib i l i t y  fo r  the  va l id i t y  

whethe r  i t  was fo r  the  –  the  money has been used  fo r  the  10 

in tended purpose  and a l l  those,  res ts  w i th  the  programme 

manager  and the  re levant  d is t r i c t  d i rec to r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  wou ld  you  not  have a  ro le  be ing  

requ i red  to  e i the r  rece ive  repor ts  inso fa r  as  the  f inanc ia l  

aspects  a re  concerned w i th  the  pro jec t ,  rece ived any  

repor ts  on  the  f inanc ia l  aspects  and a lso  wou ld  you  not  be  

requ i red  to  in te r rogate  whethe r  what  –  whethe r  they were  

do ing  e f fec t i ve  mon i to r i ng  to  make sure  tha t  taxpayers ’ 

money is  used proper ly  and e f fec t i ve l y?  

MS DHLAMINI :    The respons ib le  manager  ought  to  have  20 

done a l l  those th ings,  Cha i rperson.   I f  there  i s  any o ther  

th ing  un to  -  on  the  f inanc ia l s ,  he  wou ld  then wr i t e  to  the 

CFO because they were  supposed to  g ive  the  CFO the  

repor t  a lso .   So tha t  i s  when they wou ld  then seek even my 

adv ice  in  dea l ing  w i th  those issues .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes bu t  the  quest ion  I  am put t ing  is ,  i f  

they  were  supposed to  wr i te  repor ts  to  you abou t  those  

aspects  i t  seems to  me tha t  i f ,  for  example ,  you were  no t  

ge t t ing  repor ts ,  i t  wou ld  be  incumbent  open you  to  say 

where  are  the  repor t s?   Or,  i f  there  was jus t  s i lence,  you 

wou ld  say hang  on,  you are  supposed to  be  g iv ing  me 

repor ts ,  where  are  the  repor ts?   Am I  r igh t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rperson,  my take is ,  i f  there  are  

s i lence i t  means they a re  happy w i th  what  they –  o r  what  

they ge t  over  the i r  mon i to r ing ,  they do  not  have  o ther  –  10 

they do  not  have issues tha t  they want  to  ra ise .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  wou ld  they  no t  –  u l t imate ly,  wou ld  

somebody not  u l t imate ly  repor t  to  you as  CFO in  te rms o f  

how the  f inanc ia l  aspects  in  te rms  o f  imp lementa t ion  were  

go ing  and i f  there  was s i lence,  wou ld  you not  be  say ing  bu t  

I  cannot  jus t  be  sa t is f ied  w i th  s i lence,  I  need to  ge t  

pos i t i ve  –  repor ts  tha t  pos i t i ve ly  say  A ,  B  and C have been  

done so  tha t  I  can have peace  o f  m ind tha t  taxpayers ’ 

money is  be ing  use p roper l y?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rpe rson,  as  I  have ind i ca ted  tha t  I  20 

wou ld  have taken i t  tha t  they have engaged the  repor ts  

tha t  I  wou ld  ge t  f rom the  Est ina  and they are  happy w i th  

tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes bu t  they m ight  be  happy but  a re  you  

not  a lso  supposed to  be  happy and can you be happy w i th  
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s i lence?  I  am th ink ing  tha t  a t  CFO leve l  you are  hav ing  

overs igh t  in  the  depar tment  w i th  regard  to  the  f inanc ia l  

aspects  o f  var ious p ro jec ts .   I  may be wrong but  tha t  i s  

what  I  am hav ing  in  m ind and tha t  i t  shou ld  no t  be  enough  

fo r  you to  jus t  s i t  back when there  is  s i lence but  tha t  you  

shou ld  be  –  you shou ld  s i t  back i f  you  are  rece iv ing  repor ts  

tha t  g ive  you peace o f  m ind but  no t  when there  i s  s i lence 

because when there  is  s i lence someth ing  te r r ib le  cou ld  be  

happen ing  w i th  taxpayers ’ money  in  the  imp lementa t ion  o f  

the  pro jec t s .  10 

MS DHLAMINI :    Cha i rpe rson,  I  concede on tha t  fac t  tha t  

p robab ly  I  shou ld  have not  le f t  them where  there  a re  

s i lence,  I  shou ld  have asked them and pushed them to 

prov ide  repor t s .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Ms Dh lamin i ,  

jus t  on  th is  po in t ,  i f  I  jus t  read (c )  and (d) ,  wha t  I  do  

unders tand is  tha t  the  respons ib le  au thor ises  the  payment ,  

am I  cor rec t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Okay,  now ear l ie r  on  you exp la ined 

to  the  Cha i r  regard ing  your  ro le  in  when you ve r i f y  the  

payments .   Can  you g i ve  an  exp lanat ion  o f  what  tha t  

means and maybe in  do ing  so ,  you can re la te  to  the 

cer t i f i ca te  tha t  you re fe r red  to  wh ich  you wou ld  submi t  to  
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Treasury.   Maybe  before  you do tha t ,  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  re fe r  

the  Cha i r  to  tha t  document  in  the  event  tha t  you re fer  to  i t .   

I t  i s  annexure  13A but  i t  i s  page 327,  Cha i r.   So I  th ink  you  

need to  exp la in  f i rs t l y  your  ro le  and what  you unders tand  

in  ve r i f y ing  and then you sa id  t ha t  the  cer t i f i ca te  re la ted  to  

how you wou ld  t hen ve r i f y  o r  i t  i s  a  consequence  o f  you r  

ver i f i ca t ion .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Th is  cer t i f i ca te ,  Cha i rperson,  my 

s ignature  on  the  payment  adv i ce  bas ica l l y  cer t i f ies  these  

e lements  tha t  a re  wr i t ten  here  wh ich  e lements  inc lude –  10 

th is  expend i tu re  wou ld  no t  –  I  th ink  I  d id  I  d id  read i t ,  the 

payments  i s  tha t  once du ly  –  was du ly  au thor ised by  

mandated o f f i c ia ls  in  the  depar tment ,  they payments  are  

fo r  expend i tu re  incur red  in  acco rdance w i th  the  vo te  wh ich  

is  the  Appropr ia t ion  Act  o r  se t t ing  o f f  these payments  w i l l  

no t  resu l t  in  unauthor i sed expend i tu re  mean ing  there  is  a  

budget  fo r  th is ,  expend i tu re  was accura te l y  and cor rec t l y  

a l loca ted  and tha t  i s  under  the  cor rec t  budget  a l l oca t ion .   

That  i s  bas ica l l y  when you captu re  i t  in  the  sys tem,  tha t  i s  

p roper ly  captured,  and th is  payment  i s  go ing  aga ins t  the  20 

cor rec t  l ine  i tem and payments  aga ins t  earmarked fund ing  

and cond i t iona l  g ran ts .   Yes,  Cha i rpe rson,  tha t  i s  –  tha t  i s  

bas ica l l y  what  my s ignature  seeks to  say when I  ver i f y  and  

check.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Aga in  you a lso  jus t  exp la in  –  so  
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what  you a re  say ing  he re  is  tha t  what  you conf i rmed and 

cer t i f ied ,  what  you ver i f ied  was essent ia l l y  what  you wou ld  

have conf i rmed and cer t i f ied  in  th is  cer t i f i ca te ,  i s  tha t  

cor rec t?   That  i s  tha t  the  payments  were  au tho r ised by  the  

mandated o f f i c ia l s?  

MS DHLAMINI :   That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rperson.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    That  means?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  means the  person who author i sed  

the  payment  has the  cor rec t  f inanc ia l  de legat ion  to  can do  

tha t .  10 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Now hav ing  sa id  tha t ,  Ms Dh lamin i ,  

you a l so  sa id  someth ing  ear l i e r  to  the  Commiss ion  

regard ing  tha t  everyone has –  t ha t  p rogramme managers  

have the i r  own budgets ,  tha t  they  have to  dea l  w i th  and  

p lan .   What  was  the  scope o f  your  budget  and you were  

respons ib le  fo r  spec i f i ca l l y?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  what  I  have exp la ined,  Cha i rperson,  

i s  the  budget  i s  d iv ided in to  prog rammes.   I  have my own 

budget  and you  wou ld  f ind  i t  under  p rog ramme one,  

admin is t ra t ion .   When you go to  de ta i l s  o f  tha t  p rogramme 20 

you w i l l  f ind  as  f inanc ia l  management  un i t  wh ich  is  the 

en t i re  f inance depar tment .   The budget  tha t  i s  s i t t ing  there  

is  my overa l l  and pr imary  respons ib i l i t y  and you have –  I  

wou ld  then have  sub-programme managers  who w i l l  a lso  

have the  budget  and my scope rea l l y  was very  smal l  in  tha t  
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regard ,  because you wou ld  rea l i se  –  I  do  no t  th ink  we have 

ever  even got  to  50  m i l l ion  as  a  budget  because bas i ca l l y  

i t  i s  sa la r i es  and  runn ing  costs  o f  the  un i t  and i f  there  i s  

any major  payment ,  i t  w i l l  be  the  payment  tha t  we make to  

the  Aud i to r -Genera l .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So  tha t  wou ld  be  d i rec t l y  under  

your  respons ib i l i t y?  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  wou ld  be  d i rec t l y  under  my 

respons ib i l i t y,  tha t  w i l l  be  the  budget  tha t  I  w i l l  –  I  can do  

sh i f t ing ,  move i t ,  a l l  these th ings  tha t  I  was exp la in ing ,  I  10 

can repr io r i t i se ,  I  can author i se  somebody to  t rave l  to  

Gauteng but  I  cannot  au thor ise  somebody in  –  in ,  fo r  

ins tance,  Dr  Mat iseng ’s  un i t  to  t rave l  to  Gauteng because  

then I  w i l l  be  g iv ing  –  I  w i l l  be  au thor i s ing  a  spend ing  in  

another  p rogramme which  is  no t  my respons ib i l i t y.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So  tha t  then,  in  o ther  words,  I  am 

now –  tha t  wou ld  now exp la in  to  the  Cha i r  you r  ro le  tha t  

was secondary  i n  th is  par t i cu la r  budget  –  th is  par t i cu la r  

p ro jec t  inso far  as  budget ing  is  concerned and moni to r ing .  

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rperson.  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The las t  quest ion ,  Cha i r  and Ms 

Dh lamin i ,  concerns the  issue o f  payments .   I  am go ing  to  

ask  th is  ve ry  b road ly  because I  may not  –  maybe I  am – 

you have not  exp la ined th i s  p roper ly  to  the  Cha i r  and you  

can then jus t  d i rec t l y  –  you can dea l  w i th  the  issue in  tha t  
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regard .  

 Were  you the  on ly  one in  the  pos i t ion  o f  the  CFO 

who wou ld  have ver i f ied  the  payments?   That  i s  now the  

payments  tha t  we  are  ta l k ing  abou t  tha t  you have a t tached  

to  your  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  and in  respect  o f  the  Vrede 

Da i ry  Pro jec t?  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  was not  the  on ly  one who cou ld  do  tha t .   

As  I  have ind ica ted ,  Cha i r,  the  f i rs t  payment ,  fo r  ins tance,  

i t  was compi led  by  A l ta  –  Mrs  Meyer,  and i t  was ve r i f ied  by  

the  Act ing  Ch ie f  D i rec to r.   My secondary  ro le  tha t  my 10 

advocate  i s  ta lk ing  about  i s  when I  wou ld  be  a lso  re  k ind  o f  

check ing  by  s ing ing  tha t  cer t i f i ca te  tha t  goes to  Treasury  

to  make sure  tha t  we prevent  unau thor ised expend i tu re  and 

the  quest ion  she  is  ask ing  is  there  are  ins tances where  I  

have ve r i f ied  and ins tances where  I  have checked and  

ver i f ied  i s  ins tances where  the  payment  was compi led  by  

the  h ighest  o f f i c ia l  in  the  programme which  is  the  –  wh ich  

w i l l  be  in  th i s  ins tances Dr  Mat iseng because he cannot  

take  tha t  to  a  lower  leve l ,  a lways  the  h igher  leve l  w i l l  be  

the  one tha t  w i l l  check and ver i f y.  20 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    So  wou ld  i t  be  cor rec t  then to  say –  

or  maybe I  w i l l  pu t  the  propos i t i on  to  you,  tha t  was i t  a  

requ i rement  tha t  your  ver i f i ca t ion  as  CFO was a  

requ i rement  fo r  the  payment  to  be  e f fec ted?  

MS DHLAMINI :    Not  i t  was not  necessar i l y  a  requ i rement  
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tha t  every  payment  must  be  ver i f ied  and checked  by  the  

CFO.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    The las t  f ina l  quest ion ,  Ms 

Dh lamin i ,  I  have re fer red  to  annexure  12 .   Cha i r,  i t  i s  page 

306.  

CHAIRPERSON:    D id  you 306?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    306,  yes .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Annexure?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    12 .  

MS DHLAMINI :    I s  i t  no t  303?  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  306.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Oh,  306,  okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Can  you exp la in  what  th is  

document  i s  and what  the  e f fec t  o f  th is  document  i s?   I t  i s  

no t  addressed to  you,  i t  does not  have your  name on,  bu t  

you fu rn i shed i t  as  pa r t  o f  you r  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  and  

gave an exp lanat ion .  

MS DHLAMINI :    Th i s  par t i cu la r  document ,  Cha i rpe rson,  i t  

i s  addressed f rom the  o f f i ce  o f  the  HOD,  f rom the  o f f i ce  20 

manager,  o f f i ce  o f  the  HOD,  Mr  Gama,  i s  the  one who 

s igned,  to  the  Act ing  –  the  A there  s tands fo r  Act ing .   The  

Act ing  Genera l  Manager  Agr i cu l tu ra l  Deve lopment  and 

Suppor t  and the  Act ing  Genera l  Manager  D is t r i c t  Serv i ces .   

I t  says :  
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“Co l leagues,  Vrede In tegra ted  Da i ry  Pro jec t  v i s i t  by  

Ind ian  exper ts .   Fo l lowing the  presenta t ion  made by  

Paras and Est ina  (P ty)  to  the  depar tment ,  p lease 

note  tha t  the  Ind ian  de legat ion  w i l l  be  ar r i v ing  i n  

the  count ry  to  v is i t  the  pro jec t  on  Thursday  

21/06/2012.   You  are  the re fore  expected to  p rov ide  

a  de ta i led  s i tua t iona l  ana lys is  o f  the  pro jec t  s i te  

inc lud ing  eng ineer ing  suppor t ,  i r r iga t ion ,  s tudy so i l  

tes t ing ,  pasture  loca t ion ,  c l imate  and any o the r  

suppor t  requ i red  by  the  de legat ion .   You are  fu r ther  10 

requested to  compose a  team to  ass is t  the  pro jec t  

led  by  A l ta  Meyer  to  be  ass i s ted  by  economis ts ,  

eng ineers  and o ther  agr icu l tu ra l  sc ien t is t s  re levant  

to  the  task .   P lease coord ina te  w i th  the  d is t r i c t  in  

te rms o f  log i s t i cs  and suppor t  needs. ”  

So bas i ca l l y,  Cha i rperson,  i t  shows tha t  I  d id  no t  rea l l y  

have a  ro le  i n  th is  who le  th ing  o f  Vrede Da i ry  except  

dea l ing  w i th  the  budgets .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    You –  there  is  a  re ference  to  Ms  

A l ta  Meyer,  can you exp la in  to  the  Cha i r  what  her  pos i t ion  20 

is?   Her  job  descr ip t ion  s ta r ts  on  the  next  par t .   I  do  no t  

expect  you to  read i t ,  you  can maybe exp la in  i t  to  the  Cha i r  

maybe and i t  s ta r ts  bas i ca l l y  on  page 308.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Ms A l ta  Meyer,  Cha i rperson,  was a t  tha t  –  

was –  or  i s  appo in ted  in  the  depar tment  as  a  pro jec t  
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coord ina to r,  so  she coord ina tes  pro jec ts  in  the  d is t r i c t .   

That  i s  her  job .   What  I  am not  sure  o f  i s  –  because a t  

some po in t  I  am aware  tha t  she was Act ing  D is t r i c t  

D i rec to r.   I  am not  sure  w i th  regard  to  th is  submiss ion  or  

document  on  306 whethe r  i t  was in  her  capac i ty  as  the  

pro jec t  coord ina tor,  in  her  capac i ty  as  the  Act ing  D is t r i c t  

D i rec tor  bu t  bas ica l l y,  she is  the  one who dea ls  w i th  

p ro jec ts  in  the  d i s t r i c t .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And i t  inc ludes the  compl iance w i th  

p rocedures,  the  po l i c ies ,  leg i s la t i ve  prescr ip t s  and  ensure  10 

tha t  e f fec t i ve  management  and in fo rmat ion ,  market ing  and  

repor t ing  on  a l l  i ssues re la t ing  to  p ro jec ts  i s  covered,  am I  

cor rec t?    

MS DHLAMINI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Cha i r,  I  do  no t  want  to  –  w ish  to  

take  th is  any fu r the r,  I  th ink  I  am done w i th  my quest ion ,  I  

wou ld  jus t  l i ke  to  ask  Ms Dh lamin i  i f  there  i s  anyth ing  tha t  

she might  jus t  want  to  jus t  ex tend on th is  po in t  o r  i ssue.  

MS DHLAMINI :    I  th ink ,  Cha i r,  my  advocate  has covered i t  

su f f i c ien t ly.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.   Jus t  one las t  i ssue,  Ms 
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Dh lamin i .   You know,  tha t  Fr iday when MEC Zwane asked 

you to  go  and meet  w i th  the  MEC of  F inance about  tha t  

payment  o f  R30  mi l l ion ,  I  th ink  Ms Four ie  o r  another  

w i tness d id  say tha t  the  who le  th ing  seemed to  be  ve ry  

urgent .   I  cer ta in l y  go t  the  impress ion  tha t  there  seemed to  

be  some urgency  tha t  payment  had to  be  done by  – I  do  

no t  know whethe r  the  fo l low ing day or  by  Monday but  there  

was someth ing  u rgent .   Was tha t  your  impress ion  a t  the 

t ime as  we l l ,  tha t  there  was some urgency about  th is  

payment?  10 

MS DHLAMINI :    Ja ,  Cha i rpe rson ,  as  I  have senses tha t  

because you wou ld  remember  even in  Moremi ’s  th ing  there  

has been to  say cer ta in  th ings needs to  happen o therwise  

Paras m ight  pu l l  ou t  o f  the  ar rangement .   So I  a lso  thought  

as  such tha t  i t  i s  u rgent  so  tha t  the  pro jec t  can k ick-s ta r t  

and the  m i les tone w i l l  be  ach ieved accord ing  to  the  

t ime l ines.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  why wou ld  Paras pu l l  ou t  i f  payment  

was not  made w i th in  a  few days,  do  you know? 

MS DHLAMINI :    I  am jus t  th ink ing  o f  i t ,  Cha i rpe rson,  to  20 

say because o f  the  m i les tone.   As  I  have ind ica ted ,  

Cha i rperson,  wha t  I  have exp la ined to  HOD,  we might  want  

to  wa i t  fo r  a  month  fo r  th is  payment  to  be  processed 

because I  wou ld  on ly  accommodate  i t  when I  submi t  my  

month l y  cash pro jec t ions wh ich  wou ld  be  a round  the  25  
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Apr i l  month  and i t  wou ld  then be pa id  i n  the  f i rs t  week o f  

the  new month .   Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  was i t  the  …[ in tervenes]  

MS DHLAMINI :    So  maybe tha t  de lay  i s  the  de lay  tha t  cos t  

me or  cos t  Mr  Zwane.   I  have no t  ta lked to  h im about  i t ,  

maybe h is  HOD made h im aware  o f  tha t ,  bu t  I  d id  no t  know 

where  –  who made h im aware .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Where  the  urgency came f rom? 

MS DHLAMINI :    Yes,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay,  a l r igh t .   Thank you.   I  in tend to  10 

re lease he r,  i s  there  someth ing  ar i s ing?  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    No,  no t  a t  a l l ,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Noth ing ,  okay.   Thank you ve ry  much,  

Ms Dh lamin i ,  fo r  coming to  ass i s t  the  Commiss ion  and to  

g ive  ev idence.   You are  now excused.   I f  there  i s  another  

reason why the  Commiss ion  might  want  you to  come back,  

you wou ld  be  contac ted  or  the  Commiss ion  cou ld  send  

fu r ther  quest ions in  wr i t ing  fo r  you to  depose to  an  a f f idav i t  

and c la r i f y  whatever  m ight  a r ise  in  the  fu tu re  tha t  needs  

c la r i f i ca t ion .   You unders tand tha t?  20 

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you,  Cha i rperson,  a l so  f rom my 

s ide  fo r  the  oppor tun i ty  p rov ided.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MS DHLAMINI :    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  thank you ,  you are  excused .  
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ADV GCABASHE SC:    Cha i rman,  m ine is  jus t  a  smal l  l i t t le  

task .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    We have not  i ssues Ru le  3 .3  

Not ices  to  the  peop le  who are  imp l i ca ted  in  the 

supp lementary  a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Because we on ly  rece ived i t  

yes terday.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  10 

ADV GCABASHE SC:    We wi l l  be  proceed ing  to  do  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    And we w i l l  see  i f  there  i s  anyth ing ,  

they want  to  do  about  coming to  make representa t ions to  

you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Those are  the  

w i tnesses tha t  we  have fo r  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    For  today.  

ADV GCABASHE SC:    For  Est ina .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   We are  go ing  to  ad jou rn  and thank  

you to  everybody fo r  a l l  the  coopera t ion  fo r  us  to  make 

sure  tha t  we cou ld  f in ish  Ms Dh lamin i ’s  ev idence.   We are  

go ing  to  ad jou rn  and tomorrow the  Commiss ion  w i l l  hear  

ev idence f rom Ms Mokonyane,  she w i l l  be  back to  dea l  w i th  
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cer ta in  mat te rs .   We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 3  SEPTEMBER 2020  


